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DEFINITIONS
BE

2 Nayuki Holdings Limited - 2B HZIEIRA R A 8

In this report, unless the context otherwise requires, the following RABRERN  BRIEXEREIE » GRIAT

words and expressions shall have the following meanings.

“2020 Share Incentive Plan”

[20204F R 7 S Bt &1 |
“2020 Share Option Plan”
[20204F & AR A st 21
"AGM”

[BRBFERE ]

"associate(s)”

[BFE A

“Audit Committee”
[BiZZEeg

“Board” or “Board of Directors”

[E=g

"BV
[REERARES]

"BYX"

[H=E]

“Chairman”

[EEEK]

"Chief Executive Officer”
[HRERTE ]

“"Company”

VNN

ARhRARE TIEE -

the share incentive plan of the Company approved and adopted on
May 15, 2020
72202055315 B /& R ER @ E) AN A RIRR (0 BB =1 2l

the share option plan of the Company approved and adopted on May
15, 2020
72202095 415 B /& RER AR AN R BB A A1 2l

the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company proposed to
be held on Friday, June 27, 2025
RRBREZEN2025F6A27 B (EHRR) BRITHNRERRBFAE

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

BB EMARIRE T % AR R

the audit committee of the Board

EEgE%RLZES

the board of Directors of the Company
RABEES

the British Virgin Islands
REEARES

Bangyixia (Shenzhen) Supply Chain Co., Ltd.* (FIZ=E ORI #ESEGR
‘A 7]), a company incorporated in the PRC on January 22, 2016 and is a
connected person of our Company

BEBCRIDEEEBR AT - —HKK20165F1 H22 AR H BT MK LA
NAE] WRRNARREEAL

the chairman of the Board

BEER

the chief executive officer of our Company

AAREFEHTE

Nayuki Holdings Limited (REWRIERBRAF), an exempted
company with limited liability incorporated in the Cayman Islands on
September 5, 2019, whose Shares are listed and traded on the Stock
Exchange

REMRZERABRAR - —RKNR2019F9A5BER S B S MK &R
RBERAR - ERONEBERZFETRER



"Controlling Shareholders”

[ 2 AR AR

“Director(s)”
[EE]

“Equity Incentive Plans”

[ty =t & ]

"General Manager”
[ #4532 |

"o

“Group,” “our Group,”
e or “us”

[REE ek [# A )

“"HK$" or “HKD" or
“Hong Kong dollars”
[T
“Hong Kong” or “HK" or
“"Hong Kong SAR”
[&& 1% [ BB FRTTRIE]

“Linxin Group”

[ Linxin Group ]

“Linxin Holdings”

[ PROZERR

“Linxin International”

[Linxin International |
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has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules and, in the
context of this report, means Mr. Zhao Lin, Ms. Peng Xin, Linxin Group,
Linxin International, Linxin Holdings and Crystal Tide Profits Limited
AR LWRAETZANEE  SLAREMS - HEMELE 2ok L -
Linxin Group * Linxin International ~ M0 % % K Crystal Tide Profits
Limited

member(s) of the board of directors of the Company, including all
executive, non-executive and independent non-executive directors

ARREEEKE  BEREZBITES FRTESNEFNTES

the 2020 Share Option Plan and the 2020 Share Incentive Plan
20204 fE et 5t B 2 20205 AR 15 B4 B =t I

the general manager of our Company
AYNGIEE S

the Company and our subsidiaries (or the Company and any one or
more of our subsidiaries, as the context may require)
RARREBFIEME R E (AR R B FINER —KK A LB R R (R
XEME))

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
BEEEEEAET

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
PEEBFRITTHE

Linxin Group Limited, a company incorporated in the BVI on December
29, 2020, one of our Controlling Shareholders

Linxin Group Limited * —5&R# 2020912829 B £ 48 # B mEE B flf Ak
YERF - BRANZERERR 2 —

Linxin Holdings Limited (MUOMZEAR B BR A R]), a company incorporated in
the BVI on September 5, 2019, one of our Controlling Shareholders
MOZERRER AR —FKHNR2019F9ASBERBHER RS EMA AR
A AREMIRIERRR 2 —

Linxin International Limited, a company incorporated in the BVI on
December 29, 2020, one of our Controlling Shareholders

Linxin International Limited + —RMA2020F 12 H29B T RBHER A S
SMARZERE - RBEFIERRR 2 —
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“Linxin Trust”
[ Linxin Trust]
“Listing Date”
[ ETHEE]

“Listing Rules”

[ Em#R Al

“Macau” or “Macau SAR"
[P 5k 1R RITT IR
“Model Code”

[1Z2E=F Al ]

“Nomination Committee”

MEBZEg

“Option(s)”
[ B AR R

“Prospectus”

[ A=

“PRC" or "China” or the

“People’s Republic of China’

[HFE sk [ A RARE ]
"Remuneration Committee”
[FNEZE=

“Renminbi” or “RMB”
[ARE]

"Reporting Period”
[ ¥R & HE

"RSU(s)"

[ 52 PR 1 B £ B8

4  Nayuki Holdings Limited - 25 HZIEIRE R A F)

Linxin Trust, an irrevocable discretionary trust established in Guernsey
on December 30, 2020 with Linxin Holdings as beneficiary

Linxin Trust * 720206F12 A30 B RIS R BT Al HEH 2 E5E - #K
OERABZ A

June 30, 2021
20216 A30H

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited, as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified
from time to time

BEEMERXZAARRBRZR LR (EIRER - A AE MR
&2

the Macau Special Administrative Region of the PRC
BRI RITT IR R

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules
EHRBIMERCIME LM BT AERTETEFIZINRETR

the nomination committee of the Board

ExgiRv%Ee

share option(s) granted pursuant to the 2020 Share Option Plan
RIZ2020F BB AR AT 81X L eV BB AR e

the prospectus of the Company dated June 18, 2021
ARABHR20215F6 H18ANAKRER

the People’s Republic of China and, except where the context
otherwise requires, references in this report to the PRC or China do not
apply to Hong Kong SAR, Macau SAR or Taiwan Province
REARKME - BRIEXESBME - ABEPHRENRAY NERR
EBBRTHE  RFFRITRRKAEE

the remuneration committee of the Board

EEeVHEES

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC
P BUETE B AR

the year ended December 31, 2024
HE2024F12831HILFE

restricted share unit(s) granted pursuant to the 2020 Share Incentive
Plan

WRI% 20205 B (7 BB 5+ BIHX 1 52 IR AL A0 BE L



“Shanghai Chatian”

[ EigZmH ]

“SFO" or “Securities and Futures

Ordinance”

[ 78 7 M S R

“Share(s)”
[ %15 |

“Shareholder(s)”
[ A%

“Shenzhen Pindao Group”

R mE R

“Shenzhen Pindao Management”

R mEE R

"Stock Exchange”
[ B 52 P

"

“substantial shareholder(s)

[EZRE

“Treasury Share(s)"”
[T

"US$”

==

H%H
[%]
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Shanghai Chatian Catering Management Co., Ltd. (L84 HERERE
[EA7]), a company with limited liability established and existing under
the laws of the PRC

PEXAERERERAR  —RERHEEFEENFENEREER
=l

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to
time

BREDIEST1 EE R IRD (ETRER] - ST A R A E)

share(s) of the Company of nominal value of US$0.00005 each
R A AR E{E0.000053 T #Y A% 17

holder(s) of the Shares
ESEET=DN

Shenzhen Pindao Group Co., Ltd. (ZYIT REEEER A7), a company
incorporated in the PRC on December 17, 2019 and a wholly-owned
subsidiary of our Company
FINTRBEBEEERAR - —RKR2019F 128178 EFBFMKIHA
Al BRARRNEENE AR

Shenzhen Pindao Food & Beverage Management Co., Ltd. (&3 mi&
BEHEEBR AR, a company incorporated in the PRC on May 12, 2014
and a wholly owned subsidiary of our Company
RINTmBERERAR DT - —KN2014F5H8 128 EF BT MKz
RAE - RERANZENE R A

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BEMERHMBRAR]

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

BB LA R T %A EE

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

BB TR R T ZAREE

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States
EEMEEEEET

per cent

Aokt
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
LREH

COMPANY NAME
Nayuki Holdings Limited

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhao Lin (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

Ms. Peng Xin
Mr. Deng Bin (resigned on February 26, 2025)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wei Guoxing (resigned on March 14, 2025)

Mr. Ma Yanjun (appointed on May 17, 2024 and
resigned on April 1, 2025)

Mr. Wong Tak-wai (resigned on May 17, 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Liu Yiwei
Ms. Zhang Rui
Mr. Xie Yongming

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Ms. Zhang Rui (Chairperson)
Mr. Liu Yiwei
Mr. Xie Yongming

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Zhao Lin (Chairperson)
Mr. Liu Yiwei
Mr. Xie Yongming

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Liu Yiwei (Chairperson)
Mr. Zhao Lin
Mr. Xie Yongming

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Shi Chao

Ms. Ho Yin Kwan (resigned on July 1, 2024)
AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Zhao Lin
Ms. Shi Chao (appointed on July 1, 2024)
Ms. Ho Yin Kwan (resigned on July 1, 2024)

NCIEE

RENFRIEBRER QA

BE

HITES

WL (BEERLEEHITE)
2Lt

BRMZ S A4 (IR20254E2 26 H BFI1T)
EHITES

BB E S 4 (RO0254E3 5 14 H BT )

A S e (R20244F5 517 HEZ L%

202544 51 H BHE)
BB S A (R20244E5 517 HBEHE)

BIEITES
BIRESEE

f i .
B

BEREES

RMLL(EE)
B REEE
KL L

REZEE

M (EE)

BB FEEE

Bk ptas

FMEES

BB @ZEA(EE)

MR A

Bk s Ritas

NREWE

SRt

AR BY 22+ (R20244E 7 5 1 H BFHF)
RERX

M A&

S HBAE (R20244F7 A1 HEZ(T)
AR B L+ (R20244E7 A 1 H BEE)



AUDITOR

KPMG
Public Interest Entity Auditor registered in accordance

with the Accounting and Financial Reporting Council Ordinance

8th Floor, Prince’s Building 10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISER

Eric Chow & Co.
in Association with Commerce & Finance Law Offices
3401, Alexandra House
18 Chater Road
Central
Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE IN CAYMAN ISLANDS

Walkers Corporate Limited
190 Elgin Avenue

George Town

Grand Cayman KY1-9008
Cayman Islands

HEADQUARTERS AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN THE PRC

4-5F, OCT REAL ONE
Baoxing Road
Bao’an District

Shenzhen
PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG
KONG

40th Floor, Dah Sing Financial Centre
No. 248 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER

OFFICE IN THE CAYMAN ISLANDS

Walkers Corporate Limited
190 Elgin Avenue

George Town

Grand Cayman KY1-9008
Cayman Islands
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¥ BB

EFRETMERM

RISt KA ELRBIFD) Ty
DR s B RE X BLED
BEPREITBI105

KFAESE

EREE

FERE RS
BB BTG

B

iR

AT E 1858

BIUARE3401E

FREHSEMRER

Walkers Corporate Limited
190 Elgin Avenue

George Town

Grand Cayman KY1-9008
Cayman Islands

MERPEFTEER R

i
R
L
B BT4-52

BERTEEXME

w5
T

S EABR248H;
KH & B 40K

RERERONBFERARE

Walkers Corporate Limited
190 Elgin Avenue

George Town

Grand Cayman KY1-9008
Cayman Islands
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
LREH

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd.

Shenzhen Branch

China Merchants Bank Shenzhen Branch Building
No. 2016, Shennan Blvd

Futian District

Shenzhen

PRC

China CITIC Bank Corporation Limited
Shenzhen Branch

5-10/F, North Tower, Excellence Times Plaza Il
No. 8 Zhong Xin San Road

Futian District

Shenzhen

The PRC

STOCK CODE
2150

COMPANY WEBSITE

www.naixuecha.com

CONTACT INFORMATION FOR INVESTORS

ir@pin-dao.cn

EAEAEFSFERE
EREPRIBFELTLERAT
E5

(T 25 RIER1835%
A Fiep R
17#81712-171655 48
FTEFRET
BERITROERL T
FEIND 1T

R

wEITH

BHER

R A IE 201655

BREBITRYIDITRE

FERITRHAERAT
EIND T

R

FEIIT

e

= B585F

R E S — BiJL EE5-10/8
B 134X 55

2150

NCIE R

www.naixuecha.com

REEBEAN

ir@pin-dao.cn
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MEHE

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of our

TXHINEREAEERBERBMBFEEZDN
EEURBENABNRE

Group for the last five financial years, is set out below:

For the year ended December 31,

BZ12A31ALEE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
2024 20236 20206 2014 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTT AR®TT AR®ETT ARETRH
Revenue Wz 4,921,201 5,164,056 4,291,586 4,296,618 3,057,181
Other income HilA 157,749 186,490 124,950 27,339 205,951
Cost of materials MRKA (1,809,010)  (1,699,442)  (1,416,094)  (1,400,674)  (1,159,322)
Staff costs BINA (1,434,604)  (1,403,868)  (1,362,115)  (1,424,358) (919,096)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets {#FIiE&EENE (413,223) (411,588) (434,930) (420,272) (352,912)
Other rentals and related Hihfe KRR Y
expenses (274,751) (306,258) (228,962) (212,996) (100,568)
Depreciation and amortization HihEEMTEREH
of other assets (335,503) (304,439 (263,183) (204,026) (154,117)
Advertising and promotion BEREERAY
expenses (246,017) (165,804) (142,933) (111,592) (82,172)
Delivery service fees ERBE (345,616) (392,638) (380,520) (258,976) (167,369)
Utilities expenses KERL (154,027) (143,899) (113,556) (90,750) (66,909)
Logistic and storage fees RN ERE (152,597) (140,833) (123,112) (90,502) (56,710)
Other expenses HiA% (496,256) (261,301) (249,578) (176,325) (123,655)
Other net losses HEtERFE (90,370) (45,912) (130,865) (38,746) (7,382)
Finance costs BEKAE (68,863) (65,873) (80,326) (91,547) (130,258)
Share of losses of associates ﬁfﬁﬂ’;ﬁ*ﬁ’&ﬁ?%%ﬁ (123,585) (38,722) (1,288) = =
Fair value changes of financial NARBEFEEEZHAA
assets at fair value through EHBER((UALEENE
profit or loss ("FVTPL") BHEBTAEHER )
TREENDABEES (4,289) 36,141 (2,603) 7,560 -
Fair value changes of financial LARBEERHEFHTA
liabilities at FVTPL EHRENERABHAA
BEZE - = (2,989) (11,330) (132,757)
Fair value changes of convertible ~ AJE AR B EIE LMD 1 B
redeemable preferred shares BEE - = = (4,329,052) =
Profit/(loss) before taxation BRBAER (F8) (869,761) 6,110 (516,518)  (4,529,629) (190,095)
Income tax s (56,494) 5,056 40,712 4,105 (13,207)
Profit/(loss) for the year FriEF/ (F8) (926,255) 11,166 (475,806)  (4,525,524) (203,302)
Non-IFRS measure FER T RE LR E
Adjusted net profit/(loss) BREFNE,/ (F8) R
(non-IFRS measure) B BmREEAE)0 (918,687) 20,912 (461,331) (145,265) 16,643
Adjusted net profit/(loss) IRAECERE (BR) X
margin (non-IFRS measure) @ (GEBIBR B iR
EAFTE) (18.7)% 0.4% (10.7)% (3.4)% 0.5%
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

Notes: fieE -

(1) Equity-settled share-based payment expenses consist of share options and (1) UEREEURMDAEROMNRALBERE2020
RSUs granted under the 2020 Share Incentive Plan, which are non-cash and non- FRAD B TR H B E R Z RN ENEB
operational in nature and they are not directly correlate with the Group's business FRERFRENE  BEAEERGETEHRMNE
performance in a given period. BREYEEERE -

(2) Calculated using adjusted net (loss)/profit (non-IFRS measure) divided by revenue (2 RBEHARF(HR),FHEGERRE B R &£
in a given period. B)R AT BRENKEAE -

As at December 31,

R12A318
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
2024% 2023% 2022% 20214 20204

RMB'0O00  RMB000 ~ RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTR ARETT ARBTR ARETL

Assets, Liabilities and & B8R

Equity/(Deficit) B/ (BY)
Total assets WEE 6,165,150 7,540,364 6,939,700 7,328,446 3,314,109
Total liabilities maE (2,249,018) (2,718,592) (2,174,116) (2,385,016) (3,738,526)

Total equity/(deficit) 1/ (B4 BE 3,916,132 4,821,772 4765584 4,943,430 (424,417)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ENTERPRISE OVERVIEW

Established in Shenzhen City of Guangdong Province in 2014, the
Group is a catering group principally engaged in Chinese freshly-
made tea drinks chain operation, whose Shares were listed on the
main board of the Stock Exchange on June 30, 2021. As a leading
manager and operator of premium modern teahouse brand in
China, we operate Nayuki teahouses which focus on offering a
broad array of freshly-made tea drinks and handcrafted baked
goods, and we establish a dual category model featured with “tea
drinks + European soft bread” in line with meeting two kinds of
pleasures by enjoying a nice cup of tea and a bite of European
soft bread, and are committed to becoming a global teahouse
brand loved by everyone, with creating and promoting the tea
culture to the world as our brand vision. Focusing on green and
healthy strategy, we make high-quality and healthy products with
high cost performance ratio and less sugar content, using high-
quality ingredients such as fresh fruits, high-quality tea leaves and
fresh milk instead of syrup, tea powder and creamer, building a
lifestyle suitable for modern people through tea drinks. Through
our operated modern teahouses, we have created a comfortable
social space for our customers and communities to get together.
In order to promote the long-term development of our brand, we
have continued to iterate on store and launched our first “Nayuki
green” store in the first quarter of 2025, to provide customers with
healthy light drinks and light meals products. As of December 31,
2024, our network of Nayuki teahouses has increased by 143 to
1,798 from 1,655 as of December 31, 2023, of which 1,453 are self-
operated stores and 345 are franchise stores.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The weak performance of the consumer market in 2024 led to more
customers leaning towards cautious spending or purpose-based
spending. Moreover, after the COVID-19 outbreak, consumer
habits have changed to a certain extent, and foot traffic in
shopping centers and other offline consumption venues has not yet
fully recovered, resulting in a contraction in the demand side of the
consumer market. On the other hand, the continuous influx of new
brands and crossover brands into the freshly-made tea industry has
intensified competition in the industry, resulting in pressure on the
revenue of the Group's stores.

THRWESH

EMR
REBE20U4FHRERERERIT - 2
— KA IR R EEEE BZONER
S8 WHE2021F6A30H REEZFTER
e fERF BIE LA = imIR Bl R R m g E R
EREZEE  BMMCENRIOREERE
EEANEHEEREXAEMEER - B
IR —O8Ee  E5SBRMEE
FIRAET [RR+EE e JERBERER - B
RIKAZEREENZIRERGREME] - A
[RAXXLERTEROAIFENESE |5
mEES c BMEB RS CREEHE - BiFT
EamE  aERMREER - AETEK
RREBER  UEERERBEENER - U
FEFDREDNE  BREBRENAR S - B
BEFITEAGARANET AN - BB
BEENIRFIRRE - ARPRARITESR
EERENTFEMOLIGH - BRERERR
BRE o BRMEME ETEER - ER7E2025
FE—FTEHERER [RE greenlt * B
AERRBEERANSHESRER - # 22024
F12A318 - ZRPINESHERRERSEE
F2023F12 A31 HEI1,655KEM143KRKE
1,798 » R EHZPE1,453% - INEBME
345%

RIEERE

2024 FEHBMB R EEHERE
MREEEENENEEE - ACOVID-19%
Bk HBEBERE—TERE  BUPL
ERTHEHEBLSEMNARENATEIRE @ B
BMSENIREMKGE - Z—H M @ FamkE
hERBEEEBEARRURRITE  F£517
EBFME - BEAREEPEWRAKE °
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
TEBHRRE S

In response to the pressure and challenges posed by the
severe external environment, in 2024, we made corresponding
adjustments to our development strategies of the network of
Nayuki teahouses: (i) for our self-operated stores, we continued
to develop new market opportunities, expand into new markets
and cultivate mature markets. At the same time, through the
establishment of our store assessment mechanism, we proactively
closed or renovated some underperforming stores to optimize
resource allocation; (ii) for our franchise business, we continued
to optimize our store model to reduce the initial investment cost,
and at the same time, we are more rational in selecting mature
franchisees to ensure the expansion of our franchise stores in a high
quality manner; and (iii) we are steadily advancing our international
business and building a global network of teahouses, and have
gradually entered overseas markets such as Thailand, Macau SAR,
Singapore and Malaysia.

As of December 31, 2024, our network of Nayuki teahouses has
increased by 143 to 1,798 from 1,655 as of December 31, 2023, of
which 1,453 are self-operated stores and 345 are franchise stores.

In 2024, the Group's revenue decreased by 4.7% from RMB5,164.1
million in 2023 to RMB4,921.2 million. The adjusted net profit/(loss)
changed from profit of RMB20.9 million in 2023 to loss of RMB918.7
million in 2024. Net cash generated from operating activities of
the Group decreased by 75.7% from RMB828.5 million in 2023 to
RMB201.6 million in 2024.

For the avoidance of doubt, unless otherwise stated, the figures
in the section headed "Management Discussion and Analysis” in
respect of Nayuki teahouses include Nayuki self-operated stores
only.

T Y B IR BV SN R IR IR R R ) B B B
2024 F R MBE R TR KRERE O ER
EBWETHRBE  (VEHHEEPE - B
TERBEFOTISHE  FEBRTTHL
RIS o B - BB PE A
Bl - WA ETBEAKBER D EETENF
& BIEEREE © ()EEMBER - &M
TEBCPIE B AREMBIRAKAE - [
R IR AR A AN - RE MBS
WREERE  ARG)RMEBSHEEBRR
MISER - BREAKEEHEE  YOESR
EAZEE  ORFIFFRITTHE - F0K - FK
P FRINT I

HZE2024F 128318 KMNEZHEER
JERAR B RE E2023F 12 A31 BH1,655FK#T
143K E1,798K - HFEEFIE1,453%K
DINEEPIJE 3455 °

2024F - AREBEWRAB2023FEHNARE
S1641E BT TNHAT%E AR 492128
BT - KA FFE(FEB)H2023FER
AFARBE2098 B E 52024 F &8
ARKEBTEETT - NEBEKEEEMSHR
SFEH2023FMARKE285B 8L T &

e —

75.7% 22024 F ) AR BE201.6 B ETT °

BLIH - BRIFEAIEN  [FREHHES
T B B S B 7 SR B R B B 45
THREEPIE -



Annual Report 2§ 2024 13

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Performance by business lines

We intend to modernize China’s long-lived tea-drinking culture and
promote it to more customers by offering freshly-made tea drinks
and baked goods coupled with enjoyable customer experience.
Moreover, in order to cater to the diversified demands of our
customers, we have launched ready-to-drink beverage and various
retail products such as snacks and gift products. The following
table sets out our revenue by business lines.

THRWESH

D EGHRRE

ZFHERBRERERRRARMEEERAR
it ERER  ATBREKANRAE
ABRTRUEREEZEP - Rtz
BT MEZHRANTR - RAGEDL THE
BHRALRBETR HFREANZEZTE
B o NRE T RIREBRE DM

(EPI

For the year ended December 31,

BZ12R31ALEE
2024 2023 Change
2024 20235 g
Percentage
RMB % RMB % RMB point(s)
AR¥T ARBT ARBT BOH
(in thousands, except percentages)
(ATF& - BB
Nayuki self-operated stores AZAIAEZME 4,158,436 84.5 4,691,501 90.8 (533,065) (6.3)
Ready-to-drink beverage MRS 293,307 6.0 266,619 52 26,688 08
Others Hfo 469,458 9.5 205,936 4.0 263,522 5.5
Total Foh) 4,921,201 100.0 5,164,056 100.0 (242,855)  N/A 1@
Note: Mat -

(1) Including revenue derived from business lines other than Nayuki self-operated
stores and ready-to-drink beverage, which consist primarily of revenue generated
from our franchise business, as well as sales of retail products such as gift tea
boxes, seasonal gift sets and gifts. In 2024, we have officially shut down all stores
of our sub-brand Tai Gai and ceased the operation of Tai Gai brand. During the
Reporting Period, our revenue derived from Tai Gai brand was minimal.

() BEENZAKELEPERIREKKIAINEG LR
EEMBA - EhEEBERMIA I EEB KA
WARE R  HREREER  HFEETE
EmHERE - BMER2024FEXBETREAE
MFAPELFILEL B EMME - WEHE - M
KEREEmENBARMTEN
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
TEBHRRE S

Performance by products

DEMKRR

For the year ended December 31,

BZ12R31BLEE
2024 2023 Change
20245 20236 g
Percentage
RMB % RMB % RMB point(s)
AR¥T N ARBT BRH
(in thousands, except percentages)
(T3t BB
Freshly-made tea drinks RERHA 3,388,398 68.9 3,776,943 73.1 (388,545) 4.2)
Baked goods HIEEmR 528,444 10.7 707,662 13.7 (179,218) (3.0)
Ready-to-drink beverage MESH 293,307 6.0 266,619 52 26,688 038
Other products!” HibEmo 711,052 14.4 412,832 8.0 298,220 6.4
Total @t 4,921,201 100.0 5,164,056 100.00 (242,855)  N/A MER
Note: Hiat -

(1) Primarily include revenue generated from our franchise business, as well as
coffee, peripheral products, retail products and gifts, such as snacks, gift tea
boxes, seasonal gift sets.

Product innovation

We are committed to providing our customers with high-quality
and healthy products, ensuring the highest product quality and
continuous product innovation to meet the diverse needs and
preferences of our customers. In 2024, we launched a total of 70
new beverages based on our judgments of market trends and our
analysis of the consumption habits of our large customer base. We
have also been promoting the concept of pairing freshly-made tea
drinks with baked goods. In order to continue to consolidate and
deepen this differential advantage from other teahouse brands, we
have also launched 55 new products for baked goods.

() EEEERFINIMNEED®RAOBA ARG - &

BES TEEREFEFE TR FESH
REERTEES -
=PE
= mElFET

BMBFAERERERE BRENER
BINREREENEREEMNTEEITE
mAFET  URmRERNZHE(EE KRR -
2024F E - KIBEHMISBE RN HE - AR
ERKEMEANBEREEETHNEETED
M B —HEHEH T 703 E o B —
ERSHEERURREREEEROES
T FHE E E N N B AP EE L A 2R AR R AR Y
BE—AEREDR  BMITEHEEEEMED
T55F M ©
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Nayuki Membership Program

As at December 31, 2024, the Company had registered members of
approximately 102.8 million. The monthly active members® of the
Company amounted to approximately 4.8 million, with a monthly
repurchase rate? of approximately 24.0%.

Notes:

(1) Representing the average number of members who ordered our products at least
once a month during 2024;

(2) Representing the average proportion of active members who ordered our
products at least twice a month during 2024.

Franchise Business

With the gradual sophistication of the Group’s digitalization and
automation capabilities on automatic tea-making equipment and
automatic shift scheduling system, we have officially commenced
our franchise business in July 2023, so as to further expand our
Nayuki teahouse network and enhance our market share in the
freshly-made tea industry, especially on mid and low-tier cities
where the Group seldom opened self-operated stores.

As of December 31, 2024, the number of Nayuki franchise stores
of the Group increased from 81 as of December 31, 2023 by 264
to 345. During the Reporting Period, our franchise business only
contributed a small portion of the Group's revenue. With the
gradual growth of our franchise business, we will provide more
information on the financial performance of our franchise business

for the market as and when appropriate.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
TEBHRRE S

PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS OF NAYUKI SELF- FEWXKBEEMERRBOWN
OPERATED STORES
Number and distribution of stores PR & E oM

As of December 31, 2024, the Group had 1,453 Nayuki self- HZE2024F12A8318 » KEBE112{EH T
operated stores in 112 cities. We insist on further expanding our HB1A3EE TR EEPE - RIMEBFE
teahouse network and increasing market penetration mainly in the EEREN—R - T SNESH G mE
existing Tier 1 cities, New Tier 1 cities and key Tier 2 cities, so as —F IR NERRWIESTIRL2EER - A
to cultivate and consolidate consumers’ consumption habits. The HEEMEEEHEENEEETIE - TR
following table sets out the breakdown of the number of our Nayuki TRMIEHEMNEE DN ATHXELME

self-operated stores by geographic location. ENERHAE -
As at As at
December 31, December 31,
2024 2023
R2024F R2023F
12A31H 12H31H
Number of Nayuki self-operated stores (#) ZFEARXELFIEEE (#)
Tier 1 cities — T 522 542
New Tier 1 cities H—Ggmm 504 552
Tier 2 cities S 287 328
Other cities ™ HAbmmo 140 152
Total @ 1,453 1,574
Note: Btet -
(1) Including (i) cities of other tiers across mainland China and (ii) cities outside (1) BLHEG) AR B A ok At AR I8 T % (i) R B K B 3R MR T o
mainland China.
Operational key indicators ZEMRIER

For the year ended
December 31,

BZE12A31BLEE

2024 2023
20244 20234
Nayuki self-operated stores FENFEEME
Average sales value per order (RMB) HETETHHEEE(ARET)O 26.7 29.6
Average orders per teahouse per day (#)? BERSE T ERTEEHP 270.5 344.3
Notes: Bisr
(1) Calculated by the revenue generated by a Nayuki self-operated store in certain (1) BRE—HEHEBSZSHEEESPIEELENW AR A
period divided by the total number of orders placed by customers to such Nayuki REEFRZEREHREELME TERN]ERE
self-operated store in the same period. FE -
(2) Calculated by the arithmetic average amount of valid orders per day of a Nayuki (2 EBEHRHEEEZAHXELHEEEAERTER

self-operated store in certain period. WEMTFHEEE -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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DWAKIRRIR

For the year ended December 31,

BZ12A31HLERE
2024 2023 Change
2024% 20235 2%
Percentage
RMB % RMB % RMB point(s)
ARER ARET ARET BRE
(in thousands, except percentages)
(WFst - BALERS)

Nayuki self-operated stores ZFZHXEEME
Order at store counter PGS EN 544,157 131 680,195 14.5 (136,038) (1.4)
Pickup orders? BRFTER 1,894,447 45,5 2,044,667 434 (150,220) 19
Delivery orders® =R 1,719,832 41.4 1,966,639 419 (246,807) 0.5
Total st 4,158,436 100.0 4,691,501 100.0 (533,065)  N/A 1@

Notes: M -

(1) Representing revenue generated from customer orders placed on-site at Nayuki (1) EERMNFEZHREEMERS TERFIE(T
self-operated stores (excluding orders placed through our WeChat, Alipay and BEABBEMNME XNBERE=ZFFENER
third-party platform mini programs). FT T 88) FTEE IR A ©

(2) Representing revenue generated from customer orders placed through our (2 HEARBEMHOME INBERE=ZFFENEFT
WeChat, Alipay and third-party platform mini programs. ENRFRIEMEENBA -

(3) Representing revenue generated from delivery orders that require delivery (3) EHEMERBHINERTEFMELEMNIA - 20245
services. In 2024, out of the revenue of the Group's Nayuki self-operated stores, B AEERTHREEFIERANL36.2%KER
approximately 36.2% was derived from revenue generated from delivery orders F=ZDHNEFETENIEITEMEENRA » 4
placed by third-party platforms; and approximately 5.2% was derived from S2%RERAEBEEFETENIIETEMEL
revenue generated from delivery orders placed by the Group's self-operated HIUA ©

platform.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EHEFRR S
Performance by market SIS RIR
For the year ended December 31,
BZ12R31BLFE
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
Average daily sales per teahouse
FHEEBYHER
(RMB’000)
(AR¥ETFTT)
Nayuki self-operated stores ™ REMFREEMED
Shenzhen el 10.5 14.6
Shanghai st 6.7 11.0
Guangzhou BEM 8.3 1.1
Wuhan TEWE 6.7 9.8
Xi'an [liik=q 8.3 12.2
Beijing = 7.7 11.3
For the year ended December 31,
BEE12A31BLLEE
2024 2023
20244 20235
Average daily sales per teahouse
THEERHERE
(RMB’000)
(AR¥FT)
Nayuki self-operated stores ™ FEHFEEMEO
Tier 1 cities — &R 8.9 12.7
New Tier 1 cities T — AR 6.8 9.5
Tier 2 cities ZRR T 6.9 9.6

Other cities @ Efbimme 6.9 9.7
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Performance by same stores

THRWESH

[R5 RHE

For the year ended December 31,

BZ12A31ALEE

2024 2023
Number of 20245 2023
stores ®/(#) Average daily sales per teahouse
55 2 B o)(#) FHEEAHER
(RMB'000)
(AR%TT)
Nayuki self-operated stores FREMFEEMIE
Shenzhen I 197 11.0 14.8
Shanghai 8 63 7.3 11.2
Guangzhou M 86 8.7 1.2
Wuhan BZE 74 7.0 10.1
Xi'an Pif7y 56 8.8 12.2
Beijing AR 53 8.0 11.7
Notes: Htat -

m

Only including stores that operated for at least 60 days as of December 31 of
that year and did not cease operation as of December 31 of that year. We are
of view that stores opened for less than 60 days may be significantly affected by
opening promotions, “store opening customer traffic” and other factors, which
may lead to the overall data being unrepresentative and misleading to investors.
Therefore, we have excluded those stores.

Including (i) cities of other tiers across mainland China and (ii) cities outside
mainland China.

Only including stores that operated for at least 60 days in 2023 and 2024 and did
not cease operations as of December 31, 2024.

M

EREREEF12ANBLERETLNOK - B
REFI12ANBHERFLEERZFL - RAIRA
GESSRE N NSRS A E b
[REFTPREIFAZTEBA  AREGHEEY
BAARKNE  HREEEKRE - Bt - #HAE
HELePIEHERRESD ©

B () B AR B B At AR T R (i) AP B R B 3RS T

1€ BB 1E 20234 f2 2024 4F & ¥ B R D R 60K
BR2024F 1231 A MAREIEEEZPIE ©
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
TEBHRRE S

OUTLOOK

As a leading manager and operator of a premium modern teahouse
brand in China, we always adhere to the brand vision of creating
and promoting the tea culture to the world, and are committed to
becoming a global teahouse brand loved by everyone.

Notwithstanding the pressure on store revenue in 2024, which
resulted in a decline in the Group's profitability, the Group will
adhere to its consumer-oriented approach, and will proactively
adjust and continue to implement a series of measures to cope with
the challenges in the current situation.

In 2025, we will focus on our green and healthy strategy by
continuing to create high-quality and cost-effective products,
and working with continuous and innovative brand marketing
campaigns to enhance customer awareness and strengthen our
brand power.

At the store level, the Board is of the view that the existing store
type of Nayuki teahouses is no longer adequate for the current
business development of the Group, especially with the continued
advancement of our franchise business and international markets.
Looking ahead to 2025, we will explore more store types to
accommodate the expansion of the Group's teahouse network
in different consumption scenarios, so as to further increase the
Group’s market share, which was evidenced by: (i) different store
types and differentiated product matrix, which will help us to
extend consumption periods and adapt to more consumption
scenarios, such as the coverage of dining periods and office
scenarios for which the performance of the freshly-made tea
industry is relatively weak, so as to boost store revenue; and (ii)
different store types and different investment barriers brought by
it, which can cover diversified franchise needs and reach wider
investment groups, thereby facilitating the rapid expansion of the
franchise business of the Group.

RE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

On the other hand, we will continue to proactively optimize our
some existing stores through our store assessment mechanism,
including but not limited to remodeling, adjusting the store type
or closure, to further unlock store profits. During the Reporting
Period, we have made provision for impairment losses for
such optimization measures. At the same time, to match the
future development of different store types and the continuous
optimization of stores, we will carry out a comprehensive upgrade
of our store operation and management system to make it more
efficient and intelligent, thus enhancing the profitability of stores.

At the headquarters level, we will also continue to optimize
operating costs of headquarters by strengthening the management
of supply chain and building an efficient organizational structure.

All of the capital investment derived from the aforementioned
series of adjustment measures will be generated from our own
operating cash flow and the net proceeds raised from our Global
Offering. As at December 31, 2024, the Group held cash and
deposits totaling RMB2,694.2 million. We have sufficient cash to
cope with timely adjustments of our business and support its stable
development. The Board is also confident that these adjusting
measures will bring favorable outcomes for the Group.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group generates substantially all of its revenue from sales of
products offered by Nayuki self-operated stores. For the Reporting
Period and 2023, Nayuki self-operated stores contributed 84.5%
and 90.8% of the total revenue, respectively. The remaining small
portion of revenue was mainly derived from our ready-to-drink
beverage business and the franchise business.

The Group recorded revenue of RMB4,921.2 million for the
Reporting Period (2023: RMB5,164.1 million), representing a
decrease of approximately 4.7% as compared with 2023. The
decrease in revenue was mainly attributable to (i) the overall weak
performance of the consumer market in 2024, with more customers
leaning towards cautious spending or purpose-based spending,
as well as the intensified competition in the freshly-made tea
industry, resulting in pressure on the store revenue; and (ii) the
closure of some of our underperforming stores. At the end of the
Reporting Period, the number of Nayuki self-operated stores that
we operated decreased as compared to the end of 2023.
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Other income

Other income of the Group consists primarily of (i) interest income
on bank deposits, term deposits, rental deposits; (i) government
grants, primarily representing grants and unconditional cash
awards granted by local governments; and (iii) dividend income
from listed equity investment. Other income of the Group
amounted to RMB157.8 million for the Reporting Period (2023:
RMB186.5 million). The decrease in the Group’s other income was
primarily due to the reduction in bank interest income as a result of
fund utilization, as well as the decrease in additional deduction of
input VAT as compared to the same period in 2023.

Expenses
Cost of materials

Cost of materials consists primarily of (i) cost of raw materials,
including tea leaves, dairy products, seasonal fruits, juices, and
other raw materials used for the preparation of our freshly made tea
drinks, baked goods and other products; and (ii) cost of packaging
materials and consumables such as tea cups and paper bags.

Cost of materials of the Group amounted to RMB1,809.0 million,
representing 36.8% of the total revenue for the Reporting Period,
compared to RMB1,699.4 million, representing 32.9% of the
total revenue for 2023. For the Reporting Period, our cost of
materials and the proportion of that over total revenue increased
as compared to the same period in 2023, which was mainly
attributable to (i) the increase in the cost of materials during the
Reporting Period derived from the addition of our new franchise
business in the second half of 2023; and (ii) our commitment to high
quality raw materials.

Staff costs

Staff costs consist primarily of (i) salaries, wages and other benefits;
(ii) contributions to defined contribution retirement plan; (iii)
equity-settled share-based payment expenses; and (iv) outsourced
staff costs.
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Staff costs of the Group amounted to RMB1,434.6 million,
representing 29.2% of the total revenue for the Reporting Period,
compared to RMB1,403.9 million, representing 27.2% of the total
revenue for 2023. During the Reporting Period, our staff costs and
the proportion of that over total revenue increased as compared
to the same period in 2023, which was mainly attributable to (i)
during the Reporting Period, the total number of operating days
of Nayuki self-operated stores increased as compared to the same
period of 2023 despite the decrease in the number of Nayuki self-
operated stores at the end of the Reporting Period as compared
to the end of 2023; and (ii) the pressure on store revenue. During
the Reporting Period, staff costs classified by business lines
included: (i) store-level staff costs for Nayuki self-operated stores,
which amounted to RMB1,011.3 million, representing 24.3% of
revenue for Nayuki self-operated stores; (ii) staff costs for ready-
to-drink beverage business, which amounted to RMB73.5 million,
representing 25.1% of revenue for ready-to-drink beverage; and
(iii) staff costs for headquarters and others, which amounted to
RMB349.8 million, representing 7.1% of the total revenue.

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

Depreciation of right-of-use assets represents depreciation
charges for the Group's leases. Depreciation of right-of-use
assets is recognized using the straight-line method from the
commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of
the right-of-use assets or the end of the lease term. Depreciation
of right-of-use assets of the Group amounted to RMB413.2 million
for the Reporting Period, representing 8.4% of the Group's total
revenue during the Reporting Period (2023: RMB411.6 million,
representing 8.0% of the Group's revenue for 2023). For the
Reporting Period, the Group's proportion of depreciation of right-
of-use assets over total revenue remained generally stable as
compared to 2023.

Other rentals and related expenses

Our other rentals and related expenses mainly include (i) variable
lease payments which subject to some specified event or condition;
and (ii) short-term leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less
and leases of low-value assets.
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Other rentals and related expenses of the Group amounted to
RMB274.8 million for the Reporting Period, representing 5.6%
of the Group's total revenue during the Reporting Period (2023:
RMB306.3 million, representing 5.9% of the Group’s revenue for
2023). The decrease in other rentals and related expenses of the
Group was mainly due to the decline in revenue of Nayuki self-
operated stores and closure of certain stores, leading to a decrease
in variable lease payments in stores.

Depreciation and amortization of other assets

Depreciation and amortization of other assets represent
depreciation charges for property and equipment and depreciation
expenses for leasehold improvements. Depreciation and
amortization of other assets of the Group amounted to RMB335.5
million for the Reporting Period, representing 6.8% of the Group's
total revenue during the Reporting Period (2023: RMB304.4 million,
representing 5.9% of the Group's revenue for 2023). The increase
in the proportion of depreciation and amortization of other assets
over total revenue was mainly due to the full year impact of the self-
operated stores added in the second half of 2023.

Advertising and promotion expenses

Advertising and promotion expenses primarily represent expenses
incurred in connection with marketing, branding and promotion
activities of the Group. Advertising and promotion expenses
of the Group amounted to RMB246.0 million for the Reporting
Period, representing 5.0% of the Group’s total revenue during
the Reporting Period (2023: RMB165.8 million, representing 3.2%
of the Group's revenue for 2023). The increase in advertising and
promotion expenses of the Group and the proportion of that over
total revenue was mainly attributable to the Group's increased
marketing efforts to enhance its brand reputation during the
Reporting Period, such as the increase in takeaway promotional
activities.

Delivery service fees

Delivery service fees represent fees paid by the Group to third-
party delivery service providers. Delivery service fees of the
Group amounted to RMB345.6 million for the Reporting Period,
representing 7.0% of the Group's total revenue during the
Reporting Period (2023: RMB392.6 million, representing 7.6% of the
Group's revenue for 2023). The decrease in delivery service fees
was primarily due to the decrease in the revenue of delivery orders
from our Nayuki self-operated stores.
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Utilities expenses

Utilities expenses consist primarily of expenses in relation to
electricity utilities, and to a lesser extent, gas and water utilities
that are attributable to the operation of the Group's teahouses.
Utilities expenses of the Group amounted to RMB154.0 million
for the Reporting Period, representing 3.1% of the Group's total
revenue during the Reporting Period (2023: RMB143.9 million,
representing 2.8% of the Group's revenue for 2023). During the
Reporting Period, the proportion of utilities expenses over total
revenue remained generally stable as compared to 2023.

Logistic and storage fees

Logistic and storage fees represent fees paid by the Group to
third-party service providers for raw materials transportation
and warehousing services. Logistic and storage fees of the
Group amounted to RMB152.6 million for the Reporting Period,
representing 3.1% of the Group's total revenue during the
Reporting Period (2023: RMB140.8 million, representing 2.7% of the
Group's revenue for 2023). The proportion of logistic and storage
fees of the Group over total revenue remained generally stable as
compared to 2023.

Finance costs

Finance costs consist primarily of interests on lease liabilities and
interests on provisions. Finance costs of the Group amounted to
RMB68.9 million for the Reporting Period, representing 1.4% of the
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Group's total revenue during the Reporting Period (2023: RMB65.9 1.4% (20234 : AR 6598 & 7T © 152023
million, representing 1.3% of the Group's revenue for 2023). The FAREBUEZERT.3%) o FNEREFIRFTREME
following table sets forth the components of our finance costs for BPIRERKAARER D (ABE S8 (b4
the period indicated, both in absolute amount and as a percentage KB B DR ©
of total revenue.
For the year ended December 31,
BE12A3MBLEE
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB % RMB %
AR % AR %
(in thousands, except percentages)
(LAF5t - BH RSN
Interest on lease liabilities fAE&ER & 67,235 1.4 64,797 1.3
Interest on provisions BT 2, 1,559 0.0 1,076 0.0
Interest on bank loans IRITE KT B 69 0.0 - 0.0
68,863 1.4 65,873 1.3
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Other expenses

Other expenses consist primarily of (i) administrative expenses
incurred during the ordinary course of business of the Group,
such as telecommunication expenses and maintenance expenses;
(ii) travelling and business development expenses incurred by
employees of the Group; (iii) other-party service fees representing
costs associated with third party management consulting and other
professional services; (iv) impairment losses; and (v) others, such
as insurance fees and other tax and surcharges. Other expenses
of the Group amounted to RMB496.3 million for the Reporting
Period, representing 10.1% of the Group's total revenue during
the Reporting Period (2023: RMB261.3 million, representing 5.1%
of the Group's revenue for 2023). The following table sets forth the
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components of our other expenses in absolute amounts and as
percentages of total revenue for the periods indicated.

For the year ended December 31,

BZ12A31ALEE

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB % RMB %
AR¥T % AR %

(in thousands, except percentages)

(AT& - BAERRSN)

Administrative expenses THAX 147,268 3.0 150,558 2.9
Travelling and business ERREBRER
development expenses 45,193 0.9 49,785 1.0
Other-party service fees Hin T RIEE 12,488 0.3 13,626 0.3
Impairment losses RIEEE
— property and equipment — M E R RE 106,105 2.2 8,811 0.2
- right-of-use assets —(FREEE — 0.0 4,488 0.1
— interests in associates — B E N B R R 155,437 3.2 = 0.0
Write-down of inventories Mo & 1,860 0.0 745 0.0
Others Eb 27,905 0.5 33,288 0.6
496,256 10.1 261,301 5.1
Income Tax PR1SH54

The income tax expense of the Group amounted to RMB56.5
million for the Reporting Period. The income tax benefits of the
Group for the year ended December 31, 2023 amounted to RMB5.1
million.

RI|ERE - NEBARSHIHEAEARE
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Non-IFRS Measure

To supplement the Group’s consolidated financial statements that
are presented in accordance with IFRS, the Group also use adjusted
net (loss)/profit (non-IFRS measure) as an additional financial
measure, which is not required by, or presented in accordance with,
IFRS. The Group believes that this non-IFRS measure facilitates
comparisons of operating performance from period to period and
company to company by eliminating potential impact of items
that our management does not consider to be indicative of the
Group's operating performance. The Group believes that this
measure provides useful information to shareholders, investors and
others in understanding and evaluating the Group's consolidated
results of operations in the same manner as it helps the Group's
management. However, the Group's presentation of adjusted net
(loss)/profit (non-IFRS measure) may not be comparable to similarly
titled measures presented by other companies. The use of this non-
IFRS measure has limitations as an analytical tool, and the investors
should not consider them in isolation from, or as substitute for
analysis of, the Group’s results of operations or financial condition
as reported under IFRS.
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Year Ended December 31,
BZE12A3MBLEE

in a given period.

2024 2023
20245 2023%F
(RMB in thousands)
(AR TFT)
Reconciliation of net (loss)/profit F(ER) FEESHEF
and adjusted net (loss)/profit (B8),/FEGEERTERE
(non-IFRS measure) EHFE) 2R
Net (loss)/profit for the year FRF(ER),/FE (926,255) 11,166
Add: on
Equity-settled share-based payment VARE 25 A5 S LARR (9 A BT HY
expenses (1 HRFAZO 7,568 9,746
Adjusted net (loss)/profit (non-IFRS measure) #& %% (&), FH
(GEEIRR B S ERIR &) (918,687) 20,912
Adjusted net (loss)/profit margin RABOE (FEIE) S F R
(non-IFRS measure)® (FREIRR M F5 s 2 RIGH 8 )@ (18.7)% 0.4%

Notes: M -

(1)  Equity-settled share-based payment expenses consist of share options and (1) AR E AR A E A 515 2 B HE 1R 182020
RSUs granted under the 2020 Share Incentive Plan, which are non-cash and non- F R BT B3R B B AR I PR I AR 10 BE L BB
operational in nature and they are not directly correlate with the Group's business R RIEEEME  BRASEERGEHMNE
performance in a given period. BRIV EERRE -

(2) Calculated using adjusted net (loss)/profit (non-IFRS measure) divided by revenue (2 RAKARZFER),FE(GEER R EERE

BB A ke E PR R R EETE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Cash, Bank Deposits and Borrowings

As of December 31, 2024, the total cash and cash equivalents of
the Group amounted to RMB579.1 million (as of December 31,
2023: RMB444.3 million) and the total term deposits and certificates
of deposit of the Group amounted to RMB2,115.1 million (as of
December 31, 2023: RMB2,539.1 million), primarily denominated
in RMB, USD and HKD. As of December 31, 2024, the Group has
RMB50.0 million bank loan with 2.5% interest rate (as of December
31, 2023: Nil).

Right-of-Use Assets

The Group's right-of-use assets primarily represent the leases for
the Group's teahouses, office at headquarters and warehouses.
As of December 31, 2024, the right-of-use assets of the Group
amounted to RMB1,226.4 million (as of December 31, 2023:
RMB1,609.2 million). The decrease in the balance of the Group's
right-of-use assets was mainly due to the decrease in the number
of Nayuki self-operated stores at the end of the Reporting Period
as compared to the end of 2023, and the partial decrease in the
proportion of fixed rent.

Property and Equipment

The Group's property and equipment consist primarily of
leasehold improvements, kitchen equipment, furniture equipment,
electronic equipment and others and construction in progress.
As of December 31, 2024, the property and equipment of the
Group amounted to RMB1,136.5 million (as of December 31, 2023:
RMB1,419.2 million). The decrease in the Group’s property and
equipment was primarily due to the decrease in the number of
Nayuki self-operated stores and the provision of impairment loss at
the end of the Reporting Period as compared to the end of 2023.

Inventories

The Group's inventories consist primarily of raw materials and
packaging materials. As of December 31, 2024, the inventories
of the Group amounted to RMB127.6 million (as of December 31,
2023: RMB147.2 million). The decrease in inventories of the Group
was mainly due to the decrease in the number of Nayuki self-
operated stores and the lower stocking level of the stores.

The Group's inventories turnover days decreased from 29.4 days for
2023 to 27.7 days for the Reporting Period.
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Trade and Other Receivables and Prepayments

The Group's trade receivables consist primarily of receivables due
from third parties in connection with the sales of products. The
Group's other receivables and prepayments consist primarily of
input valued-added tax recoverable in connection with purchase of
raw materials, rental deposits within one year, interest receivables
and prepayments to suppliers. Trade and other receivables and
prepayments of the Group increased from RMB250.4 million as of
December 31, 2023 to RMB272.1 million as of December 31, 2024,
which was mainly due to the increase in rental deposits within one
year as compare to 2023.

Trade and Other Payables

The Group's trade payables consist primarily of trade payables to
the Group's raw materials suppliers. The Group also recorded other
payables and accrued charges in connection with various aspects
of its operations, including (i) payroll and welfare payables to
employees; (i) payables for purchase of property and equipment;
(iii) accrued charges, which are mainly utilities; and (iv) others.
Trade and other payables of the Group decreased from RMB635.8
million as of December 31, 2023 to RMB528.5 million as of
December 31, 2024, which was mainly due to the decrease in trade
payables to the suppliers and franchise performance guarantee
deposits.

Gearing Ratio

As of December 31, 2024, our gearing ratio, which is calculated as
total debt divided by total assets, was 36.5%, as compared with
36.0% as of December 31, 2023.

Treasury Policy

The Group adopts a prudent financial management approach for
its treasury policy to ensure that the Group’s liquidity structure
comprising assets, liabilities and other commitments is able to
always meet its capital requirements.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

Taking into account the financial resources available to the
Group, including cash and cash equivalents, cash generated from
operations and available facilities of the Company, and the net
proceeds from the Global Offering, and after diligent and careful
investigation, the Directors are of the view that the Group has
sufficient working capital required for the Group’s operations at
present.
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As of December 31, 2024, the Group had total cash and cash
equivalents of RMB579.1 million (as of December 31, 2023:
RMB444.3 million). In 2024, the Group mainly used cash for store
operation and deposited part of idle cash into banks for term
deposits and certificates of deposit (as of December 31, 2024,
the total term deposits and certificates of deposit of the Group
amounted to RMB2,115.1 million (as of December 31, 2023:
RMB2,539.1 million)).

The current ratio as of December 31, 2024 was approximately 2.51
times (as of December 31, 2023: approximately 2.27 times).

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

For the Reporting Period, the Group mainly operated in China
and the majority of the transactions were settled in RMB. As of
December 31, 2024, apart from cash and cash equivalents and term
deposits denominated in foreign currency, the Group did not have
any significant foreign exchange risk in its business operations.
During the Reporting Period, the Group did not engage in any
foreign exchange hedging activities. The Group will continue to
monitor foreign exchange changes to best preserve the Group'’s
cash value.

CONTINGENT LIABILITY

As of December 31, 2024, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES

Our capital expenditures amounted to approximately RMB299.7
million for the Reporting Period, which were primarily related to
payment for purchase of equipment and leasehold improvements.

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As of December 31, 2024, the Group did not pledge any group
assets.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT

As of December 31, 2024, there was no significant investment held
by the Group.
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FUTURE PLAN FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
OR CAPITAL ASSETS

As of December 31, 2024, save for the “Future Plans and Use
of Proceeds” disclosed in the Prospectus and as disclosed in
this report, the Group did not have any future plan for material
investments or capital assets.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND AFFILIATED
COMPANIES

The Group did not have any material acquisitions or disposals of
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during the Reporting
Period.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As of December 31, 2024, the Group had a total of 6,122 full-
time employees, among which 1,453 employees work in the
Group’s headquarters and regional offices, and the remaining
employees are in-store staff. The Group values its employees
and is committed to growing with employees. The Group has
launched an employee retention initiative, under which the Group
incorporates employee retention rate as one of the key criteria
that used to assess its teahouse performance. The Group is also
committed to establishing a competitive and fair remuneration
and benefits environment for its employees. Remuneration is
determined with reference to the qualification, experience and
work performance, whereas the payment of discretionary bonus is
generally subject to work performance, the financial performance
of the Group in that particular year and general market conditions.
To effectively motivate the Group’s business development team
through remuneration incentives and ensure that our employees
receive competitive remuneration packages, the Group continually
refine its remuneration and incentive policies through market
research and comparisons with its competitors. As required by
the PRC laws and regulations, the Group participates in various
employee social security plans for its employees that are organized
by municipal and provincial governments, including basic pension,
unemployment insurance, maternity insurance, work-related injury
insurance, medical insurance and housing fund.
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The Group also share its success with employees by offering them a
variety of incentives and financial rewards to keep them motivated.
To recognize and reward, among others, the Group’s employees,
directors and senior management for their contributions to the
Group, to attract suitable personnel and to provide incentives
to them to remain with and further contribute to the Group, the
Group has adopted the 2020 Share Option Plan and the 2020 Share
Incentive Plan by way of resolutions of the Board on May 15, 2020.

In addition, the Group places strong emphasis on providing
trainings to its employees in order to enhance their professional
skills, understanding of industry and work place safety standards,
and appreciation of the Group’s value, especially the Group's
unwavering commitment to food safety and product quality as
well as satisfying customer services. The Group designs and offers
different training programs for employees at various positions. For
example, the Group requires every newly recruited employee at
operational functions to attend a one-month in-store training as
the Group strives for consistency and high quality of its product
delivery and customer services. In addition, the Group pairs its new
in-store staff with seniors, who are responsible for guiding them
through the probation period. The Group have also established a
vanguard program to foster and maintain a local talent pool and
offer a promotion path for excellent employees to become future
teahouse managers.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM GLOBAL
OFFERING

The Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange on June 30, 2021.
The net proceeds raised from the Company’s global offering
(the "Global Offering”), after deduction of the underwriting
fees and commissions and other estimated expenses payable
by the Company in connection with the Global Offering, were
approximately HK$4,842.4 million. As of the date of this report,
there was no change in the intended use of net proceeds as
previously disclosed in the section headed “Future Plans and
Use of proceeds” in the Prospectus. However, in light of the
lack of significant recovery in consumer demand, the Company
has adopted a more prudent business expansion strategy. As a
result, the expected timeline of utilization of the proceeds will be
extended as detailed in the table below. The net proceeds received
by the Company from the Global Offering will be used for the
following purposes:

° approximately 70.0%, or HK$3,389.8 million, will be used
to expand the Group's teahouse network and deepen the
Group's market penetration;

o approximately 10.0%, or HK$484.2 million, will be used to
further improve the Group’s overall operations through
enhancing technology capabilities, with a goal to improve
operational efficiency;

o approximately 10.0%, or HK$484.2 million, will be used
to strengthen the Group's supply chain and product
distribution capabilities, with a goal to support our
expanding scale; and

° the remaining approximately 10.0%, or HK$484.2 million, will
be used for working capital and general corporate purposes.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
TEBHRRE S

The following table sets forth a summary of the utilization of the net NREFNEE2024F12 A3 BRRBERT

proceeds from the Global Offering as of December 31, 2024: FIEFZEFH BT AT E -
Expected
Net proceeds Utilized Actual use timeline of
incurred amount  of proceeds Unutilized  full utilization
Percentage from during the upto  amount as of of the
to total the Global Reporting December 31, December 31, remaining
Purpose amount Offering Period 2024 2024 proceeds
E22024%  HE204F BY
RREE 12A31H 12A318 BAGT
AR EENFE REERE ERBA ABA Frieam
B Aok RIERE BASH A &8 RAREX
HKS (million) ~ HKS$ (million) ~ HKS$ (million) ~ HK$ (million)
Ar(BEr) Ern(EEr) En(EEr) Er(EET)
Expand the Group's teahouse network and
deepen the Group's market penetration 70.0% 3,389.8 375.8 2,247 .6 1,142.2 December 2025
BRASENZHERRIREAEED
[ ik 20255121
Further improve the Group's overall
operations 10.0% 484.2 7.7 484.2 0 December 2024
E—SRAARENERES 2024512A
Strengthen the Group's supply chain and
product distribution capabilities 10.0% 484.2 84.3 484.2 0 June 2024
RIAAEENHEELRERRY 202456
Fund the Group's working capital and
general corporate purposes 10.0% 484.2 119.2 4229 61.3 June 2025
REASENZEESR-REEMERE 202556A
Total 100.0% 4,842.4 651.1 3,638.9 1,203.5
@t

IMPORTANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING HEHRERNEIE
PERIOD

There have been no important events subsequent to the Reporting RBERRIEERAREEH - HEZFEE
Period and up to the date of this report, which would affect the MERNEEXBEEEEEATENERSE
Group's business operations in material aspects. T o
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EEREREEREEFR

As of the date of this annual report, biographical details of the
Directors and senior management are set out below.

DIRECTORS

The Board currently comprises five Directors, of which two are
executive Directors and three are independent non-executive
Directors. The following table sets forth information regarding our

WIIWT
==

RAFHREH EXEhSREEEREFS

EESRMARESRAR  EPMEAH
TEFR=BRBUIFATES - TRHEHJ
BERESWERM -

Directors.
Date of appointment as

Name Age Position Director

] Fik B BEZEREENAH

Executive Directors

HITES

Mr. Zhao Lin 45 Chairman of the Board, June 9, 2020
Executive Director and
Chief Executive Officer

BEMEE BER WTEEHREFNTE  202056H9F

Ms. Peng Xin 37 Executive Director and September 5, 2019
General Manager

ZLRE WITESRAKE 201949 A5R

Independent Non-executive

Directors

BIYKHITES

Mr. Liu Yiwei 53 Independent non-executive June 18, 2021
Director

FREBESE BUFNTES 202146 A 18H

Ms. Zhang Rui 62 Independent non-executive June 18, 2021
Director

Rt BUFPTES 202156 A 18H

Mr. Xie Yongming 45 Independent non-executive July 28, 2023
Director

EipG bt BAFNMTES 202347 A 28H
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EFRESREEEEESS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhao Lin (%K), aged 45, has served as a director of
Shenzhen Pindao Management from February 2017 to October
2020 and Director of our Company since June 2020. Mr. Zhao was
redesignated as executive Director and appointed as Chairman of
the Board and Chief Executive Officer of our Company on February
5, 2021. Mr. Zhao co-founded our Group with Ms. Peng in May
2014 and was principally responsible for the identification and
development of store locations to further the Group’s expansion.
After leaving Meixin (defined below) in January 2016, he has
dedicated his full capacity to the Group and is responsible for
overall strategic planning and business direction of our Group
and overseeing management of our business. Mr. Zhao is the
chairperson of the Nomination Committee and member of the
Remuneration Committee. Mr. Zhao has been acting as a director
of Shanghai Chatian since February 2023. Mr. Zhao is also the
director of Linxin Group.

Prior to founding Shenzhen Pindao Management, Mr. Zhao worked
at BK Foods (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (Z2 T B OFYI) AR A F]) from
January 2010 to May 2011. Mr. Zhao served as the development
manager of Meixin Food (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. G2 LR ORI AR
2 RA]) from May 2011 to January 2016 (“Meixin").

Mr. Zhao received a diploma in chrematistics from Urumgqi
Vocational University (&8 /KRB KE) in July 2001.

Mr. Zhao is the spouse of Ms. Peng Xin, our executive Director and
General Manager.

HITESE

AT E  455% 0 8201782 A £2020410
REEFYIGREERESE R B2020F6 A E1E
ERRQNFIESE - 2021528508 © HELR
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EREBHITE - R20145F58 @ ke my
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1RBEFEELNEER TO%E  H2LEAR
AEE BERIAEENEEHBERES
A TEEEERMOEBERE - HEAE
BRIRHZESXIERTMEESHKE - BT
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Ms. Peng Xin (#4), aged 37, has served as the director of
Shenzhen Pindao Management since our inception in May 2014
and a Director since September 2019. Ms. Peng was redesignated
as executive Director and appointed as our General Manager on
February 5, 2021. Ms. Peng co-founded our Group with Mr. Zhao in
May 2014 and is responsible for overseeing product development,
quality control and overall marketing strategy of our Group. Ms.
Peng has been acting as a director of Shanghai Chatian since
February 2023. Ms. Peng is also the director of Linxin Group and
Linxin Holdings.

Prior to founding Shenzhen Pindao Management, Ms. Peng
served as the deputy secretary general of Pearl Club of Kingdee
Software (China) Co., Ltd. (& {F (FE)BRAF]) from August
2010 to October 2012; as the director of Shenzhen Linxin Culture
Communication Co., Ltd. (FRIITIMLXILEZEBRETL A F) from
July 2018 (which has been voluntarlly deregistered in July 2022) and
the director of Shenzhen Xinlin Culture Communication Co., Ltd.

ARINTT UM EE B R E 2 A]) from August 2017.

Ms. Peng received a bachelor’s degree in business management
from Jiangxi University of Finance and Economics (I FAEI A& KE2) in
July 2010. Ms. Peng currently holds directorships in the following
principal subsidiaries of our Group: Shenzhen Pindao Group,
Shenzhen Pindao Management and Shenzhen Pindao Supply Chain
Management Co., Ltd. (R frBEEEEFRA

Ms. Peng is the spouse of Mr. Zhao Lin, our Chairman of the Board,
executive Director and Chief Executive Officer.

EFREREREEEES
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Liu Yiwei (Z/218), aged 53, has been appointed as our
independent non-executive Director with effect from June 18,
2021. Mr. Liu is the chairperson of the Remuneration Committee,
member of the Audit Committee and member of the Nomination
Committee.

Mr. Liu has served as the director and deputy general manager of
Shenzhen Yingtai Investment Management Co., Ltd. (I ZFHRE
EIEBMPR AT since January 2008.

Mr. Liu received a diploma in labor and personnel major from
Communication University of China (FBI{EE KXE, formerly known
as Beijing Coal Management Cadre College (3t kB IR EF &2
Bz)) in July 1991 and a master's degree in monetary banking from
Graduate School of Chinese Academy of Social Sciences (FEltt &
RIEZBR AR ARR) in April 1998.

Mr. Liu obtained the qualifications of Securities Practitioner (&%
EZEAEB) in June 2004 and Futures Practitioner (HiEWZEAE) in
January 2003, respectively.

Ms. Zhang Rui (5&3), aged 62, has been appointed as
independent non-executive Director with effect from June 18, 2021.
Ms. Zhang is the chairperson of the Audit Committee.

Since September 1984, Ms. Zhang has been working at Jiangxi
University of Finance and Economics (LFAEIA&LKRE, formerly
known as Jiangxi Institute of Finance and Economics (JLFEEf X2
BT)), where she successively served as a teacher in department of
finance and accounting, the head of the teaching and research
section for auditing of department of finance and accounting, a
deputy head of department of finance and accounting, the dean of
faculty of accounting and a director of research and development
center for accounting development.

Ms. Zhang has been an independent director of Shenzhen Aisidi
Co., Ltd. (RIITEEERMDERAF]), a company listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 002416), since October
2019 and an independent director of Guosen Securities Co., Ltd.
(BEBHM AR AT, a company whose shares are listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 002736), since November
2023. In addition, she has been serving as a director of Shenzhen
Pufanglimin Technology Co., Ltd. (RYITH & 7 L RBHER O ER A
7)) since November 2023.
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Ms. Zhang received a bachelor’'s degree in commercial finance
and accounting from Jiangxi Institute of Finance and Economics in
July 1984, a master’s degree in accounting from Jiangxi Institute
of Finance and Economics in July 1990 and a doctorate degree in
accounting from Zhongnan University of Economics and Law (7
B 4EBUE K2 in December 2001.

Ms. Zhang has been an expert entitled to special allowance granted
by the State Council since August 2005. She also obtained a
certificate of Star Teacher in Higher Education Institutions (=% &
B ZRNET) issued by the Ministry of Education of the People's
Republic of China in September 2009. Ms. Zhang was accredited as
a professor by Jiangxi Title Reform Committee (T4 BB E<E

/N ) in March 1999.

Mr. Xie Yongming (#7kB8), aged 45, has been appointed as
independent non-executive Director with effect from July 28,
2023. Mr. Xie is member of the Audit Committee, member of
the Remuneration Committee and member of the Nomination
Committee.

Mr. Xie has extensive years of experience in consumer and retail
industries. Mr. Xie has been acting as the executive vice chairman
of Shenzhen Smart Retail Association (&I EEZEHE) since
2017 and has been acting as the executive vice chairman of the
same association since 2025. From 2009 to 2017, Mr. Xie acted as
the deputy secretary general at Shenzhen Retail Trade Association

(FIMEERETERS).

Mr. Xie graduated from Xinjiang University (3158 KX2) with a
bachelor's degree majoring in fashion design and engineering.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Zhao Lin (##) is our Chief Executive Officer. See the
paragraph headed “Executive Directors” above for details of his
biography.

Ms. Peng Xin (81) is our General Manager. See the paragraph
headed "Executive Directors” above for details of her biography.

EFREREREEEES

RZ R 1984F7 B EVS T 70 B 45 S8 B i % 57
et EE4 847 PM990ET7 ARSI
B Bl e st BT B0 R 2001F 12 AR
SHEMEBERE ST EIE I8 -

RZ I H2005F8 ARIEAERZX RSP
TRERE - W 20094F9 ABSHE AR LME
HEBREN [SEERARBLAME] - KL
T 19994 3 B 1T FEE B TR F B8/ AR

BB A - 455% 0 BR2023F 7 H28HESE
EEBIYIENTESE - SIERERLTES
KE - FZEENENRBEZEEKE -

HEENHEHERTETERELELS - H
EEE0T7FR—EETRIMEESE
EMAITEIE R - W H2025F EIETHTT
K o BR2009FE 220174 » L EETFRY
TERETERENIWER -

e

il

&
=
m

BAERERBAS  MEBLBr -
IERREE R TR -
BREERE

HMEESERMNEFENTE - BRAEEE
HE AL HTESR K-

ZOLRETBEMNEREE BREBEN
B BEHMLEXTRITESR| K-



40 Nayuki Holdings Limited - ZEMEIZRAER A7)

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EFRESREEEEESS

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Shi Chao (%) was appointed as one of our joint company
secretaries on February 5, 2021 and redesignated as sole company
secretary on July 1, 2024. Ms. Shi joined our Group in January 2019
and has served as the deputy director of corporate finance and
legal department. Ms. Shi worked at Baoneng Department Store
Limited (B8 B EEE AR 2 7)) from November 2017 to January
2019, where she lastly served as the senior legal manager. Ms. Shi
worked at Wal-Mart (China) Investment Co., Ltd. CRERIE(FE) & &
BRRAF]) from February 2014 to November 2017, where she lastly
served as the legal consultant.

Ms. Shi received a bachelor’s degree in law and economics from
Minzu University of China (FR R & AZ) in July 2007 and a master’s
degree in economic law from Minzu University of China in July 2012.
Ms. Shi also received a postgraduate diploma in international and
European law from Université Jean Moulin Lyon 3 in March 2012.
Ms. Shi passed the National Judicial Examination (BIZ Al)A% &)
in the PRC and obtained her legal professional qualification in
March 2010. Ms. Shi also received the Certification of Fund Practice
Qualification (E& K EEKFEZE) from the Asset Management
Association of Chma (FEIFESFIREESEME) in July 2017.

CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS
AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes in the
information of Directors and chief executives of the Company since
the publication of the interim report for the six months ended June
30, 2024 of the Company and up to the date of this annual report
are set out below:

On February 26, 2025, Mr. Deng Bin resigned as an executive
Director and the chief operation officer in order to pursue other
personal commitments.

On March 14, 2025, Mr. Wei Guoxing resigned as a non-executive
Director due to other work arrangements.

On April 1, 2025, Mr. Ma Yanjun resigned as a non-executive
Director due to other work arrangements.

Save as disclosed above in this annual report, there is no other
information required to be disclosed Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of
the Listing Rules.
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The Board is pleased to present this annual report together with
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended December 31, 2024.

GLOBAL OFFERING AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on
September 5, 2019 as an exempted company with limited liability
under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. The Company'’s
Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange on June 30, 2021.

The Company is an investment holding company of the Group.
The Group operates Nayuki teahouses, a leading premium modern
teahouse chain in China serving freshly-made tea drinks and baked
goods.

The activities and particulars of the Group and an analysis of the
Group's revenue and operating profit for the year by principal
activities are set out under the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report and Note 4 to
the consolidated financial statements of this annual report. The
principal business activities of the subsidiaries of the Group are
set out in Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements of this
annual report.

A review of the Group's business, major risks, use of net proceeds
from the Global Offering, uncertainties faced by the Group, and
the future development of the Group’s business could be found in
the sections headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” and
“"Corporate Governance Report” in this annual report. The review
and discussion form part of this directors’ report.

RESULTS

The consolidated results of the Group for the year ended
December 31, 2024 are set out on pages 102 to 216 of this annual
report.

FINAL DIVIDENDS

The Board has resolved not to recommend the payment of any final
dividend for the year ended December 31, 2024 (2023: Nil).
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING AND CLOSURE
OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM to
be held on Friday, June 27, 2025, the register of members of the
Company will be closed from Tuesday, June 24, 2025 to Friday,
June 27, 2025 (both days inclusive) during which period no transfer
of shares will be registered. In order to qualify for attending the
AGM, all share certificates with completed transfer forms must
be lodged with the Company’s share registrar in Hong Kong,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops
1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, June 23,
2025.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property and equipment of the
Group during the Reporting Period are set out in Note 11 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group is highly aware of the importance of environment
protection and has not noted any material incompliance with all
relevant laws and regulations in relation to its business including
health and safety, workplace conditions, employment and
the environment. The Group has implemented environmental
protection measures and has also encouraged staff to be
environmental friendly at work by consuming the electricity
and paper according to actual needs, so as to reduce energy
consumption and minimize unnecessary waste. Discussion on the
key relationships with the Group’s major stakeholders, the Group’s
environmental policy and performance as well as compliance
with relevant laws and regulations which have significant impact
on the Group are set out in the Company’s Environmental,
Social and Governance Report 2024 (the "ESG Report”). The
ESG Report will be published separately on the websites of the
Company (www.naixuecha.com) and the HKEXnews' website
(www. hkexnews.hk)

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during
the year ended December 31, 2024 are set out in Note 27 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.
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RESERVES

Details of the movement in the reserves of the Group and of the
Company during the year ended December 31, 2024 are set out
in Note 27 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As of December 31, 2024, the aggregate amount of distributable
reserves of the Company, calculated in accordance with the
Companies Law, amounted to RMB3,928,195,000 (as of December
31, 2023: RMB5,986,012,000).

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

During the Reporting Period, the Company conducted share
repurchases of 7,538,000 listed Shares on the Stock Exchange
pursuant to a general mandate granted by the Shareholders to
the Directors during the annual general meeting of the Company
convened on June 21, 2023, and 2,577,500 listed Shares on the
Stock Exchange pursuant to a general mandate granted by the
Shareholders to the Directors during the annual general meeting
of the Company convened on June 28, 2024. Details are set out as

Annual Report 4§ 2024 43

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFERE

G
HZE2024F12A31HIEEE » AEB AR
AREBEHNFBOIHRNARFERERAE T
HERMIFE27 ©

AR 2k R

HZE2024F 128318 BB QK
H o ARAaok#FEREcEAARE
3,928,195,0007C (B £ 20234124318 : A
R #5,986,012,0007T) °

,ﬁgi‘é; - HEIBEEAQTF LHE

RS HR - NAFRBERER2023F6 A
2IBBHRNARRRRBAFRS LR TES
R — AR - PAB X B [E1 8 7,538,000 3% -
MR - RIBIER RN 202456 A28 B H
MNARRRERBAFAS LR TFESH—RF
#E o PEEXATEBE2,577, 50008 F %S o 5F
BEHFAT

following:
Price paid per Share
BRIMANER
Month of Total
repurchase Number of Shares repurchased and method Highest Lowest  consideration
B8 A 7 EEROGEARAR 1) &i& ARE
(HK$) (HKS) (HK$)
(&) (Br) (Br)
January 2024 Repurchase of 3,377,000 Shares on the Stock Exchange* 3.07 2.70 9,973,811
2024511 TABS 2 FTIE1#8 3,377, 000 AR A £ *
February 2024 Repurchase of 132,500 Shares on the Stock Exchange* 2.75 2.64 358,725
202452 A3 Fir[B185132, 500k AR 17 *
April 2024 Repurchase of 1,848,500 Shares on the Stock Exchange* 2.69 2.39 4,630,570
202444 A B FTIE 851,848, 5008 AR 17 *
May 2024 Repurchase of 570,000 Shares on the Stock Exchange* 2.50 2.47 1,421,185
202445 A AR A2 AT 1 #%570,000A% A 17 *
June 2024 Repurchase of 1,610,000 Shares on the Stock Exchange* 2.35 2.06 3,552,520
202446 A B FTEIBE1,610,0008% 17 *
July 2024 Repurchase of 2,577,500 Shares on the Stock Exchange? 1.97 1.80 4,882,840
202447 A R FTIEIBE 2,577, 5008 B 7
Total Repurchase of 10,115,500 Shares on the Stock Exchange 24,819,651

et REEZFTEE810,115,500 8 R 17
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*  Shares repurchased and cancelled * BEEEREHARS
#  Shares repurchased and held as treasury shares & B EERIEREFRG ARG

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its Br BRI R BN - RS HAR - AR RS
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the securities EEAHBARMERE  HEXBEOAR
of the Company during the Reporting Period (including sale of ANEAEF(BREEEFRD) - BEW
treasury shares). As of the end of the Reporting Period, treasury R - ARFRHAENERFRG /2,577,500
Shares held by the Company amounted to 2,577,500 and such KB BEZEEFERMHAEMEGEKERMA
treasury shares may be resold on the market at market prices A - HEHEBERAZEEREMR 5']9’]%?5:

N

to raise funds for the Company, or transferred or used for other T Lxm{ﬁﬁmiﬁiﬁjgb/\ﬁzﬁ’& £&
purposes, subject to compliance with the Articles of Association & SEESNAREMAR

and the applicable laws of the Cayman Islands and the Listing

Rules.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS BrBEERE

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles BEAKRERBASFEHS AT EEH
of Association, or the laws of Cayman Islands, which would oblige BEEBRENE] - HERNDBBIRLHIH
the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to its existing EAREIRZ2BETRD -

Shareholders.

DIRECTORS =
The Directors for the Reporting Period and up to the date of this HEMRMEEAFREHPNESOAT ¢

annual report were:

Executive Directors MITES

Mr. Zhao Lin (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) HHREGE(EERLE/EHNTE)

Ms. Peng Xin Ny G

Mr. Deng Bin (resigned on February 26, 2025) BRI S A (20252 H26 A B )

Non-executive Directors FEHITES

Mr. Ma Yanjun BB S (R2024F 57 17 HEZ(F
(appointed on May 17, 2024 and resigned on April 1, 2025) RR2025%4 A1 HEFE)

Mr. Wei Guoxing (resigned on March 14, 2025) BB RS A (R20253 A 14 A B F)

Mr. Wong Tak-wai (resigned on May 17, 2024) HIBIR S A (202445 /17 HEHE)

Independent Non-executive Directors BN IFAITES

Mr. Liu Yiwei BREBEE

Ms. Zhang Rui SRRt

Mr. Xie Yongming Eip P



BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS
AND THE SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management
of the Group as of the date of this annual report are set out under
the section headed "Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” of this annual report.

DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS AND
LETTERS OF APPOINTMENT

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
agreement with our Company with an initial term of three years
with effect from the date of the appointment, and will continue
thereafter until terminated by not less than three months’ notice
in writing served by either party on the other (subject always to re-
election as and when required under the Articles of Association).

Each of our non-executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors has entered into a service contract/letter
of appointment with our Company. Each of our non-executive
Directors and independent non-executive Directors is appointed
with an initial term of three years commencing from the date of
their respective appointments and subject to termination in certain
circumstances as stipulated in the relevant services contracts/
letters of appointment. Under these service contracts/letters of
appointment, each of the independent non-executive Directors will
receive a Director’s annual remuneration of HK$120,000.

Save as aforesaid, none of our Directors has or is proposed to have
a service contract with our Company or any members of our Group
(other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTOR'S INTEREST IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save for the material related party transactions as disclosed in note
30 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report
and the connected transactions as disclosed in the section headed
“Connected Transactions”
or any entity connected with them had a material interest, either

in this directors’ report, no Director

directly or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract of
significance to the business of the Company to which the Company,
or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party for the
year ended December 31, 2024.
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COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The Directors and senior management receive compensation from
the Group in the form of fees, salaries, bonuses, contributions to
pension schemes, allowances and benefits in kind. The emoluments
of the Directors and senior management of the Group are decided
by the Board with reference to the recommendation given by the
Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Group’s operating
results, individual performance and comparable market statistics.

Details of the Directors’ emoluments and emoluments of the five
highest paid individuals in the Group are set out in Note 8 and
Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report.

The emoluments before tax paid to the senior management of the

Company whose names are listed in this report are set out by band
as follows:

Band =i [F

EENREREEBNTM

EELRAEEEEBAREESHFMOTERA
BEMAT  Fe o A4 RARSFHEIMK
RUEREYNGD - AREEERSRERE
MFHHEETE2EFMEBENERE - I
REBASENREEE  BEARREAL
BT IS ERHERTE

EEMeRAEELEESFMALOHNS
BRI A F MR B M SRR 8 S LS -

BN AR E FH) AN A = AR E I BB A
MizgEEE D HIERINT -

Number of senior
management for
the year ended
December 31,
2024

BZ2024%F
12B31BLEE
HNEREEREAH

HKD1,000,001 to HKD1,500,000
HKD1,500,001 to HKD2,000,000

For the year ended December 31, 2024, no emoluments were
paid by the Group to any Director or any of the five highest paid
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group
or as compensation for loss of office. None of the Directors has
waived any emoluments for the year ended December 31, 2024.

1,000,001/ 7T %= 1,500,000/ 7T 1
1,500,001 7T % 2,000,000/ 7T 1

HZE2024F12A31HILFEE » AEBLE
) E{7] 2 =5 ok 217 1 & & = 8 B A 4= S AT A
© - ERIMARSE SN AZ S B& 1 2ZE)
SRIEABEREE - HIE2024F12A31HILEF
B WEAAESHECHNS -



Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations of the PRC, the
Group participates in a defined contribution basic pension
insurance in the social insurance system established and managed
by government organizations. The Group makes contributions to
basic pension insurance plans based on the applicable benchmarks
and rates stipulated by the government. The local government
authorities are responsible for the pension obligations payable
to the retired employees covered under the defined contribution
basic pension insurance. There are no forfeited contributions
for the defined contribution basic pension insurance in the PRC
social insurance system as the contributions are fully vested to the
employees upon payment to the scheme.

The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for employees employed under the jurisdiction of the
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. Contributions to the plan
vest immediately. There are no forfeited contributions for the the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes as the contributions are fully
vested to the employees upon payment to the scheme.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no other payments have
been made or are payable, during the Reporting Period, by our
Group to or on behalf of any of the Directors.

NON-COMPETE UNDERTAKING BY
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

In respect of the non-compete undertaking (the “Non-compete
Undertaking”) made by each of Mr. Zhao Lin and Ms. Peng Xin,
being the ultimate beneficiaries and holders of the voting rights
to the controlling interests of every other Controlling Shareholder,
the Company has reviewed the annual declaration from Mr. Zhao
Lin and Ms. Peng Xin on the compliance with the terms of the Non-
compete Undertaking. The independent non-executive Directors
have reviewed the compliance with the Non-compete Undertaking
and are satisfied that Mr. Zhao Lin and Ms. Peng Xin have complied
with the terms of the Non-compete Undertaking during the
Reporting Period.
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POSITIONS HELD BY DIRECTORS IN
SHAREHOLDERS AND DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS
IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the Reporting Period, none of the Directors or their
respective close associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) had
any interest in a business that competed or was likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group, other
than being a director of the Company and/or its subsidiaries under
Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Biographical
Details of Directors and Senior Management” of this report, to
the knowledge of the Board, none of the Directors is a director
or employee of a company which has an interest in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed
to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

During the Reporting Period, save as disclosed in this annual
report, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had any
contract of significance with the Controlling Shareholders or their
respective subsidiaries, nor any contract of significance for the
provision of services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries by a
Controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries.

CONTRACT WITH CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS AND THEIR PLEDGED
SHARES

As at December 31, 2024, to the best knowledge of the Company,
none of the Controlling Shareholders pledged their shares
pursuant to Rule 13.21 of the Listing Rules.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Our Group has entered into several connected transaction
agreements with certain connected persons of our Group as
described in the paragraphs below.

EERNBRREENBURESER
BERERES

RBEHE - RIELTRAFESN0MG - BFR
ARBILIEMBRARETESRIN EFX
BRENBETHBEA(EER LR RER
SEHEBERKFERBREF R AT EEK
BFNRGH W EES TS -

SRARE [EFRSMRERBEEFE K
BEI REZ=SMA BMBEEFERAR
AR BB P REREREZ RPE K
FIFEXVERSE 2 M3 B 2 IR R MR R A KT
WESNAREETEFHES -

EXREN

RBERE - RAFHRAKEES - NAF
S E KB AR EE R R ES B
B AREETLEREREGL » TMEEM
ERBCR A MM E QR RARR S HEE
Al R R IR RIS AT L EARA -

ERBRRSAORAEE TR G

R2024F12A318 » BLARRATRA - £
BRBERE WA ANF1321GRE R EK

,f/\ ®

BEXS
AREEAEENETHEALEHTET
ERIER B HH - FERLTX
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Partially-exempted Continuing Connected HoRrFBE@ER S
Transactions

Continuing
connected Term of
transactions Parties agreement Contents of transaction Pricing policy
KERELS EES) jE S RARE EERR
Fresh Goods Storage  Qur Company The term shall Our Company agreed to purchase The service fees chargeable by BYX under the Fresh Goods
and Transportation and BYX" commence storage and transportation services  Storage and Transportation Services Framework Agreement
Services Framework from May 1, in relation to fresh goods such as shall be calculated based on the unit service price (the "Unit
Agreement 2024 1o fruits and dairy products from BYX Price”) quoted by BYX and approved by the Group, which
December 31, shall be similar to the service price charged by BYX from
2026 independent clients in relation to the provision of similar
services.

Such Unit Price has been determined based on arm’s length
negotiations between the Company and BYX and could be
re-determined according to the actual needs of the Group.

The Unit Price should be not less favourable to the Group than
the prices from independent suppliers for similar services.
The business department of the Group will, on a quarterly
basis and at the time of renegotiation of the unit service price,
review the current Unit Price and compare the it with the prices
(the "Comparable Prices”) from at least two independent
suppliers for similar services, which will be reported to the
financial department of the Group. The financial department
of the Group will further monitor the fairess of the price
comparison process. The Group will only continue to engage
BYX in the event that the Unit Price is not less favourable to the
Group than the Comparable Prices.

TEEEREERE  ARARASRY FERNUE  ARARZAAZERAEKRR AEERBLERFEREZREER BERRORE RELAZE

ER S SA1ERR ARRFLRRERRRE AR FaELEAS A e R EE(EE])HE - REEASE
20265 AR AERBRELEPRRORBEREL -
124318

SRSREALASAEEATRAAER  RIRRARANE
EEREHER -

EERMENBULRBRAASERERERE 2R - 25EH
SBAMRREE RS - RENBERE RE EEREEEN
BB URRBRBREARG MR B HERHNRE( TR
BER LR TEREASENHHE  ARENHHDE
E-SERLBRROALY - BERARERENEETER
TALBEROERLT  AREERERATE A

Notes: B 5

(1) BYXis indirectly held as to 65% by Mr. ZhaoYinglong (i #g), who is the nephew () BEEMBEEELE(TESRIERRE MK E
of Mr. Zhao Lin (our executive Director and Controlling Shareholder). H{E 52 ) RS 145 A5 65% AR 4 ©
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Transaction caps and actual transaction amounts for WMEHBANRS LR AR S EHE
the Reporting Period

Actual transaction amounts and transaction caps of the above- A Mo REBERELINER
mentioned partially-exempt continuing connected transactions for RGECENRG ERWT -
the Reporting Period are as follows:

For the year ended
December 31, 2024
BZ2024F12A318LLEE

Actual

Proposed transaction
annual caps amounts
BEXZLR BREXZEH
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBTR

Fresh Goods Storage and Transportation AR B X AR TS AE 2R 17
Services Framework Agreement 36,000 26,147

The Company has followed the pricing policies as disclosed in BHZE2024F12831HILFEE » NAFGt it

the Prospectus and this annual report in respect of the above SEMEBER SO BTREER R ARERAE
continuing connected transactions for the year ended December BEOEBESE -

31, 2024.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the independent non- EZE2024F 128318 ILEE By IEHITE
executive Directors have reviewed the aforesaid non-exempt E0EY M IERAIFEBES S ERK
continuing connected transactions and confirmed that the ERS

transactions have been entered into:

(i) inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Company; () HEALE—MEBEEKBIRET:
(i) on normal commercial terms or better; and (i) REFPHEERNEENETET X

(iii) in accordance with relevant agreements governing them on (i) BEBHEEXIONBRERET M5
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interest of the BERATEE  WERFEALNTRERE
Company and Shareholders as a whole. RYEEES IS ©



The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group's

continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong

Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance

Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial

Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised)

“Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the

Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants.

The Company’s auditor has confirmed in a letter to the Board that:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditor to
believe that the disclosed continuing connected transactions
have not been approved by the Board;

nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditor to
believe that the disclosed continuing connected transactions
were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance
with the relevant agreements governing such transactions;
and

with respect to the aggregate amount of each of the above
continuing connected transactions, nothing has come to their
attention that causes the auditor to believe that the disclosed
continuing connected transactions have exceeded the annual
cap as set by the Company.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the material related party transactions carried out
in the normal course of business are set out in Note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report. Save as
disclosed in the paragraph headed "Connected Transactions”
above, none of these related party transactions constitutes a
connected transaction or continuing connected transaction as
defined under the Listing Rules, and the Company has complied
with the disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules and disclosed in this annual report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Other than the Directors’ service contracts and appointment
letters, no contract concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business
of the Group was entered into or in existence as of the end of the

year or at any time during the Reporting Period.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements will or may result in the Company
issuing Shares or that require the Company to enter into any
agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing Shares,
were entered into by the Company during the Reporting Period.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the Reporting Period, we positively assume our social
responsibilities. During the Reporting Period, the Group made
various kinds of charitable donations amounted to approximately
RMB418,000 in total.

MATERIAL LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Group was not involved in any material legal proceeding
during the Reporting Period.

BEARS
EEREBBRPETHENBEB I ZIHN
HIBHR AT REA VB RERAOMEEI0 < B
Fil (BB —BIEEN  ZEEH
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EEEX

BREFRBEHRZERIN  RERIHE
HIFEMER  AEELEREREHHE
RED BRI RFAEAEERITHREHL
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KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Human resources are one of the valuable assets of the Group.
The Group intends to be an attractive employer for competent
employees. The objective of the Group’s human resource
management is to provide employees with competitive
remuneration packages and to promote career development and
progression of employees by appropriate training and providing
opportunities within the Group for career advancement. The Group
has also adopted Equity Inventive Plans to reward, motivate and
retain Directors and employees for contributions to the growth and
development of the Group.

We are committed to offer high-quality and healthy freshly-made
tea drinks and related products to our customers. A customer
service and customer complaint handling mechanism are in place
to collect, analyse and study complaints from customers and make
recommendations on remedies with the aim of improving quality of
our products and services.

We have developed long and good relationships with a number of
suppliers to maintain steady supplies of materials and outsourced
products. We carefully select our suppliers and require them
to satisfy certain criteria including track record, experience,
reputation, ability to produce high-quality products and quality
control effectiveness in order to ensure that our suppliers share our
commitments to quality and ethics.

LOAN AND GUARANTEE

During the Reporting Period, the Group had not made any loan
or provided any guarantee for loan, directly or indirectly, to the
Directors, senior management of the Company, the Controlling
Shareholders or their respective connected persons.

FINANCIAL, BUSINESS AND FAMILY
RELATIONS AMONG DIRECTORS

Save as disclosed in the section headed "“Biographical Details of
Directors and Senior Management” and “Corporate Governance
Report”, Directors are not related to one another with respect to
finance, business and family, or other material relations.
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INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE IN SECURITIES

As of December 31, 2024, the interests or short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the Shares,

EERBETRABRES WM
m

HE2024F12831H » AR ARIESFE &7
BABRARR REEMEREE(FXRFE
HREREIRPIEXVER) A% ~ B %

underlying Shares and deb

associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO),

which (a) were required to be

Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO

(including interests and short

or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the

register referred to therein; or

the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code,

were as follows:

Name of Director

entures of the Company or any

notified to the Company and the

positions which he/she was taken

(c) were required to be notified to

BT

Number of
Shares interested

Capacity/Nature of Interest in the Company"

BB TR () RIEE F L E HRBIEXVER
F7RFESD BIEXAMEG AR E K E P
B SOXR (BRREBEES KRR REI A B K
XREREFIGESRENERTORR) + X
(o) iR 15 7E 75 S HA & 1R 5 58 352 R R R 8 10 5%
RFTE e B M AR ER AR © K()RE
ERASHIPEPE-RANNCISE: R Fate

Approximate
percentage of the
Company'’s issued

share capital

REQATHEEERN EERAFASRHITRE
EEHA B, EEMY BoEEO BHAEDL
Mr. Zhao Lin @@® Beneficial interest; interest in controlled 1,007,281,120 58.99%
corporation; interest of spouse
AR S A @@ EmfEnm s NEEEB S BEE=
Ms. Peng Xin 2@ Beneficial interest; interest in controlled 1,007,281,120 58.99%
corporation; interest of spouse;
executor or administrator
Zisf oo BN NERE
BB  BITAREEA
Mr. Deng Bin © Beneficial interest 1,726,300 0.10%
M S ExnEn




Notes:
(1) All interests stated are long positions.

(2) Linxin Group, a company incorporated in the BVl on December 29, 2020, is a
holding company wholly-owned by Linxin International, a holding company
incorporated in the BVI, which is in turn wholly owned by Linxin Trust. Linxin Trust
is an irrevocable discretionary trust established in Guernsey on December 30,
2020, the beneficiary of which is Linxin Holdings, a holding company ultimately
controlled as to 50% by each of Mr. Zhao Lin and Ms. Peng Xin, respectively. The
voting rights of the Shares held by Linxin Group are exercised by Mr. Zhao Lin
and Ms. Peng Xin, a married couple. Accordingly, each of Mr. Zhao Lin and Ms.
Peng Xin is deemed to be interested in the total number of Shares held by Linxin
Group.

(3) Ms. Peng Xin is the spouse of Mr. Zhao Lin and is therefore deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by Mr. Zhao Lin. Moreover, each of Mr. Zhao Lin
and Ms. Peng Xin has been granted Options with respect to 220,781 outstanding
Shares under the 2020 Share Option Plan.

(4)  Crystal Tide Profits Limited, a company incorporated under the Laws of the British
Virgin Islands, is a platform holding Shares for future benefit to employees,
advisors and consultants as the Board deems fit. As of December 31, 2024, Crystal
Tide Profits Limited was wholly-owned by Trident Trust Company (HK) Limited,
an independent third party who serves as trustee, and is administered by Ms.
Peng Xin. The voting rights of the Shares held by Crystal Tide Profits Limited were
exercised by Ms. Peng Xin.

(5)  Mr. Deng Bin has been granted options with respect to 1,726,300 outstanding
Shares under the 2020 Share Option Plan. Mr. Deng Bin resigned from his
position as executive Director and chief operation officer of the Company with
effect from February 26, 2025.

Save as disclosed above and to the best knowledge of the
Directors, as of December 31, 2024, none of the Directors or the
chief executive of the Company has any interests and/or short
positions in the Shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they are
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or
which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein or which were required,
pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN
SECURITIES

As of December 31, 2024 so far as is known to any Director or chief
executive of the Company, as recorded in the register of interest
required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO,
the following persons, other than Directors or chief executive of the
Company, had an interest of 5% or more in the Shares or underlying
Shares:

Name of Shareholder Capacity/Nature of Interest

HE2024%F128318 » BARREMESES
BETHABAM  FOARBRIBEESR
HEGPIFE3B6EETIFENER S MR
8 WAL (BRARAZEZERRSTHRAE
SN R S AR RERR 10 R B 5% S A FHE S ¢

Approximate
percentage of the
Company'’s issued

share capital

Number of
Shares interested
in the Company""

REQARFEEEZN EXAFRASRITRER

BREREE B,/ REEME BAEEM BAES

Linxin Group @ Beneficial interest 977,344,414 57.24%
EmtEm

Linxin International @ Interest in controlled corporation 977,344,414 57.24%
NS RN T

Cantrust (Far East) Limited @ Trustee 977,344,414 57.24%
ZEA

Linxin Holdings @ Beneficiary of a trust 977,344,414 57.24%

iR ERERA

Notes: fieT -

(1) All interests stated are long positions.

(2) Linxin Group, a company incorporated in the BVl on December 29, 2020, is a
holding company wholly-owned by Linxin International, a holding company
incorporated in the BVI, which is in turn wholly-owned by Linxin Trust. Linxin
Trust is an irrevocable discretionary trust established in Guernsey on December
30, 2020, the trustee of which is Cantrust (Far East) Limited, an independent
third party, and the beneficiary of which is Linxin Holdings, a holding company
ultimately controlled as to 50% by each of Mr. Zhao Lin and Ms. Peng Xin,
respectively. The voting rights in the Company held by Linxin Group are
exercised by Mr. Zhao Lin and Ms. Peng Xin, a married couple.

Save as disclosed above and to the best knowledge of the
Directors, as of December 31, 2024, no person (other than the
Directors or chief executives of the Company) had registered an
interest or a short position in the Shares or underlying Shares of the
Company as recorded in the register of interest required to be kept
by the Company under section 336 of the SFO.

() FAEMSIESHRER -

(2)  Linxin Group * — R R 20204 12 A 29 A 7£ & &
HERRBESEMA LA AF - A — KA Linxin
International & & # B & #£ I8 2 & + M Linxin
International & — 5K 70 24 /&8 4 A A & s il A SZ /9
R A A) » M Linxin Trust2 & # A ° Linxin Trust
R 20204F 12 A 30 B IR P8 & 5% 37 69 1 T Ui 2
=55 X A B¥ELE = 5 Cantrust (Far East)
Limited * A REZ 25 A BWOER - MAROIER A
—RERAA  AEMNEERZ LT HRIHEZE
#150% © Linxin GroupPTHFZANA A1 24 B AR ST 4
RELTERETE -

B EXPrIEEIN  BLEFAA - HE2024
F12A318 - MECFAAL(ESHARAF&K
BITBABRIN RAR R H A0 S AE B A 17
PHEERBENARRRERZ KB EHIE
IBIFAFEN RS CMAESIORE -



EQUITY INCENTIVE PLANS

We have adopted the Equity Incentive Plans, including the 2020
Share Option Plan and the 2020 Share Incentive Plan, by resolutions
in writing by the Board on May 15, 2020. Unless otherwise duly
approved by the Board, the total number of Shares underlying
the Equity Incentive Plans shall not exceed 126,262,308 Shares,
representing approximately 7.4% of total number of issued Shares
of our Company (excluding treasury Shares) as at the date of
this report. As at December 31, 2024, the total number of Shares
underlying the Equity Incentive Plans is 113,077,512, representing
approximately 6.6% of the total issued Shares of the Company
(excluding treasury Shares) as at December 31, 2024. These Shares
are held by Forth Wisdom Limited (holding 83,582,368 Shares) and
Crystal Tide Profits Limited (holding 29,495,144 Shares) and the
Board has the discretion to allocate these Shares to 2020 Share
Option Plan and/or 2020 Share Incentive Plan. As of December
31, 2024, the total number of Shares available for grant under the
Equity Incentive Plans is 75,234,079, representing approximately
4.4% of the total issued Shares of the Company (excluding treasury
Shares). The Equity Incentive Plans are share schemes involving
the Company’s existing Shares as the Shares underlying the Equity
Incentive Plans have been issued and allocated prior to the Listing
Date, and the Company will not issue any new Shares upon the
exercise of Options and/or awards granted under the Equity

Incentive Plans.

2020 Share Option Plan

The 2020 Share Option Plan was adopted to recognize and reward
the employees of the Group for their contribution to our Group,
to attract suitable personnel and to provide incentives to them
to remain with and further contribute to our Group. Our Board,
or a duly authorized committee of the Board, may grant awards
of Options to subscribe for Shares to those core personnel (other
than those in the IT division of our Group) that it determines to be
eligible participants at its sole discretion (the “Option Grantees”).
Unless otherwise set forth in the option award agreement between
the Company and Option Grantees (the “Option Agreement”),
Option Grantees are normally not required to pay any monetary
amount for the acceptance of the Options.
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As at December 31, 2024, the Shares underlying the 2020 Share
Option Plan were held by Forth Wisdom Limited, which is indirectly
wholly held by Zedra Trust Company (Cayman) Limited, an
independent third party who serves as trustee. If all the outstanding
Options granted under the 2020 Share Option Plan are exercised,
there will not be any dilution effect on the shareholdings of our
Shareholders nor any impact on the earnings per Share arising
from the exercise of the outstanding Options since all the Shares
underlying the 2020 Share Option Plan are indirectly held by Zedra
Trust Company (Cayman) Limited, an independent third party
who serves as trustee. Pursuant to the 2020 Share Option Plan, no
Option shall be further granted to any person such that the total
number of Shares subject to the Options and any other schemes
over the Shares granted and to be granted to such person in any
12-month period up to the date of the latest grant exceeds 1% of
the Shares in issue from time to time.

The 2020 Share Option Plan will be valid and effective for a period
of ten years, commencing from May 15, 2020 (the “Option Scheme
Period”), unless terminated early by the Board. As of December
31, 2024, the remaining Option Scheme Period was approximately
five years and five months. Unless otherwise agreed in the Option
Agreement, Options granted pursuant to the 2020 Share Option
Plan shall be exercised by the Option Grantees within 10 years after
the grant of the corresponding Share Options.

Pursuant to the terms of the 2020 Share Option Plan, such plan is
subject to the administration of a duly authorized committee of the
Board. As of December 31, 2024, such committee was consisted of
Mr. Zhao Lin and Ms. Peng Xin. As of December 31, 2024, the voting
rights of the Shares held by Forth Wisdom Limited are controlled
jointly by Ms. Nong Xiuxia and Ms. Zou Weiwei.

202412 4318 -+ 2020F Rk #E =T 810
MBI A Forth Wisdom Limited#® & * #%
NEIREEREAR B E =T Zedra Trust
Company (Cayman) LimitedE# 2 &#H °
iR #5 2020 F RE AR HE ST B H BV PR B AR 1T
EREAR I TR - RN 20205F B AR A 5t &
BROFBERNEBHEEITEANEIE=
J3Zedra Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
MERA  TRARTEBRES TS HK
REREEEFMEEWE - TTeHER
BAEFTALE - BI1E2020F 3 RE T
2l BT EREAALTE - SPREBRE -
BEEHERER DB IEEM 1218 A BE
NERTEBETZAT ZBRERSRK
9 2 R H b ET B FS 1 2 B D B 8L A T
RFEBITIRID 21% °

X

BRIEEESIRAIAR SN - 2020 F BB AR IEET £
# 82020958158 #1049 HAfE ([ B R 5t
BHE ) EBRE® T - BiE2024%12A4
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As the Shares to be received by the Option Grantees under the
2020 Share Option Plan upon the exercise thereof are from the
transfer of existing Shares held by Forth Wisdom Limited, which is
a company incorporated in BVI and acts as the Company’s offshore
employee incentive shareholding platform, no new Shares of the
Company would be issued under the 2020 Share Option Plan.
Accordingly, the total number of issued Shares of the Company will
not be affected by the operation of the 2020 Share Option Plan.

The committee may at any time during the term of the 2020 Share
Option Plan make a grant to any participant, as the committee
may in its absolute discretion determine. The number of Shares
underlying an Option may be determined at the sole and absolute
discretion of the Board and may differ among selected participants.
As of December 31, 2024, Options granted to subscribe for
16,851,267 Shares were outstanding, representing approximately
1% of the total issued Shares of our Company (excluding treasury
Shares).

Subject to the terms of the 2020 Share Option Plan and unless
otherwise specified in the terms and conditions applicable to each
Option as provided in the applicable Option Award Agreement,
a participant’s Share Option shall be vested according to the
following schedule:

(i)  For an Option granted to a participant whose employment
with the Company commenced prior to the year of 2020:
20% of the Option shall vest and become exercisable on the
first anniversary of the date of grant; 20% of the Option shall
vest and become exercisable on the second anniversary of
the date of grant; 20% of the Option shall vest and become
exercisable on the third anniversary of the date of grant; 20%
of the Option shall vest and become exercisable on the fourth
anniversary of the date of grant; and 20% of the Option shall
vest and become exercisable on the fifth anniversary of the
date of grant; and
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(i) For an Option granted to a participant whose employment
with the Company commenced in or after the year of 2020:
20% of the Option shall vest and become exercisable on the
second anniversary of the date of grant; 20% of the Option
shall vest and become exercisable on the third anniversary of
the date of grant; 20% of the Option shall vest and become
exercisable on the fourth anniversary of the date of grant; 20%
of the Option shall vest and become exercisable on the fifth
anniversary of the date of grant; and 20% of the Option shall
vest and become exercisable on the sixth anniversary of the
date of grant.

The exercise price in respect of any Option shall be set forth in the
applicable option exercise notice. The Board may determine any
further discount to the exercise price upon or after the grant of the
Option, provided that the exercise price in respect of any Option
granted shall be not less than the highest of (a) the nominal value of
the Share; (b) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the grant date, which must be
a business day; and (c) the average closing price of the Shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the grant date.

During the Reporting Period, (i) Options representing 3,995,360
Shares were exercised; and (ii) Options representing 2,484,880
Shares were forfeited. The Company did not grant any Option
pursuant to the 2020 Share Option plan during the Reporting
Period. As at December 31, 2024, Options representing 11,626,027
Shares have been vested and exercisable upon the satisfaction of
the vesting conditions.

Details of the Options granted under the 2020 Share Option
Plan and the underlying Shares, as well as the movement of such
Options and Shares during the year ended December 31, 2024
were as follows:

(i)  HRAE2020F K < RRABKERARE
M2 EER N ROBARE  20% M B E
R B B IR i SR B A AT AT AE
20%H) BRI N L B M ZRAFRE
BIAIITEE ¢ 20% M) B AR R XX H A
HAPBF ISR AT 1718 © 20% KRB AX
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&£ R20%E B AR RE G B HNE
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Changes during the year ended December 31, 2024
BENUFI2ANBLEENE
Approximate
percentage
Outstanding Qutstanding of issued
Shares Shares Shares
underlying underlying underlying
the Options as the Options as the Options
Name/Category at January 1, Options Options Options at December 31, as at December
of Option Grantee Date of Grant Exercise price 2024 granted exercised? forfeited 2024 Vesting period 31,2024
Raous Haoug
1R1AH 1283184 2024k
ERARRRE CRiRRR 12831 ERE
BREARA ] RERG RRRGENRG
#4/ 8 ik " EARG  BRLBRE CORRRE0  ERUBRE EARG GRS WEAEDY
Directors
£
Mr. Zhao Lin October 1, 2000 HKDO 81 20781 - - - 20781 On July 31, 2021 001%
o N0EN0AIE 0817 RUNETRNA
Ms. Peng Xin October 1, 2000 HKDO.81 220781 - - - 20781 On July 31, 2021 001%
ghnt Al 0817 RT3
Mr. Deng Bin July 31,2020 and HKDO.81 1,726,300 - - - 1726300 From July 31, 2021 to 0.10%
July 1, 2023 July 1, 2028
Pt WNEIRNBR 081%7 BANFTA3IEE
ABETHIR ABETA1A
Two Option Grantees who  From July 31, 2020to HKDO1 800,000 - - - 800,000 From July 31, 2021 to 005%
are five highest paid July 1, 2023 July 1, 2028
individuals (excluding
the Directors) during the
year ended December 31,
20049
MEFABENUE2ANA  BNNETANAE 0817 BNNETANEE
LEENRARERMAL  NBF7AIA NBEIAIR
HERRERA
(FafiEs)
Other Option Grantees® ~ From July 31, 2000 to HKDO81 20,363,645 - 3,995,360 2,484,880 13883405 From July 31, 2021 to 081%
July 1,203 July 1, 2028
EpERRARAS BANETAIIEE 081%7 BAETANAZE
A357R1A ABETHIR
Total 23,331,507 - 3,995,380 2,484,880 16,851,267 098%
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Notes:

(1) The exercise price was determined by the Board with reference to, among
other things, the roles and responsibilities of the relevant Option Grantees, the
contributions brought and to be brought by the relevant Option Grantees, and
the business performance and financial condition of the Group at the relevant
time.

(2) The Options were exercised by the Option Grantees during the period from
January 23, 2024 to December 30, 2024 at their respective exercise price. The
weighted average closing price of the Shares immediately before the dates on
which the Options were exercised was HKD2.10 per Share.

(3) All of the Option Grantees were employees of the Group, and two of them
were five highest-paid individuals (excluding the Directors) for the year ended
December 31, 2024.

(4)  No Option has been cancelled and/or lapsed during the year ended December
31, 2024.

2020 Share Incentive Plan

The 2020 Share Incentive Plan was adopted to enable our Group
to reward the grantees (the “Share Award Grantees”) for their
services and contribution to the success of our Group, and to
provide incentives to them to further contribute to the Group. The
2020 Share Incentive Plan provides for awards of RSUs, restricted
shares, or other awards involving Shares or are valued in whole
or in part by reference to, or are otherwise based upon or settled
in, Shares, including unrestricted Shares, performance units,
share appreciation rights, dividend equivalents and convertible
debentures.

The Board may, at its discretion, invite any person belonging to any
of the following classes of eligible participants to take up an award:

(@) any full-time executives, officers, managers or employees
of our Group, or any entities designated by them, who had
attained the requisite seniority and performance grade and/or
targets as may be determined by the Board from time to time;

(b) any directors and supervisors (including non-executive
directors and independent non-executive directors) of our
Group, or any entities designated by them; and
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(c) any advisors, consultants, distributors, contractors,
customers, suppliers, agents, business partners, joint venture
business partners, strategic partners, service providers
or other third parties who the Board considers, in its sole
discretion, has contributed or will contribute to our Group.

The 2020 Share Incentive Plan will be valid and effective for a
period of ten years, commencing from May 15, 2020 (the “Share
Award Period”), unless terminated early by the Board. As of
December 31, 2024, the remaining Share Award Period was
approximately five years and five months. Unless otherwise set
forth in the share award agreement between the Company and
Share Award Grantees (the “Share Award Agreement”), Share
Award Grantees are normally not required to pay any monetary
amount for the acceptance of the awards under the 2020 Share
Inventive Plan. Awards granted pursuant to the 2020 Share
Incentive Plan shall be exercised by the Share Award Grantee
pursuant to the Share Award Agreement. Pursuant to the 2020
Share Incentive Plan, the number of Shares available for each
Share Award Grantees under the 2020 Share Incentive Plan shall
be determined by the Board subject to its discretion and shall
not exceed the total number of Shares available under the Equity
Incentive Plans.

Subject to the terms of the 2020 Share Incentive Plan, the RSUs shall
be vested and settled, and the restricted shares shall be vested and
no longer subject to forfeiture, as set out in the offer. If a change
of control shall occur, such RSUs shall be vested and settled, and
restricted shares shall be vested and no longer subject to forfeiture
(as applicable).

The price to be paid for the grant of any RSU, and the purchase
price of any restricted share shall be such amount in such form as
may be determined by the Board from time to time as set out in the
offer.

During the Reporting Period, (i) no further awards under the 2020
Share Incentive Plan has been granted; (ii) RSUs representing
1,235,940 Shares have been vested; and (iii) RSUs representing
52,000 Shares have been forfeited.
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Details of the RSUs granted under the 2020 Share Incentive Plan 1R 15 2020 4F A% 17 BB 51 8% H B9 R HI AR 1
and the underlying Shares, as well as the movement of such RSUs BARAAERODARZEZR R EM K
and Shares during the year ended December 31, 2024 were as RN EE2024F 12 A31H ILFERNEEFF
follows: BT -

Changes during the year ended December 31, 2024

BENMENANALEENRD
Approximate
Outstanding Qutstanding percentage of
Shares Shares issued Shares
underlying underlying underlying the
the RSUs as the RSUs as at RSUs as at
Category of Date of Exercise at January 1, RSUs RSUs RSUs  December31,  Vesting December 31,
Share Award Grantee Grant price 2024 granted ® vested ¥ forfeited 2024 period 2024
H2004%
2024k 204 128318
19188 1283188 ERHEHED
ZRHRAEN SRABHENL GG
EBEG  DRLERY  CRERRY  CRUSEM RERG EARGH
REZEARAZH RiRS friEfe EARS TS Regfe Rigf EARE:  BRS BOEA
Two Share Award Grantees  From June 1, 20000 From HKD2.24 to 644,575 - 844,575 - - FromJune 1, 2021 to 0.00%
who are five highest paid ~ November 16,200 HKD6.58 November 16, 2024
individuals (excluding the
Directors) during the year
ended December 31, 2024
MEFRBZNUFIANA BANFOAIEE  2ETE B2 E6R1RE
LEENEERREMAL  WNENAE  o%ET NN A168
HRAXBERA(FAK
£2)
28 Share Award From June 1, 2000to  From HKD2.24 to 1,189,625 - 591,365 52,000 546,260 From June 30, 2021 to 003%
Grantees August 1, 2022 HKD19.80 August 1, 2027
BERBRRERAY BNNFSAIRE  2UERE BNNE6ANRE
2228718 1980ET 22758A1H
Total 1,834,200 - 1,235,940 52,000 546,260 003%

i




Notes:

(1) All of the Share Award Grantees were employees of the Group, and none of
them were Directors while two of them were the five highest-paid individuals
(excluding the Directors) for the year ended December 31, 2024.

(2) The Exercise price was determined by the Board with reference to, among other
things, the roles and responsibilities of the relevant Share Award Grantees, the
contributions brought and to be brought by the relevant Share Award Grantees,
and the business performance and financial condition of the Group at the
relevant time.

(3)  No further RSUs has been granted under the 2020 Share Incentive Plan during the
Reporting Period.

(4) The RSUs were vested by the Share Award Grantees during the period from
January 12, 2024 to June 30, 2024 at their respective exercise price. The weighted
average closing price of the Shares immediately before the dates on which the
RSUs were exercised was HKD2.74 per Share.

(5)  No RSU has been cancelled and/or lapsed during the Reporting Period.

PUBLIC FLOAT

The Stock Exchange granted to the Company, at the time of its
Listing, a waiver from strict compliance with Rule 8.08(1) of the
Listing Rules (the “Public Float Waiver”). Pursuant to the Public
Float Waiver, the Company’s minimum public float shall be the
higher of (i) 24.86% of the Company’s Shares upon completion of
the Global Offering (prior to any exercise of the Over-allotment
Option); and (ii) such percentage of Shares to be held by the
public immediately after the completion of the Global Offering
(as increased by the Shares to be issued upon any exercise of the
Over-allotment Option), provided that the higher of (i) and (ii)
above is below the minimum public float requirement of 25% under
Rule 8.08(1)(a) of the Listing Rules. For details, please refer to the
section headed “Waivers from Strict Compliance with the Listing
Rules” in the Prospectus and the announcement dated April 6, 2022
of the Company. Based on the information that is publicly available
to the Company and to the best knowledge of the Directors, the
Company has maintained the prescribed amount of public float
as required by the Public Float Waiver as of the latest practicable
date prior to the issue of this annual report.

Annual Report 4§ 2024 65

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFERE

B EE -

(1) FERMEBEARALDAAEEREE  BERSWIF
RAEEES  METWEABZE2024F12A31H
HFEERAEERTMAL(TRIEES) -

@ TEEDNHEFERSLSEZ(AHRERE)ARKRD EH
ERANAERBE - HEROZEARASEL
NS EH B RUA R A S BERBREBENEBRR
KRB MEE

() MNIEHR - BLEME — PR 20204F B ) Rt &
AT RR SR EAL

(4 Rn S8R AR A B202451 5128 E£202456 A30H
REBITEERBIRHIRNEL - ROKREER
PRI B AT B AT MM BEAE
AER 19 2.7478 7T ©

(5) MIEHME - BUEAE A R B E L WEUS
B/ HERH o

NRERE

B AR RN T LR AR — DR E
SFLEMARAELMNEMARE( ARERE
Bel) BEAREREHRR  AAFMNK
BEARFREBERR()2IREETHE (FM
ERFB AL IR IETT (L AT ) N R IR 1D #Y24.86% :
RNBEEEIEETKEARERENEH
f%19 '8 2 b (AN AAE{r] B BB B AR A S 1T (55 B
B FEITHRRG) - B EXO)RI)NESETE
BN EHHBIE8.08(N (@) EEXRNZELAR
BRE25% - BEFIE @ B2HAQFRK
iR (e mRET EmAA ] - kEHA
202264 R6ERIRE o RIBARNF B AIAIE
MERRBEESARMN @ HEAFRTIZA
MEEERITASE  ARREHFBFARR
RERPERNRELARFRE -



66 Nayuki Holdings Limited - 2E K% AR A A

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFERE

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the Reporting Period was the Company,
its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of Shares in, or debt securities including
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

For the Reporting Period, the Group'’s largest supplier accounted
for 4.35% of the Group's total purchase. The Group's five largest
suppliers accounted for 17.94% of the Group's total purchase.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates (as defined
under the Listing Rules) or any Shareholders (which, to the best
knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital (excluding treasury Shares)) has any beneficial
interest in the Group's five largest suppliers or customers for the
Reporting Period.

As a retail-based teahouse network, our customer base is highly
diversified. Therefore, we were not subject to any material
concentration during the Reporting Period. For the Reporting
Period, revenue from our five largest customers accounted for less
than 1.0% of the Group's total revenue.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION OF HOLDERS OF
LISTED SECURITIES

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s
securities.
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INDEMNITY OF DIRECTORS

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance) in relation to the Director’s and officer’s
liability insurance is currently in force and was in force during the
Reporting Period.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Our Company recognizes the importance of good corporate
governance for enhancing the management of the Company as
well as preserving the interests of the Shareholders as a whole. The
Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the Corporate
Governance Code as its own code to govern its corporate
governance practices.

During the Reporting Period, save as disclosed below, the
Company has complied with the applicable code provisions of
the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the
Listing Rules:

(1) pursuant to code provision C.2.1 of the Corporate
Governance Code, the roles of chairman and chief executive
should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. Mr. Zhao Lin is currently the chairman of the Board
and chief executive officer of the Company.
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The Board will continue to review and monitor the practices of the
Company with an aim to maintain a high standard of corporate
governance.

Information on the corporate governance practice adopted by
the Company is set out under the section headed "Corporate
Governance Report” in this annual report.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended December 31, 2024 have been audited by KPMG,
certified public accountants. KPMG will retire and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for their re-
appointment as auditor of the Company will be proposed at the
AGM.

There is no change of auditor of the Company in the preceding
three years.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the Reporting Period, the Company is in compliance with
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
Company.

On behalf of the Board
Zhao Lin
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Shenzhen, PRC, March 27, 2025
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to achieving and maintaining high
standards of corporate governance by focusing on principles
of integrity, accountability, transparency, independence,
responsibility and fairness. The Company has developed and
implemented sound corporate governance policies and measures,
and the Board is responsible for performing such corporate
governance duties. The Board will continue to review and monitor
the corporate governance of the Company, as well as various
internal policies and procedures, including but not limited to
those applicable to employees and Directors, with reference to the
Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing
Rules and other applicable legal and regulatory requirements so
as to maintain a high standard of corporate governance of the
Company.

During the Reporting Period, save as disclosed below, the
Company has complied with the applicable code provisions of
the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the
Listing Rules:

(1) pursuant to code provision C.2.1 of the Corporate
Governance Code, the roles of chairman and chief executive
should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. Mr. Zhao Lin is currently the chairman of the Board
and chief executive officer of the Company.

See “"Chairman and Chief Executive Officer” and

“Independent Non-executive Directors” below for details.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE TEERLEE

For the Reporting Period, the corporate governance structure of RIEEE - AR EEREBHW
the Company is set out as follows:

A

General Meeting
BEAR
The Board
]
Audit Committee
EZEEE
Management : :
=1 g Remuneiianon :Ccinmrctee
THERE
Nomination Committee
REBEEE
CORPORATE CULTURE AND VISION tEXCEES

As a leading manager and operator of premium modern teahouse EEATRELHSHRFIRRREEEE X
brand in China, we establish a dual category model featured with BEE BN —MEFRX—DOEEE £
“tea drinks + European soft bread” in line with meeting two kinds EBRAWERT IRET [XR+8EE | ZE 5
of pleasures by enjoying a nice cup of tea and a bite of European BEX BN TKASBETEEN 2R
soft bread, and are committed to becoming a global teahouse R - A TERAR XL ERTE RS
brand loved by everyone, with creating and promoting the tea EMHEDE | RREES - AR/ ESH
culture to the world as our brand vision. We make high-quality, E g ENEREER  WEBBRMITE
healthy products with high cost performance ratio and build a BEBERANESTHK -

lifestyle suitable for modern people through tea drinks.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for leadership and the internal control
of the Company and oversees the Group's businesses, strategic
decisions and performance and is collectively responsible
for promoting the success of the Company by directing and
supervising its affairs. The Board directly, and indirectly through
its committees, leads and provides direction to the management
by laying down strategies and overseeing their implementation,
monitors the Group’s operational and financial performance, and
ensures that sound internal control and risk management systems
are in place. The Board has general powers for the management
and is conducting the Company’s business. The day-to-day
operations and management are delegated by the Board to the
management of the Company, who will implement the strategy and
direction as determined by the Board.

All Directors shall at all times ensure that they carry out duties in
good faith, in compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and
in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders.

The Board confirms that corporate governance shall be the joint
responsibility among Directors and the corporate governance
functions include:

(i)  to formulate and review the Company’s policies and practice
in the aspect of compliance with laws and regulatory
requirements;

(i)  to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;
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(iii) to formulate, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors;

(iv) to formulate and review the Company’s policies and practice
in corporate governance, and make recommendations and
report relevant matters to the Board,;

(v) to review the Company’s compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code and the disclosure in the corporate
governance report; and

(vi) to review and monitor the Company’s compliance with the
whistleblowing policy of the Company.

The Board has performed the functions set out in the Corporate
Governance Code during the Reporting Period.

Board Composition

The Board currently consists of five Directors, namely Mr. Zhao Lin
(Chairman of the Board) and Ms. Peng Xin as executive Directors,
and Mr. Liu Yiwei, Ms. Zhang Rui and Mr. Xie Yongming as
independent non-executive Directors. Mr. Zhao Lin is the spouse
of Ms. Peng Xin. Other than that, none of the Directors or senior
management has a relationship (including financial, family or other
substantial or related relationship) with each other. The Board has
a balance of skills and experience appropriate for the requirements
of the business of the Company.

The biographies of the Directors are set out under the
section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” in this annual report.

Members of the Board come from different industry backgrounds
and have extensive experience in the food and beverage industry,
investment and finance, corporate management and financial
accounting.
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The Board has two executive Directors responsible for specific
management duties, representing 40.0% of the total number of
the Board members. This helps the Board to closely review and
monitor the management procedures of the Company. Mr. Zhao
Lin, the Chairman and Chief Executive Director and Ms. Peng Xin,
the General Manager, have extensive experience in the food and
beverage industry and are responsible for business management,
formulating and implementing important strategies, making day-
to-day business decisions and coordinating overall business
operations.

The Company has three independent non-executive Directors,
representing 60.0% of the total number of the Board members.
The Company is of the view that the three independent non-
executive Directors have extensive experience in the industry or
financial matters and qualifications to perform their responsibilities.
The three independent non-executive Directors held office in
the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration
Committee.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Under code provision C.2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code,
the roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Zhao Lin is
currently the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer.

Mr. Zhao has served as a director of Shenzhen Pindao Management
from February 2017 to October 2020 and a Director of our
Company since June 2020. He is the founder of our Group and has
extensive experience in the business operations and management
of our Group. Our Directors believe that it is beneficial to the
business operations and management of the Group that Mr. Zhao
Lin serves as both the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer.
This structure will enable our Company to make and implement
decisions promptly and effectively. Our Directors consider that
the balance of power and authority will not be impaired due to
this arrangement. In addition, all major decisions are made in
consultation with members of the Board, including the relevant
Board committees, and three independent non-executive
Directors.

The Board will review the corporate governance structure and
practices from time to time and shall make necessary arrangement
when the Board considers appropriate.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this annual
report, the Board at all times met the requirements of the Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent
non-executive Directors, representing at least one-third of
the Board, of whom Ms. Zhang Rui is the Director possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

The Company has received a written confirmation of independence
from each of the independent non-executive Directors pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, and considers them to be
independent.

Board Independence Mechanism

The Company recognises that Board independence is pivotal in
good corporate governance and Board effectiveness. The Board
has established mechanisms to ensure independent views and
input from any Director are conveyed to the Board for enhancing an
objective and effective decision making:

1. Three out of five Directors are independent non-executive
Directors, which meets the requirements of the Listing Rules
that the Board must have at least three independent non-
executive Directors and must appoint independent non-
executive Directors representing at least one-third of the
Board.
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The Nomination Committee will assess the independence of
a candidate who is nominated to be a new independent non-
executive Director and the contribution to the diversity of
the Board according to the board diversity policy adopted
by the Company from time to time before appointment and
also the continued independence of existing independent
non-executive Directors and their time commitments
annually. On an annual basis, all independent non-executive
Directors are required to confirm in writing their compliance
of independence requirements pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules, and to disclose the number and nature of offices
held by them in public companies or organisations and other
significant commitments.

External independent professional advice is available as and
when required by individual Directors.

All Directors are encouraged to express freely their
independent views and constructive challenges during the
Board and/or board committee meetings.

No equity-based remuneration with performance-related
elements will be granted to independent non-executive
Directors.

A Director (including independent non-executive Director)
who has a material interest in a contract, arrangement or other
proposal shall not vote or be counted in the quorum on any
Board resolution approving the same.

The Chairman meets with independent non-executive
Directors annually without the presence of the executive
Directors and non-executive Directors.
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Directors’ Training and Professional Development

All Directors attended various trainings in the Reporting Period,

including trainings regarding the updating of the Listing Rules,

the responsibilities and continuous obligations of Directors and

the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide. The

Company had arranged suitable trainings for all Directors in order

to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills as part of their

continuous professional development.
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Participation of

training types  Training types

Name of Director EEnE SHEHPEIER FIER
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Zhao Lin izl et A, B, C A. Training provided by
Ms. Peng Xin 7y cgan A, B, C regulators
Mr. Deng Bin (resigned on B 5% A4 (PA20254F A, B, C EEERHMNE

February 26, 2025) 2H26HEHE)

B. Attending seminars/forums

Non-executive Directors FHITES MG, RmiIE
Mr. Ma Yanjun (appointed on BB R AE(R2024F A B, C

May 17, 2024 and resigned on SHV7TBEZER C. Reading economic, financial

April 1, 2025)

Mr. Wei Guoxing (resigned on
March 14, 2025)

Mr. Wong Tak-wai (resigned on
May 17, 2024)

Independent Non-executive
Directors

Mr. Liu Yiwei

Ms. Zhang Rui

Mr. Xie Yongming

20254 51 HEBHE)
BB A (2025 A, B, C
3A 148 BHE)

EEEEA (20245 A, B, C
S5H17B &)

BIAEHITES

2ERFEE A, B, C

RS L A, B, C

HKAR LA A B, C

and business articles, as well
as articles and information
related to the duties of a
director and the Company
BRELE MEREEXE
ARBMEHEESERE NAR
AEANNERER
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Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
agreement with our Company with an initial term of three years
with effect from the date of the appointment, and will continue
thereafter until terminated by not less than three months’ notice
in writing served by either party on the other (subject always to re-
election as and when required under the Articles of Association).

Each of our non-executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors has entered into a service contract/letter
of appointment with our Company. Each of our non-executive
Directors and independent non-executive Directors is appointed
with an initial term of three years commencing from the date of
their respective appointments and subject to termination in certain
circumstances as stipulated in the relevant service contracts/
letters of appointment. Under these service contracts/letters of
appointment, each of the independent non-executive Directors will
receive a Director’s annual remuneration of HK$120,000.

None of the Directors has entered into a service contract which is
not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

In accordance with the Articles of Association, all Directors are
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years
and any new Director appointed to fill a casual vacancy shall
submit himself for re-election by the Shareholders at the first
annual general meeting of the Company after appointment and
new Directors appointed as an addition to the Board shall submit
himself for re- election by the Shareholders at the next following
annual general meeting of the Company after appointment.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and
removal of Directors are set out in the Articles of Association. The
Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board
composition and making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-election of Directors and succession planning
for Directors.

Mr. Ma Yanjun was appointed as a non-executive Director on
May 17, 2024. He has obtained the legal advice from a firm of
solicitors under Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules on May 17, 2024 and
has confirmed that he understood his obligations as a Director of
the Company.
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BOARD AND COMMITTEE MEETINGS

The Company adopts a practice to convene Board meetings
regularly which is at least four meetings per year and roughly
on a quarterly basis. A notice of a regular Board meeting shall
be delivered to all the Directors at least 14 days in advance with
the matters to be discussed specified in agenda of the meeting.
For other Board and committee meetings, reasonable notice is
generally served. Agendas or relevant documents of the Board
or committee meetings shall be despatched to the Directors or
members of the committees at least 3 days prior to the convening
of the meetings to ensure that they have sufficient time to review
the relevant documents and be adequately prepared for the
meetings. When Directors or committee members are unable
to attend a meeting, they will be advised of the matters to be
discussed and given an opportunity to make their views known to
the chairperson prior to the meeting. The minutes are kept by the
company secretary of the Company and the copies are circulated to
all Directors for reference and record purpose.

The Directors are free to express their views at the meetings.
Important decisions will only be made after due and careful
discussion at the Board meetings. The Directors confirm that they
have responsibility to act in the interests of the public and the
Company, particularly in the interests of minority Shareholders. In
the event of a conflict of interests between Shareholders’ interests
and any other interests, Shareholders’ interests shall prevail.

The minutes of the Board meetings and committee meetings
thoroughly were recorded in detail and include all matters under
consideration and decisions made including any problems raised
by the Directors. Draft minutes of each Board meeting and
committee meeting are sent to the Directors for comments within
a reasonable time after the date on which the meeting is held.
Directors are free to communicate with the secretary to the Board/
company secretary who is responsible for ensuring and advising
on compliance of all procedures in connection with the Board and
all applicable rules and regulations, and have a right to review the
minutes of the Board meetings and the committee meetings.
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During the Reporting Period, the Company held four Board
meetings and one general meeting. During the Reporting Period,
at the Board meetings and general meeting, the attendance record
of each Director are set out in the table below:
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Number of Number
Board of general
meetings Of which: meeting(s)
eligible to attendance eligible to
Name of Director attend Attendance by proxy attend Attendance
FEHE e FEHE
Exg EBRE BRRXE
E=nA ERYE H R B RERUEFE ®E H R
Executive Directors
BITES
Mr. Zhao Lin 4 4 0 1 1
fizbu i
Ms. Peng Xin 4 4 0 1 1
ZLET
Mr. Deng Bin (resigned on
February 26, 2025) 4 4 0 1 1
SR 58 4 (10 2025%F
226 B EHE)
Non-executive Directors
FHTES
Mr. Ma Yanjun (appointed on
May 17, 2024 and resigned
on April 1, 2025) 3 3 0 1 1
BB A (R20245F5717
HEZRENRN2025F4A1H
BHE)
Mr. Wei Guoxing (resigned
on March 14, 2025) 4 4 0 1 1
BB BT A (702025F3 A 14
HEHE)
Mr. Wong Tak-wai (resigned
on May 17, 2024) 1 1 0 0 0
ERIBLAE(R2024F5R17
H#HE)
Independent
Non-executive Directors
BYFHTES
Mr. Liu Yiwei 4 4 0 1 1
FRERE
Ms. Zhang Rui 4 4 0 1 1
RIS
Mr. Xie Yongming 4 4 0 1 1

AKEAEE
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At the Board meetings held in the Reporting Period, the Board
discussed a wide range of matters, including the Company's
financial and operational performances, approved annual results
and interim results of the Company, business prospects and other
significant matters.

In addition to the above Board meetings, during the Reporting
Period, the Company held a separate meeting for the Chairman
and independent non-executive Directors in accordance with the
code provision C.2.7 of the Corporate Governance Code.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Company has three principal Board committees, namely
the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee. Each of the Board committees operates
under its terms of reference. The terms of reference of the Board
committees are available on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

Audit Committee

The Company has established an Audit Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the Code as set out in
Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. The Audit Committee consists
of three members, namely Ms. Zhang Rui, Mr. Liu Yiwei and
Mr. Xie Yongming, all of them are independent non-executive
Directors. Ms. Zhang Rui, with appropriate accounting and financial
management expertise, has been appointed as the chairperson of
the Audit Committee. The primary duties of the Audit Committee
are to manage relationship with the Company’s auditors, review
financial information of the Company and oversee the Company's
financial reporting system and internal control procedures. Details
of the terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee convened

2 meetings. The attendance
committee is set out below:
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record of each member of the
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Number of
meetings Of which:
eligible to attendance by
attend Attendance proxy
B
4 EBEERE
ERERE H R B H
Ms. Zhang Rui 2 2 0
RER LT
Mr. Liu Yiwei 2 2 0
FRERE
Mr. Xie Yongming 2 2 0
KBRS A

Major works performed by the Audit Committee during the

Reporting Period includes:

1. reviewed the Group's a

announcement for the year

2. reviewed the Group’'s interim report and interim results 2.

nnual report and final results
ended December 31, 2023;

announcement for the six months ended June 30, 2024;

3.  assisted the Board in making independent assessment of the 3.

effectiveness of the Group's financial reporting procedures

and internal control system;

4.  supervised internal audit work of the Company; 4.

5. provided opinions on the s

ignificant matters of the Company 5.

or drew management’s attention to relevant risks; and

6.  evaluated the performance

of the Group's auditor. 6.

—

BERZEERRERFTHRN T2 TR

R ANEBEEZ2023F12 84318 IHE
ENFREEFERNE

ERANEBFH E2024F6A308 1/
AR R AR RS NP EIEE RS

%%%%A%$Elﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁfﬂm
ERESIE R A IR B FHE
ERARRQR]ABPEET TIE

RARAMEANFREHRERIIREE
ERERIMEENER : &

AR EZBEIRRIFETTAHE



82 Nayuki Holdings Limited - 25 R AR A 8

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
.l|:¥ Ell:liﬁﬂ=

Nomination Committee

The Company has established a Nomination Committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with the Code as set out
in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. The Nomination Committee
consists of three members, namely Mr. Zhao Lin, an executive
Director, Mr. Xie Yongming and Mr. Liu Yiwei who are independent
non-executive Directors. Mr. Zhao Lin has been appointed as the
chairperson of the Nomination Committee. The primary duties
of the Nomination Committee include (i) reviewing the structure,
size and composition of our Board; and (ii) reviewing and making
recommendations to the Board on appointment of Directors and
the management of the Board succession. Details of the terms
of reference of the Nomination Committee are available on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee convened REHE REEESEER—REE -
one meeting. The attendance record of each member of the ZEeRKELEXREEHNWOT
committee is set out below:
Number of
meetings Of which:
eligible to attendance
attend Attendance by proxy
B
B E Y EBREAK
ERRE R B R
Mr. Zhao Lin 1 1 0
ML
Mr. Xie Yongming 1 1 0
AHIKBA
Mr. Liu Yiwei 1 1 0
BIREBEE

Major works performed by the Nomination Committee during the
Reporting Period includes:

1. reviewed the structure, size, composition and diversity of the
Board and the board diversity policy of the Company;

2. made recommendations to the Board on the retirement and
re-election of Directors at the annual general meeting for the
year of 2024;

3. assessed the independence of the independent non-
executive Directors; and

4.  made recommendations to the Board on the appointment of
non-executive Director.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company has established a Remuneration Committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with the Code as set out
in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. The Remuneration Committee
consists of three members, namely, Mr. Liu Yiwei, Mr. Xie Yongming
who are independent non-executive Directors and Mr. Zhao Lin,
an executive Director. Mr. Liu Yiwei is the chairperson of the
committee. The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee
include (i) making recommendations to the Board regarding the
Group's policy and structure for the remuneration of the Directors
and senior management and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policies;

(i) making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of the Directors and senior management and on
employee benefit arrangements; and (iii) to review and/or approve
matters relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing
Rules. Details of the terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company.

During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee
convened one meeting. The attendance record of each member of
the committee is set out below:
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Mr. Liu Yiwei 1 1 0
FRERE
Mr. Xie Yongming 1 1 0
AR AE
Mr. Zhao Lin 1 1 0
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Major works performed by the Remuneration Committee during
the Reporting Period includes:

1. reviewed and discussed the remuneration policy of the Group
and the remuneration packages of Directors and senior
management of the Company; and

2. made recommendations on the remuneration of the Directors
and senior management of the Company.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) in order to enhance the effectiveness of our
Board and to maintain high standard of corporate governance. The
Board Diversity Policy sets out the criteria in selecting candidates
to our Board, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. The ultimate decision will be
based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will
bring to our Board. The Nomination Committee is responsible for
reviewing the diversity of the Board and monitoring and evaluating
the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy from time to time
to ensure its continued effectiveness.

As at the date of this report, the following table and paragraph
illustrates the composition and diversity of the Board in terms of
three objective criteria, namely (i) gender, (ii) age group, and (iii)
industry and professional experience.

Gender
4 5
Male
B
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Female

pog: 3

60%

Age Group
FHAER

40%

31-40 41 -50
31ZE405% 41 Z505%
20% 40%

51 and over
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40%

Industry and professional experience

TEREXELR
Investment and corporate Accounting and financial
Food and beverage management management
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The Board considers that the existing composition of the Board
is diversified, taking into account: (i) the business model of the
Group; (ii) the specific needs of the Group; (iii) the different
background of the Directors; and (iv) the Board already has two
female members. As of the end of 2024, the Group had a total
of 6,122 full-time employees (including senior management
of the Company), of which female employees accounted for
approximately 54.7%.

With regards to gender diversity on the Board, the Company
recognises the particular importance of gender diversity and will
continue to promote gender diversity of the Board. To ensure
gender diversity of the Board in the long run, the Company will
identify and select several female individuals with a diverse range
of skills, experience and knowledge in different fields from time to
time, and maintain a list of such female individuals, which will be
reviewed by the Nomination Committee periodically. The Company
also intends to promote gender diversity when recruiting staff at
the mid to senior level so that the Company will have a pipeline of
female senior management and potential successors to the Board.
The Group plans to offer all-rounded trainings to female employees
whom we consider to have the suitable experience, skills and
knowledge of our operation and business, including but not limited
to, business operation, management, accounting and finance,
legal and compliance and research and development. The Group
is of the view that such strategy will offer chances for the Board to
identify capable female employees to be nominated as a member
of the Board in future.
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NOMINATION POLICY

Nomination of executive Directors is mainly through the internal
selection and identification of the Group's staff who are familiar
with the industry in which the Group operates with extensive
management experiences; while nomination of non-executive
Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) is based
on their independence, their experience in the industry in which the
Group operates and business management and their professional
expertise, and reference is also made to the requirements of the
laws and regulations in the jurisdiction where the Company is
listed, and the reasonableness of the structure and composition of
the Board when selecting eligible persons for Directors.

Directors to be appointed and re-elected at the general meeting
shall be first considered by the Nomination Committee. A
recommendation from the committee would then be put forward
for the Board'’s decision. Once approved, the proposal will be put
forward to the general meeting. Subsequently, all those Directors
are subject to the shareholders’ approval for appointment or re-
election at the general meeting pursuant to the requirements of
the Articles of Association. In considering the new appointment
or re-election of Directors, the Nomination Committee shall make
its decision based on their attributes such as integrity, loyalty,
industry experience and professional expertise together with the
commitment to the Company, efficiency and effort to carry out their
duties.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the Directors. Having made
specific enquiry of all Directors, all of them have confirmed that
they have complied with the Model Code during the Reporting
Period.

AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION

During the Reporting Period, the fees paid/payable to KPMG
for audit services and non-audit services (tax services) are
approximately RMB2.9 million and RMBO0.10 million, respectively.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Shi Chao was appointed as the Company’s sole company
secretary with effect from July 1, 2024. The biographical details of
Ms. Shi Chao are set out under the section headed “Biographical
Details of Directors and Senior Management” in this annual report.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, Ms. Shi Chao participated
in not less than 15 hours of relevant professional trainings in 2024 in
accordance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors of the Company are responsible for overseeing the
preparation of the financial statements which give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the results and cash
flow during the Reporting Period. A statement from the auditor
about its reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is
set out under the section headed “Independent Auditor’s Report”
in this annual report. In preparing the financial statements for the
year ended December 31, 2024, the Directors of the Company
have selected suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently, made judgments and estimated that are prudent, fair
and reasonable and prepared the financial statements on a going
concern basis.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound and effective
internal control and risk management systems in order to safeguard
the Group's assets and Shareholders’ interests and reviewing the
effectiveness of the Group's internal control and risk management
systems on an annual basis so as to ensure that internal control and
risk management systems in place are adequate. The Board has
also reviewed and recognized the effectiveness of such systems
for the Reporting Period. Such systems are designed to manage
and mitigate risks inherent in the Group's business faced by the
Group to an acceptable level, but not eliminating the risk of failure
to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable
assurance against material misstatement, loss or fraud.
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The Company has established the Audit Committee to monitor the
implementation of risk management policies across the Company
on an ongoing basis to ensure that the internal control system is
effective in identifying, managing and mitigating risks involved in
our business operations. The Company also maintains an internal
control team, which is responsible for reviewing the effectiveness
of internal controls and reporting to the Audit Committee on any
issues identified. The internal control team members hold meetings
from time to time to discuss any internal control issues we face
and the corresponding measures required to be implemented
to resolve such issues. The internal control team reports to the
Audit Committee to ensure that any major issues identified thus
are channeled to the committee on a timely basis. The Audit
Committee then discusses the issues and reports to the board of
directors, as necessary.
The Audit Committee, internal control team and senior
management together monitor the implementation of our risk
management policies on an ongoing basis to ensure that our
policies and implementation are effective and sufficient.

The Board reviews the Group's risk management and internal
control systems at least on a yearly basis. Based on its latest review,
the Board considers that the Group's risk management and internal
control systems are adequate and effective for the year ended
December 31, 2024.

Internal policies are also put in place to ensure that inside
information is adequately controlled. To ensure the confidentiality
and the timely disclosure of inside information, all employees
are provided with learning materials and guidelines regarding
the handling and dissemination of inside information on a yearly
basis. IT system controls are implemented to ensure the access to
sensitive data is restricted to authorized personnel only.
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Business Risk Management

The Group faces business risks including but not limited to
reputation risks, market risks, food safety risks, corporate
responsibility and sustainability risks. The Board meets regularly
and reviews the expansion strategies, business plan, financial
results, and key performance indicators of the Group to ensure that
the business risks are controlled and managed, and potential risks
can be identified.

Financial Risk Management

The Group has adopted financial risk management policies to
control the Group's financial risk exposure, such as taxation risks,
currency risks and financial reporting risks. Also, the Board from
time to time, monitors the financial results and key operating
statistics with the assistance of the Group's internal financial
reporting department.

Human Resource Risk Management

We provide regular and specialized training tailored to the needs
of our employees in different departments. We have in place
multiple employee policies, including an employee handbook
and the code of business conduct, approved by our management
and distributed to all our employees, which contains internal rules
and guidelines regarding best commercial practice, work ethics,
fraud prevention mechanisms, negligence and corruption. We also
have in place an anti-corruption policy to safeguard against any
corruption within our Company.

Information Risk Management and Data Protection

Sufficient maintenance, storage and protection of user data and
other related information is critical to our business operation. We
have implemented relevant internal procedures and controls to
ensure that user data is protected, and that leakage and loss of
such data is avoided.
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Legal and Compliance

We have designed and adopted strict internal procedures to
ensure the compliance of our business operations with the relevant
rules and regulations and provide related special training to our
employees. We continually review the implementation of our risk
management policies and measures to ensure that our policies and
implementation are effective and sufficient.

Inside Information

Internal policies are put in place to ensure that inside information
is adequately controlled. To ensure the confidentiality and the
timely disclosure of inside information, all employees are provided
with learning materials and guidelines regarding the handling and
dissemination of inside information on a yearly basis. IT system
controls are implemented to ensure the access to sensitive data is
restricted to authorized personnel only.

DIVIDEND POLICY

Subject to Articles of Association and all applicable laws and
regulations, the Company in general meeting may declare
dividends in any currency but no dividends shall exceed the
amount recommended by the Board. Any dividends the Company
pays will be determined by the Board, taking into account factors
including the Company'’s actual and expected results of operations,
cash flow and financial position, general business conditions and
business strategies, expected working capital requirements and
future expansion plans, legal, regulatory and other contractual
restrictions, and other factors that the Board deems to be
appropriate.

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Reporting Period, there was no significant change in
constitutional documents of the Company.

A copy of the Memorandum and Articles of Association is available
on the website of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening an extraordinary general meeting

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity
for communication between the Shareholders and the Board. An
annual general meeting of the Company shall be held in each year
and at the place as may be determined by the Board. Each general
meeting, other than an annual general meeting, shall be called an
extraordinary general meeting.

Pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles of Association, the Board may,
whenever it thinks fit, convene an extraordinary general meeting.
Extraordinary general meetings shall also be convened on the
requisition of one or more Shareholders holding, as of the date
of deposit of the requisition, not less than one-tenth of the paid-
up capital of the Company having the right of voting at general
meetings, on a one vote per Share basis in the share capital of the
Company. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board
or the Secretary for the purpose of requiring an extraordinary
general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction
of any business specified in such requisition. Such meeting shall
be held within two months after the deposit of such requisition.
If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves)
may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board
shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company. The
requisitionist(s) may add resolutions to the agenda of a general
meeting requisitioned under this Article 64.

The Company regard the annual general meeting as an
important event as it provides an important opportunity for
direct communication between the Board and the Company’s
Shareholders. All the Directors and senior management of the
Company shall try their best to attend the meetings. External
auditors present at the meeting are also obliged to answer
Shareholders’ queries. All Shareholders will be given at least
21 days’ notice of the annual general meeting and are invited
to attend the annual general meeting and other Shareholders’
meetings.
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Putting forward proposals at general meeting

There are no provisions under the Articles of Association regarding
procedures for Shareholders to put forward proposals at general
meetings other than a proposal of a person for election as Director.
Shareholders may follow the procedures set out above to convene
an extraordinary general meeting for any business specified in such
written requisition.

Investor Relations

The Company is committed to promoting and maintaining
effective communication with the Shareholders and ensures the
Shareholders and the investors are provided with ready, equal
and timely access to current and relevant information about the
Company. The Company ensures that all material information is
disclosed on a comprehensive, accurate and timely basis on the
websites of Stock Exchange and the Company, so as to enable
the Shareholders to make informed decisions in respect of their
investment in the Company.

The Group Shareholders communication channels primarily
including (i) publication of financial reports, announcements,
circulars and press releases; (ii) shareholders’ meetings; (iii)
websites of the Company and HKEXnews; and (iv) analyst briefings,
conferences and roadshows.

The investor relations team of the Company is responsible for
information disclosure of the Company. The Company had
formulated information disclosure management system and
the system for the investor relations management to ensure
information disclosure on an open, fair and impartial basis.
Investors and the public are welcome to visit the “Investors”
section on the Company’s website (www.naixuecha.com) for the
latest news and announcements. Information about the latest
business development and news of the Company are also available
to Shareholders on the website.
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For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, Shareholders may ERRESSFELEMAENR  RRAIBER

send written enquiries to the Company as follows: BHREBEXRERNQT] > I T -

Address:  4-5F, OCT REAL ONE, Baoxing Road, Bao'an District, Hodt - EP., Y EL RS FEREEH
Shenzhen, The PRC In & fF4-51E

Attention: Investor Relations Team WA BREEBREK

The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous AARBETSRIEOBKELZNER o K
enquiries. The Company will arrange designated persons to DA LHEEATREOBEHEESH -
respond to the relevant written enquiries in a timely manner.

The Company has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness AAREH TREERBBERNNITBEARS
of the shareholders’ communication policy. Having considered the WM o KERREZEBREBEUNMEKRER
various existing channels of communication and the feedbacks KEENRE  EFTERAERFBERBERR
from the Shareholders and investors, the Board considers that WEBEEEZERNTHIT 2B -

the Shareholders’ communication policy has been properly

implemented and effective during the Reporting Period.
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KPMG'

Independent auditor’s report
to the shareholders of Nayuki Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Nayuki Holdings Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries
("the Group”) set out on pages 102 to 216, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31,
2024, the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
cash flow statement for the year then ended and notes, comprising
material accounting policy information and other explanatory
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at December 31, 2024 and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“"HKICPA"). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code"”) together with any ethical requirements
that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial
statements in the Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and
the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Key audit matter

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional judgement,
was of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. The matter was addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide
a separate opinion on this matter.

BIAZBENE

FAERT =R
BRESFERBERMNIEHE R4
UABEARBREANEANRAREENS
o ZERRERMESRBESHBRE
REAFEREETREN - ROITEHZSE
BRHEBNER -

Assessment of impairment of property and equipment and right-of-use assets

MERRBUREREEERENG

Refer to note 11 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2(k)(ii).

BRI E BRI 11 R I 2(k)(i)F 89 & 5 BOR

The Key Audit Matter
HEETER

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BAWETNAEEZSE

Local economic conditions and higher levels of
competition from other industry competitors have
impacted the performance of some of the Group's
teahouses. As a result, there is a risk that the carrying
amount of property and equipment and right-of-
use assets in certain teahouses may not be fully
recoverable. As at December 31, 2024, property
and equipment and right-of-use assets of the Group
were RMB1,136,540,000 and RMB1,226,362,000,
respectively.

A EERR R EMITERFHFRENEFEELE
EEEETRARENRE - At - FES THRKEN
MERZEARERAEEENREEEBEETHK
Bl )@ bR o 722024F 128318 - BEEEWE KR EIN
REREEED R AARY®1,136,540,0007 X AR
1,226,362,0007T °

The Group’s management reviews the performance
of individual teahouses at the end of each reporting
period to identify if any teahouse experienced
operational difficulties and suffered from prolonged
negative financial performance indicators which could
indicate potential impairment.
EXEEEENSREPRBAZEAXRRENRE - U
AR B EMRKUEEERS SN RFEREBRRE
EREN R A EMBRFER -

Our audit procedures to assess the potential
impairment of property and equipment and right-of-
use assets included the following:
BT EDERRBAREREEER
S AOR VI S

ERELOE SR

e understanding and evaluating the design and
implementation of key internal controls over the
impairment assessment;
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e evaluating management'’s identification of CGUs
and allocation of property and equipment and
right-of-use assets to each CGU with reference
to the requirements of the prevailing accounting

standards;
SRBITEFEANETE  FIHEEENHeELS

B S S REEEBUNYERRBEALER
BEENDRL

e evaluating management'’s identification of
impairment indicators with reference to the
requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards;
S2RBITEFFEANREFEERERERROR
Al
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Assessment of impairment of property and equipment and right-of-use assets

VIR RBURERBEERENMG

Refer to note 11 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2(k)(ii).

B 2R A TS ER R MG 11 R G 2(k)1)F B & 5B

The Key Audit Matter
HRETER

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BAWETNAEEZSE

Each of the teahouses of the Group is identified
as a cash generating unit ("CGU"). The Group's
management determine the recoverable amount of
each teahouse with impairment indicators based on
the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value-
in-use. Based on the assessment of the recoverable
amounts, the Group recognized an accumulated
impairment loss of RMB50,709,000 as at December 31,
2024 and an impairment loss of RMB106,105,000 for the
year then ended.
EXEENEBERKERBANAS—EReEEEML ( []R
TEAEMN] ) - EEEERERBAABERER
EXRAREREBEMETRSE - AETSHEARED
KRRENARE R - REGATKESENHTG -
BEEEN2024F12A31 BB R REBREARK
50,709,000t KR EEZ B ILFERRBREBEARE
106,105,0007T °

e involving our internal valuation specialists to
assist us in assessing the methodology adopted
by management in its preparation of the
discounted cash flow forecasts with reference to
the requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards;
SIABFINABEEZER BB H PSRBT ER
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e comparing the key assumptions included in the

discounted cash flows forecasts prepared by
management in the prior year with the current
year's performance to assess the accuracy of
the prior year's forecast, making enquiries of
management as to the reasons for any significant
variations identified and whether these had been
considered in the current year's discounted cash
flow forecasts and considering if there was any
indication of management bias;
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Assessment of impairment of property and equipment and right-of-use assets

VIR RBURERBEERENMG

Refer to note 11 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2(k)(ii).

B 2R A TS ER R MG 11 R G 2(k)1)F B & 5B

The Key Audit Matter
HRETER

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BAWETNAEEZSE

The value-in-use model used to assess the recoverable
amount of each CGU with impairment indicators
involves significant management estimation and
judgement, in particular in determining the key
assumptions adopted in the cash flow forecasts,
including future revenue, cost of materials, staff costs
and the discount rate applied.
ARFTEEFAERETFRONE CELEMLAIKWDOE N
CAEBEEAPREANEBEE MG LA LEE
EHETHReRERATAEANFARBR  BFERRK
o MERAE - BIRARAERMNITHRE -

We identified assessment of impairment of property
and equipment and right-of-use assets as a key audit
matter in view of the significance of their balances in
the consolidated statement of financial position as at
December 31, 2024 and the significant management
estimation and judgement involved in determining the
recoverable amount of property and equipment and
right-of-use assets.
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e evaluating the key assumptions adopted by
management in the discounted cash flow forecasts
by comparing the significant inputs, which
included future revenue, cost of materials and
staff costs with the historical performance of the
relevant teahouses, management’s budgets and
plans for the operations in 2025 and beyond, and
available industry statistics;
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e involving our internal valuation specialists to assist
us in assessing the discount rates used in the cash
flow forecasts by benchmarking against other
companies in the same industry;
SIABFIMABAEZER BB EFIEBEERTTEDN
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e evaluating the sensitivity analysis prepared by

management for each of the key assumptions
adopted in the discounted cash flow forecasts
to consider whether a reasonable variation
in the assumption would materially affect the
measurement of accounting estimate;

AHEEEERURRERERARANSTEEERE
FETHSREDT - LERBFRRBRRNEEZEE
AR EHEEFNABENERTE

e assessing the reasonableness of the disclosures

in the consolidated financial statements with
reference to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards.
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Information other than the consolidated financial
statements and auditor’s report thereon

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual
report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated
financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards issued by the IASB
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting
process.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is
made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
RS LT

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

e Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis
for forming an opinion on the group financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of
the audit work performed for purposes of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence and, where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Ng Yu Hei.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

March 27, 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

meRaR

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAAEREEZIIR)

2024 2023
2024%F 20234
Notes RMB’'000 RMB'000
B 5T ARET T AREFIT
Revenue W zs 4 4,921,201 5,164,056
Other income Hig A 5 157,749 186,490
Cost of materials MR AR (1,809,010) (1,699,442)
Staff costs B TR A 6(b) (1,434,604) (1,403,868)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREESERE 6(d) (413,223) (411,588)
Other rentals and related expenses HiF&€ REBMRX 6(d) (274,751) (306,258)
Depreciation and amortization of HihBEERNITE R
other assets 6(d) (335,503) (304,439)
Advertising and promotion expenses  JE& MHEER X (246,017) (165,804)
Delivery service fees it 2 fR 75 & (345,616) (392,638)
Utilities expenses KEMRX (154,027) (143,899)
Logistic and storage fees MR ERE (152,597) (140,833)
Other expenses Hihk X 6(c) (496,256) (261,301)
Other net losses EfbE5E 55 6(e) (90,370) (45,912)
Finance costs =YD 6(a) (68,863) (65,873)
Share of losses of associates FE(L B Z N AR 13 (123,585) (38,722)
Fair value changes of financial assets AR EBEFEBHEEBTA
at fair value through profit or loss EHBEE(UAREEE
("FVTPL") BEZFHAAZHER A
SREENARBEED (4,289) 36,141
(Loss)/profit before taxation BFA (EE) SR 6 (869,761) 6,110
Income tax Fr{S %t 7(a) (56,494) 5,056
(Loss)/profit for the year FR(EE) HF (926,255) 11,166
Attributable to: PUN B IE FEf
Equity shareholders of the Company  ANARIERAR (917,287) 13,224
Non-controlling interests FEFE AR = (8,968) (2,058)
(Loss)/profit for the year FER(EE) HF (926,255) 11,166
(Loss)/earnings per share SR (EE) &F
Basic and diluted (RMB) EARAREEARE) 10 (0.54) 0.01

%11OE 216K FEBARAM B IHRKR A —
o BT EE27(d) P EL - BEEEN AR E)
ﬁé SREIEFA(ER),mFR RS -

The notes on pages 110 to 216 form part of these financial
statements. There are no dividends payable to equity shareholders
of the Company attributable to the (loss)/profit for the year as set
out in note 27(d).
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
RARaRAMRAKEE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (AAR#EFIR)

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’'000 RMB’000

ARBTFR ARBET T

(Loss)/profit for the year FR(EE), BRI (926,255) 11,166

Other comprehensive income for FREMZEEKE
the year (after tax and (RBREEH D ERER)

reclassification adjustments)

Item that will not be reclassified to TEEN A HEERmAEE -
profit or loss:
Currency translation differences EHEN =5 31,941 29,645
Item that may be reclassified A& [t EF DI E B Y
subsequently to profit or loss: HE :
Currency translation differences EMEN =5 1,105 631

Total comprehensive income for FRE2ENEETE

the year (893,209) 41,442
Attributable to: BT & IEFEAL
Equity shareholders of the Company AR RIERAER (884,241) 43,500
Non-controlling interests JESERR R (8,968) (2,058)

Total comprehensive income for FARAEHEWELLE
the year (893,209) 41,442

The notes on pages 110 to 216 form part of these financial FE10EE216 B MM s B A IS MK —
statements. o e



104  Nayuki Holdings Limited - ZE#)%52 ARG R 2 7

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e MEikAR

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAAEREEZIIR)

December 31,

December 31,

2024 2023
2024%F 20234
12A31H 12H31H
Notes RMB’'000 RMB'000
B ARET T ARET T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property and equipment Y RE 11 1,136,540 1,419,221
Right-of-use assets FREEE " 1,226,362 1,609,188
Intangible assets mAE 38 124
Interests in associates REE A TR RER 13 258,553 537,574
Deferred tax assets EIETRIBE E 25(b) 29,310 88,046
Rental deposits HEZES 106,364 160,196
Term deposits TFEAF 19 = 56,662
Other non-current assets HMIEmeEE 14 514,628 607,283
3,271,795 4,478,294
Current assets REEE
Financial assets at FVTPL RARBEAEBEEZEHTA
ERBETNEREE 15 38,803 147,675
Inventories ER< 1 16 127,627 147,208
Trade and other receivables B 5 % E b fE W IR 17 204,344 183,227
Prepayments FEfIE 17 67,716 67,135
Other current assets HEfREEE 14 170,000 -
Restricted bank deposits TR HRITIER 18 655 =
Term deposits TEBRF K 19 1,705,088 2,072,479
Cash and cash equivalents RERBESEEY 18 579,122 444,346
2,893,355 3,062,070
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade and other payables B 5N E M fE R IE 20 528,517 635,762
Contract liabilities EHEE 21 222,531 257,803
Bank loans RITEXR 22 50,000 =
Lease liabilities HEEE 23 323,075 428,842
Provisions B 24 1,737 421
Current taxation BIERF: 18 25 26,823 28,218
1,152,683 1,351,046
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
FEMBRAE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (AAR#EFIR)

December 31, December 31,

2024 2023

2024%F 20234

12HA31H 12H31H

Notes RMB’'000 RMB'000

B ARET T ARET T

Net current assets REEEFRHE 1,740,672 1,711,024

Total assets less current liabilities EEAERARBARGE 5,012,467 6,189,318
Non-current liabilities kRBEE

Lease liabilities HEAE 23 1,075,817 1,341,646

Provisions B 24 19,455 23,320

Deferred tax liabilities EEFIARE 25(b) 1,063 2,580

1,096,335 1,367,546

NET ASSETS BEEFH 3,916,132 4,821,772
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEXL#E

Share capital N 27 555 558

Reserves HE 27 3,928,197 4,824,419

Total equity attributable to equity ZRNATEZRREGESZLE

shareholders of the Company 3,928,752 4,824,977

Non-controlling interests FERER (12,620) (3,205)

TOTAL EQUITY A 3,916,132 4,821,772

Approved and authorized for issue by the board of directors on EEEN2025F3 H27 BHAE RIRRET)E -
March 27, 2025.

Zhao Lin Peng Xin
i 2
Chairman of the board Executive Director
EER HITEE

The notes on pages 110 to 216 form part of these financial E10EE216 B MM B A EwMER ) —

fvi[ /AN
statements. B o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
ReEEDR

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAAEREEZIIR)

Attributable to equity shareholders

RERRER
Share-based Non-
Share Share Other ~ Treasury  payments  Exchange  Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium reserve shares reserve reserve losses Total interests equity
HRHE
B

s RitifE Hbk  EERR E0I: 1] Eifis  RiER @ FERER  HtER

Note  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

W AR®TR  ARBTR  ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR  ARBTR  ARBTn  ARBTn  ARETR  ARETR

note 27(a)  note 27(c)() note 27(c|(i)  note 27(c)ii
Wiar)  KE27()0) Wak27(e)i)  WEE27(c)i)
Balance at January 1, 2024 R202451 A1 B KSR 558 9,855,896 (5,087) - 25,651 276,346 (5,328,387) 4,824,977 (3,205) 4,821,772
Changes in equity for 2024: WUENERE

Loss for the year ERER - - - - - - (917,287) (917,287 (8,968)  (926,255)

Other comprehensive income Eh2EMES - - - - - 33,046 - 33,046 - 33,046

Total comprehensive income PENGEE - - - - - 33046 (917,287)  (884,241) (8,968)  (893,209)
Equity-settled share-based NEREENRARS

transactions 2 - - - - 7,568 - - 7,568 - 7,568

Cancellation of ordinary shares FHEAR (3) (18,164) - 18,167 - - - - - -

Disposal of a Subsidiary REMEAT - - - - = = = = (447) (447)

Repurchase of ordinary shares EEE AR - - - (22,641) - - - (22,641) = (22,641)

Restricted share units vested BRBIRHROEN - 7,992 - = (7.992) = = a = =

Share options exercised BiifERERE - 12,077 = = (8,988) = = 3,089 = 3,089

Balance at December 31,2024 12024512831 BRIL S 555 9,857,801 (5,087) (4,474) 16,239 309,392 (6,245,674) 3,928,752 (12,6200 3,916,132
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GaEEDR

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAARHEFIR)

Attributable to equity shareholders

EERFER
Share-based Non-
Share Share Other Treasury  payments  Exchange  Accumulated controlling Total
capital  premium reserve shares reserve reserve losses Total interests equity
WA
E:3i)

BE BGEE  AbER  BRRGD  xHRE  EXRR  ZiER & FERER gitER
Note ~ RMBOOD ~ RMBOOD ~ RMBOOD  RMBOO0  RMBOO0  RMBOD0  RMBODO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBO0D
Wi ARETR  ARETR  ARRTR AR ARBTR ARBTR ARETR ARMTR ARMTR  ARETR

note 27 note 27(c) note 27(cl(i)  note 27(c/i)
Wi2n@ W20 o) HEE27() i)
Balance at January 1, 2023 R202351 B1BHER 558 9,842,268 (5,087) - 29533 26000 (5341611 4171731 (6,147) 4,765,584
Changes in equity for 2023: 03FHEELD
Proftor the year ERET - - - - : TR £/ S N TR 1)
Other comprehensive income EH2ENE - - - - - 30276 S 30276 = 30276
Total comprehensive income cANRLE - - - = S 30,276 13,204 43,500 (2,058) 4,48
Capital injection from non- HELRFARERE
controlling interests of a
subsidiary - - - - - - - - 5,000 5,000
Equity-settled share-based NEREENRIRS
transactions 26 - - - - 9,746 - - 9746 - 9746
Restricted share units vested BERXRHRHER - 8323 - - (8,323) = = - - -
Share options exercised BifEERE = 5,305 = = (5,305) = = = = =
Balance at December 31, 2023 R023E12A3 AES 558 9,855,896 (5,087) - 25,651 216346 (5328387) 4824977 (3,205 4821772

The notes on pages 110 to 216 form part of these financial E10EE216 B MM BRI wmER ) —
statements. B o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
ReaBnaRER

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAAEREEZIIR)

2024 2023
20245 20234
Notes RMB’'000 RMB’000

B AR®T ARBET T

Operating activities RETE
Cash generated from operations FRENTIEE Iﬁfﬁ 18(b) 202,441 829,149
Income tax paid BT ATEH 25(a) (3,134) (1,485)
Income tax refunded RIBFTEM 25(a) 2,299 826
Net cash generated from RETBHAESHRLSTH

operating activities 201,606 828,490
Investing activities BRETE
Payments for purchases of BEMERREONR

property and equipment (299,703) (540,923)
Proceeds from disposal of HE Y KRB TS KRIE

property and equipment 5,098 5,540
Payments for provisions B TR IB 24 (9,707) (157)
Proceeds from settlement of HEINELES DB

foreign exchange contracts Fr1S5K18 - 3,345
Purchase of financial assets BELmEE - (30,697)
Proceeds from disposal of HESmMEENTEHIA

financial assets 69,253 142,648
Payments for purchase of BEERFESNNRK

equity securities 15 - (63,190)
Dividend income from listed R EMIRERE 2 REWA

equity investment 132 -
Disposal of a subsidiary EEWRB AR (850) =
Payments for acquisition of TS EEEE E A RIHR B B RUIR

investments in an associate - (552,004)
Loan repayment from an associate B NRERNER = 50,000
Purchase of term deposits e THFEX (2,191,527) (3,104,280)
Proceeds from disposal of H & F HiTE SR P8 5B

term deposits 2,747,148 2,756,257

Net cash generated from/(used) REFEEFRE(FTA)
in investing activities HE T 319,844 (1,333,461)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

meEReRER

(Expressed in Renminbi) (AAR#EFIR)

2024 2023
20245 20234
Notes RMB’'000 RMB'000
Liks3 ARBTT ARETT
Financing activities RMEEE
Proceeds from bank loans RITE RIS FRIE 50,000 -
Proceeds from exercise of 1T BB IR B P A5 F0E
share options 3,084 293
Payment of interests and AR B R At
other borrowing cost BB 6(a) (69) =
Payments of capital element and YRHEEAENEARIT Y X
interest element of lease liabilities B 18(c) (418,246) (451,645)
Payment for repurchase of XA 1 AR B RIR
ordinary shares (22,641) =
Payment of service charges for XA AR RIS B
resign of ordinary shares (110) =
Capital injection from non-controlling  HB A Bl ESTE
interest of a subsidiary - 5,000
Net cash used in financing activities BEEEFTRAREFE (387,982) (446,352)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash BENBRSEEY
and cash equivalents B, ORd) B 133,468 (951,323)
Cash and cash equivalents at MATENERESE
January 1 REeZEY 18(a) 444,346 1,387,495
Effect of foreign exchange EXEEHHNE
rate changes 1,308 8,174
Cash and cash equivalents at M12A31ENERER
December 31 HEZEY 18(a) 579,122 444,346

The notes on pages 110 to 216 form part of these financial

statements.

FNOER216AMK EBR AR BRI —

2B o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

i & M35 3R RO EE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B} BH3ERHIN

1 GENERAL INFORMATION

AANREEDITR)

Nayuki Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
in the Cayman Islands on September 5, 2019 as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law, Cap
22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company and has not
carried on any business since the date of its incorporation. The
Company and its subsidiaries (together as “the Group”) are
principally engaged in the sales of freshly-made tea drinks,
baked goods and other products and services in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC").

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB"”) and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. These financial statements also comply with
the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange. Material
accounting policies adopted by the Group are disclosed
below.

The IASB has issued certain amendments to IFRS
Accounting Standards that are first effective or available
for early adoption for the current accounting period of
the Group. Note 2(c) provides information on any changes
in accounting policies resulting from initial application of
these developments to the extent that they are relevant to
the Group for the current accounting period reflected in
these financial statements.

—REF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LALAREEFIIR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2 EXREFEEE)

(b) Basis of presentation of the financial statements (b) IR mBIE %

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
December 31, 2024 comprise the Group and the Group’s
interest in associates.

ltem included in the financial statements of each entity
in the Group are measured using the currency that best
reflects the economic substance of the underlying events
and circumstances relevant to the entity (the “Functional
Currency”). The financial statements are presented in
Renminbi ("RMB"), rounded to the nearest thousand

except earnings or loss per share information.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
financial statements is the historical cost basis except for
financial assets at FVTPL that are stated at their fair value
(see note 2(f));

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with IFRS Accounting Standards requires management
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the application of policies and reported amounts
of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of
which form the basis of making the judgements about
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

HE2024F12A31BILFEWNLEZEE
HHERRPELAEE AR RNERR

B 2 F O3S -

AEBEEERNYBREABIEDN
THA JHE M A B R B 3% E RS AR R
MEEEHRBEANKEBEEENE
B(HEEEETE - MBEWEN
ARBTARBDEZ®R BHEEE
BB AAEREL TR
BRAMKERERERI

MEMEREIRANGTERER
FESLRARERE - HELERREET
BEZAAREEFEBRZESTA
EHRENEREERINRWME
2() »

fm BT & BIFR B 75 ¥k 5 R Rl 0 B 75
BRBEZEEEFLHE - Fit R
R > MxFHE  GHFhBRE
FERRNERMMBERNEE
BE BWARRXHEE ZFMH
AREERRDBREBEELRRRE
BERERZEBRTHEEEN
EREMEARMIEL - AISERE
REEEEEXRBEMGIRES
BHEELEBFENREERFL
&  BERERKSA RN Z
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o MBI RME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LAAREEFIIR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(b) Basis of presentation of the financial statements

(continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of
IFRS Accounting Standards that have significant effect on
the financial statements and major sources of estimation
uncertainty are discussed in note 3.

Changes in accounting policies

The Group has applied the following amendments to IFRS
Accounting Standards issued by the IASB to these financial
statements for the current accounting period:

e Amendments to |IAS 1, Presentation of financial
statements — Classification of liabilities as current or
non-current (“2020 amendments”) and amendments
to IAS 1, Presentation of financial statements — Non-
current liabilities with covenants (“2022 amendments”)

e Amendments to IFRS 16, Leases — Lease liability in a
sale and leaseback

e Amendments to IAS 7, Statement of cash flows and
IFRS 7, Financial instruments: Disclosures —Supplier
Finance Arrangements

The Group has not applied any new standard or
interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period. None of these developments have
had a material effect on how the Group's results and
financial position for the current or prior periods have been
prepared or presented.

2 EXREFEEE)

(b)

PAGmR 2 B ELE(E)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LALAREEFIIR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (d) M8 A Rl R IEE AR =

2 EXREFEEGE)

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights
to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are
included in the consolidated financial statements from the
date on which control commences until the date on which
control ceases.

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealized
income and expenses (except for foreign currency
transaction gains or losses) arising from intra-group
transactions, are eliminated. Unrealized losses resulting
from intra-group transactions are eliminated in the same
way as unrealized gains, but only to the extent that there is

no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests (“NCI”) are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position within
equity, separately from equity attributable to the equity
shareholders of the Company. NCI in the results of the
Group are presented on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
as an allocation of the total profit or loss and total
comprehensive income for the year between NCI and the
equity shareholders of the Company.

Changes in the Group's interests in a subsidiary that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it
derecognizes the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary,
and any related NCI and other components of equity. Any
resulting gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss. Any
interest retained in that former subsidiary is measured at
fair value when control is lost.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment
|losses (see note 2(k)(ii)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o MBI RME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LAAREEFIIR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EXREFHBERE)
(continued)
(e) Associates (e) Bt&E A 7]
An associate is an entity in which the Group or the BN REAER AN TTJ/X
Company has significant influence, but not control or joint HERBRLCEHRBIEEATLE
control, over the financial and operating policies. 7 (i e S L RE S B E B -

An interest in an associate is accounted for using the
equity method. They are initially recognized at cost, which
includes transaction costs. Subsequently, the consolidated
financial statements include the Group's share of the profit
or loss and other comprehensive income (“OCl") of those
investees, until the date on which significant influence or
joint control ceases.

When the Group's share of losses exceeds its interest in
the associate, the Group's interest is reduced to nil and
recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the investee.
For this purpose, the Group's interest is the carrying
amount of the investment under the equity method,
together with any other long-term interests that in
substance form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate, after applying the ECL model to such other long-
term interests where applicable (see note 2(k)(i)).

Unrealized gains arising from transactions with equity-
accounted investees are eliminated against the investment
to the extent of the Group's interest in the investee.
Unrealized losses are eliminated in the same way as
unrealized gains, but only to the extent there is no
evidence of impairment.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in an associate is stated at cost less impairment
losses (see note 2(k)(ii)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LALAREEFIIR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 ERETTHEE)
(continued)

() EbESKE

(f) Other investments in securities

The Group's policies for investments in securities, other
than investments in subsidiaries and associates, are set out
below.

Investments in securities are recognized/derecognized
on the date the Group commits to purchase/sell the
investment. The investments are initially stated at fair value
plus directly attributable transaction costs, except for
those investments measured at FVTPL for which transaction
costs are recognized directly in profit or loss. For an
explanation of how the Group determines fair value of
financial instruments, see note 28(e). These investments are
subsequently accounted for as follows, depending on their
classification.

(i) Non-equity investments
Non-equity investments held by the Group are
classified into one of the following measurement
categories:

- amortized cost, if the investment is held for
the collection of contractual cash flows which
represent solely payments of principal and interest.
Expected credit losses, interest income calculated
using the effective interest method (see note
2(w)(ii)), foreign exchange gains and losses are
recognized in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on
derecognition is recognized in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o MBI RME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B} BH3ERHIN

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(f) Other investments in securities (continued)

(i) Non-equity investments (continued)

fair value through other comprehensive income
(FVOCI) - recycling, if the contractual cash flows
of the investment comprise solely payments
of principal and interest and the investment is
held within a business model whose objective is
achieved by both the collection of contractual cash
flows and sale. Expected credit losses, interest
income (calculated using the effective interest
method) and foreign exchange gains and losses
are recognized in profit or loss and computed
in the same manner as if the financial asset was
measured at amortized cost. The difference
between the fair value and the amortized cost
is recognized in OCI. When the investment is
derecognized, the amount accumulated in OCl is
recycled from equity to profit or loss.

FVTPL if the investment does not meet the
criteria for being measured at amortized cost or
FVOCI (recycling). Changes in the fair value of the
investment (including interest) are recognized in
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

& M35 3R RO E

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LALAREEFIIR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(f) Other investments in securities (continued)
(i) Equity investments
An investment in equity securities is classified as
FVTPL, unless the investment is not held for trading
purposes and on initial recognition the Group makes
an irrevocable election to designate the investment at
FVOCI (non-recycling) such that subsequent changes
in fair value are recognized in OCI. Such elections
are made on an instrument-by-instrument basis,
but may only be made if the investment meets the
definition of equity from the issuer’s perspective. If
such election is made for a particular investment,
at the time of disposal, the amount accumulated in
the fair value reserve (non-recycling) is transferred to
retained earnings and not recycled through profit or
loss. Dividends from an investment in equity securities,
irrespective of whether classified as at FVTPL or FVOCI,

are recognized in profit or loss as other income (see
note 2(w)(ii)(a)).

(9) Derivative financial instruments

Embedded derivatives are separated from the host
contract and accounted for separately if the host contract is
not a financial asset and certain criteria are met.

Derivatives are initially measured at fair value.
Subsequently, they are measured at fair value with changes
therein recognized in profit or loss.

2 EXREFEEGE)

() EaBEHIRE(E)

(i) BAKE
BAFBLHZEHSEHEIBRIUAR
AEEFEEEZITAZHE
&= BRI ETERIEEE -
I 7E 9156 TE RR B A 52 [ 1 A 8
B EETZBRERRAMS
AREEARBEARTTE
B UB#BREAREBEEZEHE
HmP2E WS ER o EdiEE
RAREREREMR FiETT - 8
REEREFEETAAETH
RAEERFAI#ET - HAFET
WEELLEE  ERER - R©
AAEERB(TAIER) R R
e EeE AR BT
gEABn - RABHFRENR
B(THmERYBERUNAAEBE
T2 B EEBE A S #iEski
ARnEEFAEMEZEKEZ) R
BamhERBEMIA (R
2(w)(i)(@)) °

(@ ITEEBMTA
MESHLFEMEEAFEET
B RARTETABRESN
RS EBALK -

TETRVREARBEFE
BREARBENE  HEHNER
REER



118 Nayuki Holdings Limited - 25 &5 LR B R A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

i & M35 3R RO EE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B} BH3ERHIN

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(h) Property and equipment

AANREEDITR)

Property and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see note
2(k)(ii)). Construction in progress represents property and
equipment under construction, which is stated at cost less
any impairment losses, and is not depreciated.

If significant parts of an item of property and equipment
have different useful lives, then they are accounted for as
separate items (major components).

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property and
equipment is recognized in profit or loss.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost or valuation
of items of property and equipment, less their estimated
residual value, if any, using the straight-line method over
their estimated useful lives as follows, and is generally
recognized in profit or loss:

Over the shorter of
the lease term or
the estimated useful

Leasehold improvements life of the asset

Kitchen equipment 3 -5years
Furniture equipment 3 -5years
Electronic equipment and others 3-5years

Right-of-use assets Over the lease term
Office building situated on

leasehold land 45 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are
reviewed annually and adjusted if appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LALAREEFIIR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2 EXREFEEE)

() BEYEE

(i) Intangible assets

Expenditure on research activities is recognized in profit or
loss as incurred. Development expenditure is capitalized
only if the expenditure can be measured reliably, the
product or process is technically and commercially
feasible, future economic benefits are probable and the
Group intends to and has sufficient resources to complete
development and to use or sell the resulting asset.
Otherwise, it is recognized in profit or loss as incurred.

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group
and have finite useful lives are measured at cost
less accumulated amortization and any accumulated
impairment losses (see note 2(k)(ii)).

Amortization is calculated to write off the cost of intangible
assets less their estimated residual values using the
straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, if
any, and is generally recognized in profit or loss.

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative
periods are as follows:

— Software 5-10 years

Amortization methods, useful lives and residual values are
reviewed annually and adjusted if appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o MBI RME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LAAREEFIIR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2 EXREFEEE)

() Leased assets

() HEEE

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether
the contract is, or contains, a lease. This is the case if
the contract conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer has
both the right to direct the use of the identified asset and
to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from
that use.

As a lessee

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognizes
a right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for leases
that have a short lease term of 12 months or less, and
leases of low-value items such as apartments, storage and
printer. When the Group enters into a lease in respect of
a low-value item, the Group decides whether to capitalize
the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. If not capitalized, the
associated lease payments are recognized in profit or loss
on a systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalized, the lease liability is initially
recognized at the present value of the lease payments
payable over the lease term, discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, using a relevant incremental borrowing rate.
After initial recognition, the lease liability is measured at
amortized cost and interest expense is recognized using
the effective interest method. Variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in
the measurement of the lease liability, and are charged to
profit or loss as incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LALAREEFIIR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2 EXREFEEE)

() Leased assets (continued)

() HEEE(E)

As a lessee (continued)

The right-of-use asset recognized when a lease is
capitalized is initially measured at cost, which comprises
the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any
lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate
of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or
to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is
located, less any lease incentives received. The right-of-
use asset is subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses (see note 2(k)(ii)).

Refundable rental deposits are accounted for separately
from the right-of-use assets in accordance with the
accounting policy applicable to investments in non-equity
securities carried at amortized cost (see notes 2(f)(i), 2(w)(ii)
and 2(k)(i)). Any excess of the nominal value over the initial
fair value of the deposits is accounted for as additional
lease payments made and is included in the cost of right-
of-use assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change
in future lease payments arising from a change in an
index or rate, if there is a change in the Group's estimate
of the amount expected to be payable under a residual
value guarantee, or if the Group changes its assessment
of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or
termination option. When the lease liability is remeasured
in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset or is recorded in
profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset
has been reduced to zero.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o MBI RME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LAAREEFIIR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2 EXREFEEE)

() HEEE(E)

() Leased assets (continued)

As a lessee (continued) EREAF T (&)
The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a lease EHBREEESN  NHEHEHBELE
modification, which means a change in the scope of a BB E SRR LW EARFE AR

lease or the consideration for a lease that is not originally
provided for in the lease contract, if such modification is
not accounted for as a separate lease. In this case, the
lease liability is remeasured based on the revised lease
payments and lease term using a revised discount rate at
the effective date of the modification.

In the consolidated statement of financial position, the
current portion of long-term lease liabilities is determined
as the present value of contractual payments that are due
to be settled within twelve months after the reporting
period.

As a lessor

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, the sub-leases
are classified as a finance lease or as an operating lease
with reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the
head lease. If the head lease is a short-term lease to which
the Group applies the exemption described in note 2(j),
then the Group classifies the sub-lease as an operating
lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LALAREEFIIR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2 EXREFEEGE)

k) EEBEREERE

() =EITAMEEERE

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments

The Group recognizes a loss allowance for expected
credit losses ("ECL"s) on the financial assets measured
at amortized cost (including cash and cash equivalents,
trade receivables and other receivables).

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Generally, credit losses are measured as the
present value of all expected cash shortfalls between
the contractual and expected amounts.

The expected cash shortfalls of fixed-rate financial
assets and trade and other receivables are discounted
using the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition or an approximation thereof where the
effect of discounting is material.

The maximum period considered when estimating
ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which the
Group is exposed to credit risk.

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

— 12-month ECLs: these are the portion of ECLs that
are result from default events that are possible
within the 12 months after the reporting date (or a
shorter period if the expected life of the instrument
is less than 12 months); and

— lifetime ECLs: these are the ECLs that are result
from all possible default events over the expected
lives of the items to which the ECL model applies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

i & M35 3R RO EE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B} BH3ERHIN

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments
(continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)

AANREEDITR)

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount

equal to lifetime ECLs, except for the following, which

are measured at 12-months ECLs:

— financial instruments that are determined to have

low credit risk at the reporting date; and

— other financial instruments for which credit risk

(i.e. the risk of default occurring over the expected

life of the financial instrument) has not increased

significantly since initial recognition.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always

measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

Significant increases in credit risk

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial

instrument has increased significantly since initial

recognition and when measuring ECLs, the Group

considers reasonable and supportable information

that is relevant and available without undue cost or

effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative
information and analysis, based on the Group's
historical experience and informed credit assessment,

that includes forward-looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial

asset has increased significantly if it is more than 30

days past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LALAREEFIIR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets k) EEEBENEERE(E)

(continued)

2 EXREFEEGE)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments

(continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (continued)
The Group considers a financial asset to be in default
when:

— the debtor is unlikely to pay its credit obligations
to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group
to actions such as realizing security (if any is held);
or

— the financial asset is 90 days past due.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk since
initial recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is
recognized as an impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss. The Group recognizes an impairment gain or
loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss
allowance account.

Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
a financial asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset is
credit-impaired when one or more events that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows
of the financial asset have occurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o MBI RME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B} BH3ERHIN

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
(continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets (continued)
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes the following observable events:

- significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

— a breach of contract, such as a default or being
more than 90 days past due;

— the restructuring of a loan or advance by the
Group on terms that the Group would not consider
otherwise;

— itis probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy
or other financial reorganization; or

— the disappearance of an active market for a
security because of financial difficulties of the
issuer.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written
off to the extent that there is no realistic prospect of
recovery. This is generally the case when the Group
determines that the debtor does not have assets or
sources of income that could generate sufficient cash
flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously
written off are recognized as a reversal of impairment
in profit or loss in the period in which the recovery
occurs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LALAREEFIIR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2 EXREFEEGE)

k) EEBBELREEREGE)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(i) Impairment of other non-current assets

(i) BbIFREBEERE

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its non-financial assets (other
than inventories and deferred tax assets) to determine
whether there is any indication of impairment. If any
such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated.

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together
into the smallest group of assets that generates
cash inflows from continuing use that are largely
independent of the cash inflows of other assets or
cash-generating units (“CGU"s).

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the
greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs of
disposal. Value in use is based on the estimated future
cash flows, discounted to their present value using
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset or CGU.

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying
amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable
amount.

REREEH - AEERMEKE
TRHEE(FEREENAEE
BN HBREE - UEBEREF
EEMBETR © tRFEEMR
HERPR - AHEENAIKE S
BETHE -

RERNRMNE  BESERE
EZ&/NER - BREERTE
ERERA > ERRBOBIR
HtEERRELEM([RE
EEBEMDZRERA -

BEXRSELEMNAINRE S
HRHEABEREAAEBER
HEXRAMEFNRSE  £73
EBEENGERRRASR - &7
VA S B & B T 355 1 B M B P L B
BEXRCELBVEFERRD
AHAER B RIREIR R - RRIREHIR
& -

M—IBEERRSELEMANR
EEBEER KOS - BIFER
HEREE o



128 Nayuki Holdings Limited - 2E 8% R AR A 7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

i & M35 3R RO EE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B} BH3ERHIN

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(i) Impairment of other non-current assets

AANREEDITR)

(continued)

Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss. They
are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill allocated to the CGU, and then to reduce the
carrying amounts of the other assets in the CGU on a
pro rata basis.

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that
the resulting carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined, net
of depreciation or amortization, if no impairment loss
had been recognized.

(iii) Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange, the Group is required to prepare
an interim financial report in compliance with IAS 34,
Interim financial reporting, in respect of the first six
months of the financial year. At the end of the interim
period, the Group applies the same impairment
testing, recognition, and reversal criteria as it would at
the end of the financial year (see notes 2k(i) and 2k(ii)).

2 EXREFEEE)

k) EEBELREEREGE)

(i) BfbIFnBEERE (&)

(iii)

EEEIER BT R o RIEE
BEeTUNE  BEBREDET
ReELBUnEARmENRE
B EREUPIBREZREES
BurHEMEEMNK@E -

‘OB EREEA R EENER
0 B T8 568 fied S8 T SR RL (BB 1R B
PEERREE MR TERX
BRI

BRI R R R E

RIEB R TR A ETRA - A%
EEETRE S ERLFE345
[FRHAB SRS | RS 4R ELET
BREERNEEA 2 %R
5o AFREIR - AEBEHRAR
MRFEEFROBRBERR
7R I B A2 2 (BB 7 2k (i) &
2k(ii)) °



Annual Report %% 2024 129

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LALAREEFIIR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 ERESTTHEGE)

(continued)

() Inventories I =&
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net FETRKAE A IR FERE S
realizable value. Cost is calculated using the weighted ZERIEERFE o KATIIEINEFEY
average cost formula and comprises all costs of purchase MAEAHE  WBEMEEERAR
and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their RHEAEFEERIRETEDE &
present location and condition. Net realizable value is the AT R ZKA - AR R FEA

estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business
less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated
costs necessary to make the sale.

(m)Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognized when the customer pays
non-refundable consideration before the Group recognizes
the related revenue (see note 2(v)). A contract liability is
also recognized if the Group has an unconditional right to
receive non-refundable consideration before the Group
recognizes the related revenue. In such latter cases, a
corresponding receivable would also be recognized (see
note 2(n)).

(n) Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognized when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration and only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

Trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component are initially measured at their
transaction price. All receivables are subsequently stated
at amortized cost (see note 2(k)(i)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o MBI RME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LAAREEFIIR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2 EXREFEEE)

B BN AR 1% (SaaS) & BERK 2N

(o) Software-as-a-service (SaaS) arrangement costs (o)

A Saa$S arrangement is a service arrangement where the
Group has a right to access to the supplier’'s application
software running on the supplier’'s cloud infrastructure
during the term of the arrangement, but not control over
the underlying software asset.

Costs to implement a SaaS arrangement, including those
incurred in configuring or customizing the access to the
supplier’s application software, are evaluated to determine
if they give rise to a separate asset that the Group controls.
Implementation costs that do not give rise to an asset are
recognized in profit or loss as incurred, which may be over
the period the configuration or customization services are
received to the extent that such services are distinct from
the Saa$, or over the term of the SaaS arrangement to the
extent the configuration or customization services are not
distinct from the SaaS.

Payment made in advance of receiving the related services
is recognized as prepayment.

(p) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on
hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and other short-term, highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value, having been within three months of maturity at
acquisition. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for
ECL (see note 2(k)(i)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B} BH3ERHIN

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(9) Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs
directly attributable to the issuance of new shares or
options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from
the proceeds.

Where any company within the Group purchases the
Company’s equity instruments, the consideration paid,
including any directly attributable incremental costs, is
deducted from equity attributable to the Company’s equity
holders as treasury shares until the shares are cancelled or
reissued.

Trade and other payables (other than refund
liabilities)

Trade and other payables are initially recognized at fair
value. Subsequent to initial recognition, trade and other
payables are stated at amortized cost unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at invoice amounts.

Refund liabilities arising from volume rebates are
recognized in accordance with the policy set out in note

2(v).

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at
fair value less transaction costs. Subsequently, these
borrowings are stated at amortized cost using the effective
Interest expense is recognized in
accordance with note 2(y).

interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o MBI RME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LAAREEFIIR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2 EXREFEEE)

(t) BEEF

(i) Short-term employee benefits and contributions () (EEIES B % E B a R KA

(t) Employee benefits

to defined contribution retirement plans

Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the
related service is provided. A liability is recognized
for the amount expected to be paid if the Group
has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay
this amount as a result of past service provided by
the employee and the obligation can be estimated
reliably.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations of the
PRC, the Group participates in a defined contribution
basic pension insurance in the social insurance
system established and managed by government
organizations. The Group makes contributions to
basic pension insurance plans based on the applicable
benchmarks and rates stipulated by the government.
The local government authorities are responsible
for the pension obligations payable to the retired
employees covered under the defined contribution
basic pension insurance. There are no forfeited
contributions for the defined contribution basic
pension insurance in the PRC social insurance system
as the contributions are fully vested to the employees
upon payment to the scheme.

The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed
under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance. Contributions to the plan vest immediately.
There are no forfeited contributions for the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes as the contributions are fully
vested to the employees upon payment to the scheme.

BJH 50

72 H11R B 3 M FE B2 (AR R AR A B
3 o IRRANEB B ERMHM
AR - ANSKE B AEAR DS
ELBEEBXNBEFEINNE
B YW HZBEBAAR S
8 AERaE-

REBEHEMEBERIER - K
SE2 M BUTEBATR R E
BNt ERBRERNTERARE
AGRRERER © AR B RET AR
TE B3 P 2 2 I B R B AR AR
RERET IR - BHBFEFIA
BER2IERHARERRKGRR
MBERARBETXNNEEZS -
B4 & RER HIE T B FUE R RE
AR R 2 IR 0 B R MK
RABEFRN S FaT 8l EHK
RETES -

AEETREFERIEATES
RGP AR E R RBIRDEE
HLENFZEHEB RBHIELTE
EFFEIHEK - FHEIMHRL 2R
& o BHIMRESAHBWED R
WK - RESERN S F&
ENTHRETEE -



Annual Report 3% 2024 133

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B} BH3ERHIN

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(t) Employee benefits (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Short-term employee benefits and contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans
(continued)

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans are expensed as the related service is
provided.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are expensed at the earlier of
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of
those benefits and when it recognizes restructuring
costs involving the payment of termination benefits.

(iii) Share-based payments

The grant-date fair value of equity-settled share-
based payments granted to employees is measured
using the trinomial option-pricing model, in case of
share options granted, or reference to the fair value
of the underlying ordinary shares of the Company
on the date of grant, in case of RSUs granted. The
amount is generally recognized as an expense, with
a corresponding increase in equity, over the vesting
period of the awards. The amount recognized as an
expense is adjusted to reflect the number of awards for
which the related service conditions are expected to
be met, such that the amount ultimately recognized is
based on the number of awards that meet the related
service conditions at the vesting date. The equity
amount is recognized in the capital reserve until either
the option is exercised or the option expires.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o MBI RME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LAAREEFIIR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 BEXREFBERGE)
(continued)
(t) Employee benefits (continued) (t) EERF(E)
(iii) Share-based payments (continued) (iii) LABRD BERE 1T ()
Share options B AR
For grant of share options, the total amount to be MEHBREMS - B HENR
expensed is determined by reference to the fair value SRS EFAREEERERAK
of the options granted by using option-pricing models: EOEREN AR EBEMEE

BIEEAMHHRIBANN

— including any market performance conditions;

- excluding the impact of any service and non- - TEEEARBRIETHE
market performance vesting conditions; and BRBIRINTE &
- including the impact of any non-vesting - BEEAFEEBEEREDNR
conditions. £
The total expense is recognized over the vesting BRI BRERTEERE TSR
period, which is the period over which all of the B EERBRER - RNEH
specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied. At the R AEERBIEMEEB R
end of each period, the Group revises its estimates of IRISIEHHERT H B BTa R T 5
the number of options that are expected to vest based BRI EAES A FGET - WRiES
on the non-market vesting and service conditions. FRERETTREMTNTFE(W
It recognizes the impact of the revision to original B) REEESELEENS
estimates, if any, in profit or loss, with a corresponding o
adjustment to equity.
RSUs SR AR 4D BT
For grant of RSUs, the total amount to be expensed AREZBEHIRDEMNTS
is determined by reference to the fair value of the XHNBSEI2ELREERD
Group's shares at the grant date. REL BN AR BEMERE °
The total expense is recognized over the vesting AXBENFEIER  BEH
period, which is the period over which all of the BT R E B B IR = A HY B
specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied. At the Al - REHIER  AEBSETE
end of each period, the Group revises its estimates of HIEAKERRBEREREBENX
the number of RSUs that are expected to vest based PRI D BB AL BN E B9 flat o B
on service condition. It recognizes the impact of the BaERE RAEst 2 &8s (1
revision to original estimates, if any, in profit or loss, B)MEE  WEERIETAE

with a corresponding adjustment to equity. FEE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LALAREEFIIR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2 EXREFEEE)

(t) BERM(E)

(t) Employee benefits (continued)

(iii) Share-based payments (continued)

Share-based payment transaction among group
entities

The grant by the Company of share incentive plan over
its equity instruments to the employees of subsidiaries
undertakings in the Group is treated as a capital
contribution. The fair value of employee services
received, measured by reference to the grant date
fair value, is recognized over the vesting period as an
increase to investment in subsidiaries undertakings,
with a corresponding credit to equity in separate
financial statements of the Company.

(u) Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current tax and deferred
tax. It is recognized in profit or loss except to the extent
that it relates to a business combination, or items
recognized directly in equity or in OCI.

Current tax comprises the estimated tax payable or
receivable on the taxable income, or loss for the year and
any adjustments to the tax payable or receivable in respect
of previous years. The amount of current tax payable or
receivable is the best estimate of the tax amount expected
to be paid or received that reflects any uncertainty related
to income taxes. It is measured using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the reporting date. Current tax
also includes any tax arising from dividends.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain
criteria are met.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

i & M35 3R RO EE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LAAREEFIIR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(u) Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts
used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognized
for:

- temporary differences on the initial recognition of
assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business
combination and that affects neither accounting nor
taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences;

- temporary differences related to investment in
subsidiaries, associates and joint venture to the extent
that the Group is able to control the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable
that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future;

— taxable temporary differences arising on the initial
recognition of goodwill; and

— those related to the income taxes arising from tax laws
enacted or substantively enacted to implement the
Pillar Two model rules published by the Organization
for Economic Co-operation and Development.

The Group recognized deferred tax assets and deferred
tax liabilities separately in relation to its lease liabilities and
right-of-use assets.

Deferred tax assets are recognized for unused tax losses,
unused tax credits and deductible temporary differences
to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits
will be available against which they can be used. Future
taxable profits are determined based on the reversal of
relevant taxable temporary differences. If the amount of
taxable temporary differences is insufficient to recognize
a deferred tax asset in full, then future taxable profits,
adjusted for reversals of existing temporary differences,
are considered, based on the business plans for individual
subsidiaries in the Group. Deferred tax assets are reviewed
at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be
realized; such reductions are reversed when the probability
of future taxable profits improves.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B} BH3ERHIN

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(u) Income tax (continued)

The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which
the Group expects, at the reporting date, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain
criteria are met.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Generally provisions are determined by discounting the
expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects
current market assessment of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the liability.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed
as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle
a provision is expected to be reimbursed by another
party, a separate asset is recognized for any expected
reimbursement that would be virtually certain. The amount
recognized for the reimbursement is limited to the carrying
amount of the provision.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o MBI RME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LAAREEFIIR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 ERESTTHEGE)

(continued)

(w) Revenue and other income (w) Uz K H b W A
Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises REERARER —REKBIZFRH
from the sale of goods and the provision of services in the EERRRERBOWMADIEAK
ordinary course of the Group's business. o

BN EE W & H b IR A TR

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income

recognition policies are as follows: RZE—FFBEWOT -

(i) Revenue from contracts with customers (i) FFE&#KZ
The Group is the principal for its revenue transactions AEERERERFIHEFTA
and recognizes revenue on a gross basis, including LEREERNE - BREEENE

the sale of goods and equipment that are sourced
externally. In determining whether the Group acts
as a principal or as an agent, it considers whether it
obtains control of the products or services before
they are transferred to the customers. Control refers
to the Group's ability to direct the use of and obtain
substantially all of the remaining benefits from the
products or services.

Revenue is recognized when control over a product or
service is transferred to the customer at the amount
of promised consideration to which the Group is
expected to be entitled, excluding those amounts
collected on behalf of third parties such as value
added tax on other sales taxes. The Group's revenue is
derived from the following sources:

RENEmRRE EEELRE
l%f’ﬁ%?%)\%%?ﬁ%ﬁﬁ/\

BEREEMIBRBERS
Eﬁﬁﬁﬁ%@% THEmI AR
BVPEIME - IR AEE TS
EE SRSk AR 7S MO {52 AR I L B R AR
BHESEL LB RARTER

2k
BE °

EEMmAMBOEHRBAE
EENARERNAGRHES
B(TEERRF=ZTERBNE
B PlanE Al E B A IB(EH)
BREEEE > Wa TR -
AREBNHREREATHRIR :



Annual Report 3§ 2024 139

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LALAREEFIIR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2 EXREFEEE)

) ez R AU (48D
() BFEKYE ()

(w) Revenue and other income (continued) (w)

(i) Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

(a) Sales of freshly-made tea drinks, baked goods and

other products and services through teahouses
Revenue from sales through teahouses are
primarily related to (i) the sales of various freshly-
made tea drinks such as fruit tea drinks; (ii)
sales of baked goods such as breads, cakes and
desserts which complement the freshly-made tea
drinks; and (iii) sales of seasonal gift boxes and
other products. Revenue from the sales through
teahouses is recognized at the point in time when
the customers accept the ordered products and
the control over the products is transferred to the
customer. For orders from online food delivery
applications, revenue is recognized at the point
in time when the goods are delivered to the
customers, which is the point of time when the
control over the products is transferred to the
customer.

Discount vouchers and free vouchers for
complimentary drinks and baked products

From time to time, the Group offers its customers
discount vouchers and free vouchers for
complimentary drinks, baked goods and other
products. The discount vouchers and free vouchers
for complimentary drinks, baked goods and other
products can be obtained through three channels:
(i) from qualified purchases when the customers
reach certain amount of spending; (ii) from
redemption of membership points accumulated
from the membership programs of the Group; (iii)
distributed for free of charge by the Group through
various promotional and advertising activities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o MBI RME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LAAREEFIIR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2 EXREFEEE)

) ez R AU (48D
() BFEKYE ()

(w) Revenue and other income (continued) (w)

(i) Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

(a) Sales of freshly-made tea drinks, baked goods and (a) BBRFEHERBAK -

other products and services through teahouses
(continued)

Discount vouchers and free vouchers for
complimentary drinks and baked products
(continued)

As the discount vouchers and free vouchers for
complimentary drinks, baked goods and other
products obtained through channels (i) and (ii)
are issued concurrent with a revenue transaction,
the Group estimates the value of the future
redemption obligation based on the estimated
value of the products for which the discount
vouchers and free vouchers for complimentary
drinks, baked goods and other products are
expected to be redeemed, and recognizes
the estimated fair value as contract liability.
Subsequently, contract liability is recognized as
revenue at the point in time when the customer
redeems the discount vouchers and free vouchers
for complimentary drinks, baked goods and other
products in future purchases, or when the Group
is legally released from its obligation based on the
expiration date of the discount vouchers and free
vouchers.

For discount vouchers obtained through channel
(iii) for which the granting of such discount
vouchers does not occur concurrently with a
revenue transaction, the discount vouchers are not
accounted for when such vouchers are granted and
can only be applied to future purchases of certain
specified products of the Group. The Group
recognizes as a reduction in revenue when the
customers apply the discount vouchers in future
purchases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LALAREEFIIR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2 EXREFEEE)

) ez R AU (48D
() BFEKYE ()

(w) Revenue and other income (continued) (w)

(i) Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

(a) Sales of freshly-made tea drinks, baked goods and (a) BBRFEHERBAK -

other products and services through teahouses
(continued)

Prepaid cards

The Group also offers prepaid cards to its
customers and the cash consideration received
from the sales of prepaid cards are recognized as
contract liabilities. Revenues are recognized upon
the usage of the prepaid cards.

Membership program

The Group offers customers a membership
program for which its customers can earn
membership points from qualified purchases.
The membership points can be used to redeem
discount vouchers, cell phone accessories and
other accessories related to the brandings of the
Group.

Customers membership points earned through
qualified purchases are considered as a separate
performance obligation arising from transactions
with customers. The Group estimates the value
of the future redemption obligation based on
the estimated value of the products for which the
membership points are expected to be redeemed
based on historical redemption patterns, including
an estimate of the breakage for points that will not
be redeemed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o MBI RME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LAAREEFIIR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 BEREBR(E)
(continued)
(w) Revenue and other income (continued) (w) Wz R EH I A (E)
(i) Revenue from contracts with customers () EFPAE#MzE(E)
(continued)
(b) Sales of ready-to-drink beverage (b) SHEMRERE
Revenue from sales of ready-to-drink beverage is MESENEEREEE SR
recognized at the point in time when control of the o0 | M B XX R R PR B
product is transferred to the customer, generally R —RAXEREE
on delivery of the goods. Re
Volume rebates $HE BB HTH
The Group typically offers customers of ready- EEFEERESARNEE
to-drink beverage retrospective volume rebates EZIWHMENPIER - AEEH
when their purchases reach an agreed threshold. AEemEREENIEEE
Such rights of volume rebates give rise to variable Bhirin - 2 FHE BRI
consideration. The Group uses an expected value BeELnHEHE  AEH
approach to estimate variable consideration based BIBFARSEE R R ARKAZE
on the Group's current and future performance BEREUNMB A ERERS
expectations and all information that is reasonably MEE - KABHEEER
available. This estimated amount is included in the FIATEEE c ZAATEEE
transaction price to the extent it is highly probable SEXRZERT AR E
that a significant reversal of cumulative revenue A B EREN T T M
recognized will not occur when the uncertainty BEFAR - EERNERET
associated with the variable consideration is WRRATGE NS B AEFANE
resolved. At the time of sale of products, the M- EHEERF  A5E
Group recognizes revenue after taking into T;E%I‘E B 3t A B 05| #E A
account adjustment to transaction price arising RHERFERERLE °
from rebates as mentioned above. A refund R B E TS TR HA R 0
liability is recognized for the expected rebates, EITHERR - Wt AR M FE

and is included in other payables. FIE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LALAREEFIIR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2 EXREFEEE)

(w) Was e H A WA (48)
() BEFE#H S ()

(w) Revenue and other income (continued)

(i) Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

(c) Sales of goods and equipment and provision of

services to franchisees

Sales of goods and equipment

The Group enters into a series of agreements with
each franchisee, which mainly include a license
agreement and a sales agreement (collectively
“Franchise Agreements”), whereby the franchisees
are licensed to operate the franchised stores and
are authorized to sell, in their own stores, the
freshly-made tea drinks, baked goods and other
products made by certain equipment and raw
materials purchased from the Group. Revenue
from sale of goods and equipment to franchisees
is recognized at the point in time when the goods
and equipment are delivered to the customers,
which is the point of time when the control over
the goods and equipment is transferred to the
franchisees.

Provision of franchise services

For income from initial franchise fees, franchisees
are required to provide non-refundable upfront
payments in exchange for the franchise right,
which represent primarily their right to access
the Group's brand name and trademarks and
is recognized on a straight-line basis over the
expected franchise period, typically of 3 to 5
years. In addition, franchisees are also required
to pay franchise service fees including (i) pre-
opening comprehensive service fee for market
and location analysis and opening operation
guidance; and (ii) pre-opening training service.
Revenue is recognized when the related services
are rendered as the customer simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits provided
by the Group. The pre-opening comprehensive
service and pre-opening training services provided
to the franchisees are considered to be distinct as
the service contents are largely unrelated to the
Group's brand name and trademarks.

(c)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o MBI RME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B} BH3ERHIN

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(w) Revenue and other income (continued)

(i) Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

(c)

Sales of goods and equipment and provision of
services to franchisees (continued)

For income from continuing support service fees,
the franchisees receive ongoing operational
support services, which are highly interrelated
with the franchise right from the Group during
the franchise period, and pay continuing support
services fee, which is determined based on a
fixed percentage of the applicable franchisee’s
actual income. Continuing supporting service fee
is recognized as revenue when the related sales

occur.

Franchisees are required to make a deposit, which
is refundable at the termination of the Franchise
Agreement, to guarantee its proper performance
of contractual obligations during the franchise
period. The Group determines that the payment
terms for non-refundable upfront initial fee and
the deposit were structured primarily for reasons
other than the provision of finance to the Group.
Accordingly, the Group has determined that
Franchise Agreements do not include a significant
financing component.

(ii) Revenue from other sources and other income

(a)

Dividends

Dividend income is recognized in profit or loss
on the date on which the group’s right to receive
payment is established.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B} BH3ERHIN

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(w) Revenue and other income (continued)

(i) Revenue from other sources and other income
(continued)

(b)

Interest income

Interest income is recognized using the effective
interest method. The “effective interest rate” is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the financial
assets to the gross carrying amount of the financial
assets. In calculating interest income, the effective
interest rate is applied to the gross carrying
amount of the asset.

Government grants
Government grants are recognized in the
statement of financial position initially when there
is reasonable assurance that they will be received
and that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them.

Grants that compensate the Group for expenses
incurred are recognized as income in profit or loss
on a systematic basis in the same years in which the
expenses are incurred.

Grants that compensate the Group for the cost of
an asset are deducted from the carrying amount
of the asset and consequently are effectively
recognized in profit or loss over the useful life of
the asset by way of reduced depreciation expense.

Service income

Service income relates to the Group's offer of
certain spaces to portable mobile phone charger’s
provider for the instalment of the portable mobile
phone charger facilities within the Group's
teahouses for the conveniences of its customers.

Service income is recognized overtime when
the Group satisfies the performance obligation
according to the service contract.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o MBI RME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LAAREEFIIR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2 EXREFEEE)

(w) Heas B I (48)

(w) Revenue and other income (continued)

(i) Revenue from other sources and other income
(continued)

(e) Trademark licensing income

Trademark licensing income relates to the Group’s
granting of permission to certain collaborated
parties to use its brands on certain agreed
commercial products. Trademark licensing income
is recognized overtime when the Group satisfies
the performance obligation according to the
licensing agreement.

(f) Rental income from operating leases
Rental income from operating leases consists of
variable lease payments that do not depend on
an index or a rate are recognized as income in the
accounting period in which they are earned.

(x) Translation of foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the
respective functional currencies of group companies at the
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated into the functional currency at the
exchange rate at the reporting date. Non-monetary assets
and liabilities that are measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated into the functional currency at the
exchange rate when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary assets and liabilities that are measured based
on historical cost in a foreign currency are translated at
the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign
currency differences are generally recognized in profit or
loss.

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are
translated into RMB at the exchange rates at the reporting
date. The income and expenses of foreign operations are
translated into RMB at the exchange rates at the dates of
the transactions.

Foreign currency differences are recognized in OCI and
accumulated in the exchange reserve, except to the extent
that the translation difference is allocated to NCI.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

& M35 3R RO E

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LALAREEFIIR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(y) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they
are incurred.

(z) Research and development expenses

Research and development expenses comprise all
expenses that are directly attributable to research
and development activities or that can be allocated
on a reasonable basis to such activities. Research and
development expenses are recognized as expenses in the
period in which they are incurred.

(aa)Related parties

(a) A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is @ member of the key management personnel of
the Group or the Group's parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

i & M35 3R RO EE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LAAREEFIIR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(aa)Related parties (continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies: (continued)

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

(vii)The entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the Group's parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the
entity.

(ab) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the
Group's most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group's various lines of business and
geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are
similar in respect of the nature of products and services,
the nature of production processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute the products
or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

& M35 3R RO E

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LALAREEFIIR)

3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES

Notes 26 and 28(e) contains information about the assumptions
and their risk factors relating to fair value of financial assets, fair
value of RSUs and share options granted under share incentive
scheme. Other significant sources of estimation uncertainty in
the process of applying the Group's accounting policies are as
follows:

(i) Impairment of property and equipment and
right-of-use assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period to assess whether there
is any indication that property and equipment or right-of-
use assets may be impaired. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the property and equipment
and right-of-use assets is estimated. Changes in facts and
circumstances may result in revisions to the conclusion of
whether an indication of impairment exists and revised
estimates of recoverable amounts, which would affect
profit or loss in future periods.

(ii) Recognition of deferred tax asset

Deferred tax assets are recognized in respect of
deductible temporary differences. As those deferred
tax assets can only be recognized to the extent that it
is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences can
be utilized, management’s judgment is required to assess
the probability of future taxable profits. Management's
assessment is revised as necessary and additional deferred
tax assets are recognized if it becomes probable that
future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be
recovered.

2 R A E

MisE26 K 28(e)H A R EEN AR B
B« BRmEEEET 8T8 T TR 5 R 5 A%
DEMLRBERENAABEABOBR
MERBAZMER - RIRNAEES
ATBCR A IBR P AT T EERMEM
FERRIT :

G)E%&&%M&@%%ﬁ%ﬁ
NI E RS HIRE B A RB AL SN
REME BRR - AT ¥ K& HE
KEREEELS G EFARED
ReMHREAMERTR - Bl&M
AMERREAREREEENA]
WEHE - ZTERBROES A6
SEPHETHRABESRNER
AT Yy Bl SRR Y (R ETHE B ET - 1
i 578 R R 2 ) M B 1R -

(i) ERELRBEE
BERERBREEDRAENEREE
MR - ARNEES RRERD G
BT AR 1 1 5K T 20 A8 & A IR 0 B
HEENBAT T EERAZFEL
MIAEE - tHE B BRI H & A
AT 1/ BE 2B R R R SR k) B9 AT B
- BEEEMFNIEEERTE
RHERT - fis R 2K FE SR B M| AT BE <
BIETRIRE ERIE - RIS RERR
SMEERIR B EE °



150 Nayuki Holdings Limited - 2B #2512l AR A &)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o MBI RME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LAAREEFIIR)

3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

(iii) Depreciation (i) T &

3 ZEFHE R (&)

Property and equipment and right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the estimated
useful lives of the assets. The Group reviews the estimated
useful lives of the assets regularly in order to determine the
amount of depreciation expense to be recorded during any
reporting period. The useful lives are based on the Group's
historical experience with similar assets. The depreciation
expense for future years is adjusted if there are material
changes from previous estimates.

(iv) Determining the lease term

As explained in note 2(j), the lease liability is initially
recognized at the present value of the lease payments
payable over the lease term. In determining the lease
term at the commencement date for leases that include
renewal options exercisable by the Group, the Group
evaluates the likelihood of exercising the renewal options
taking into account all relevant facts and circumstances
that create an economic incentive for the Group to
exercise the option, including favorable terms, leasehold
improvements undertaken and the importance of that
underlying asset to the Group’s operation. The lease term
is reassessed when there is a significant event or significant
change in circumstance that is within the Group’s control.
Any increase or decrease in the lease term would affect
the amount of lease liabilities and right-of-use assets
recognized in future years.

—
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LALAREEFIIR)

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 4 WERkDBHRE
(a) Revenue (a) Uzs
The Group principally generates its revenue from (i) the $’$.E’JH& SEZRER()EBEL
sales of freshly-made tea drinks, baked goods and other BRRERE ?L?I\EW%EV&
products and services through its operating teahouses, MEBEHEERARK  HEERA
online food delivery applications and franchisees; and REMERRERSE  Rii)sEHmE
(i) the sales of ready-to-drink beverage. Further details R BRAAEBR T E/EHAE—
regarding the Group’s principal activities are disclosed in B IBRMTE4(b) R -
note 4(b).
(i) Disaggregation of revenue () e
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with BEFEERMREERERE S
customers by major products and timing of revenue MEFEALWZBMIT

recognition is as follows:

2024 2023
2024%F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBTT

Revenue from contracts with BRI EERE155%
customers within the scope of BEEANEFEHAWE
IFRS 15

Disaggregated by major products REZEMEID

— Sales of freshly-made tea drinks — $HEIH RIS R 3,388,398 3,776,943
— Sales of ready-to-drink beverage — S E R R 293,307 266,619
— Sales of baked goods and — SHE HEEE A R H e
other revenue 1,239,496 1,120,494
4,921,201 5,164,056
During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group B ZE2024F12A31AILFE -
did not have any customer with which transactions have AEBVEREMEF X SHEA
exceeded 10% of the Group's total revenue (2023: nil). AREBE U EZE10% (20234 -

&) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

i & M35 3R RO EE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B} BH3ERHIN

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

(continued)

(a) Revenue (continued)

AANREEDITR)

(i) Performance obligation and revenue recognition

policies

Revenue is measured based on the consideration
specified in a contract with a customer. The Group
recognizes revenue when it transfers control over a
good or service to a customer. Information about the
nature and timing of the satisfaction of performance
obligations in contracts with customers and the related
revenue recognition policies are set out in note 2(w).

(iii) Revenue expected to be recognized in the future

arising from contracts in existence as at the end
of the reporting period

Contracts within the scope of IFRS 15

As at December 31, 2024, the aggregated amount
of the transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations under the Group’s existing
contracts is RMB7,794,000 (2023: RMB7,844,000). This
amount represents revenue expected to be recognized
in the future when the Group satisfies the remaining
performance obligations, which is expected to occur
over the next 1 to 12 months (2023: 1 to 12 months).

(b) Segment reporting

The Group manages its businesses by business lines. In

a manner consistent with the way in which information is

reported internally to the Group’s most senior executive

management for the purposes of resource allocation and

performance assessment, the Group has identified two

reportable segments. No operating segments have been

aggregated to form the following reportable segments.

e Freshly-made tea drinks business and franchise

operations: this segment mainly offers freshly-made
tea drinks, baked goods and other products and
services through operating teahouses, online food
delivery applications and franchisees.

Ready-to-drink beverage business: this segment mainly
offers ready-to-drink beverage through distribution
network.

4 WaKkoEBHRE
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(iii)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

(continued)

(b) Segment reporting (continued)

(i) Segment results

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B} BH3ERHIN

(b)

Apart from freshly-made tea drinks business and

franchise operations, revenue from other business

segment of the Group is less than 10% of the Group's

consolidated revenue, separate segment information is

not considered necessary.

(ii)

Geographic information

As substantially most of the Group’s operations and
assets are in the PRC, no geographic information is

presented.

5 OTHER INCOME

& M35 3R RO E

AANREEDIR)

K

4 Wmk o E®E (F)

DE R (&)

(i) DESEAE
BRIR BIZS RS KON B8R JE B
G REBEHMERD BA WS
DRAEEGZERZERI10% -
I R EB A HEETIENE
ERE o

(i) HblE EF}
AR AEEETRBEERNEE
BARE - BEEZ R E
e

5 HftlgA

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T ARETIT
Interest income on: AT &IBRFEHRA :
— bank deposits —IRITIERK 3,724 14,223
— term deposits — FHER 113,923 112,063
— rental deposits —MHE%® 3,866 5,994
Government grants (note (i) AT 48 B (BT 3E () 36,104 35,333
Dividend income from listed equity R ETIRERE 2 R B A
investment 132 -
Additional deduction of TR L (BT A9 BN (B 3E i)
input VAT (note (ii)) - 18,877
157,749 186,490

Notes:

(i)  Government grants mainly represented unconditional cash awards granted (i)
by the government authorities in the PRC. During the year, government
grants received by certain subsidiaries were mainly related to foreign

investment incentives.

(i) The amount represented 10% additional deduction of input VAT in (ii)
consumer service industry upon satisfaction of certain applicable regulatory
criteria pursuant to the current tax policies in the PRC.

T 48 B == 22 45 vh B RO BURT 486 B 4 7 B S f6R R
R - FR - & T B QRIS BT
By E R EIRIMEERE AR -

ZEEEKBTRRTHURERNREETE
FI B BB 1 % 2 PR 5 22 10 THU (L B A
10% 39N, -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o MBI RME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LAAREEFIIR)

6 (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

(Loss)/profit before taxation is arrived at after charging:

6 BRBLAT(ER), EF
BB AT (BSIR) i P T M b T T

=] .
=m -

(a) BEE KA

(a) Finance costs

2024 2023
2024%F 20234
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥ETF T ARETTT
Interest on lease liabilities (note 18(c)) HEBGEF B (MFE18(c) 67,235 64,797
Interest on provisions (note 24) BB B (M5E24) 1,559 1,076
Interest on bank loans RITE A E 69 -
68,863 65,873
(b) Staff costs (including directors’ emoluments) b) ETKAN(BRESME)
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®T ARBT T
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TEKEMET 868,068 915,618
Contributions to defined contribution TE R SR IRET Sk

retirement plan (note(i)) (BFH#EG)) 71,416 64,057

Equity-settled share-based payment VARE 25 45 B AR 17 B EERE Y
expenses (note 26) RERF X (i EE26) 7,568 9,746
947,052 989,421
Outsourced staff costs SNELB TR 487,552 414,447
1,434,604 1,403,868

Note: Bt
(i)  Contributions to these plans are expensed as incurred and not () MZEFEARKNELERZE  mMEER

FEERIS 2 B R BTR R8I i 108 Uk o ¢
A& R EFR L F R

reduced by contributions forfeited by those employees who leave the
plans prior to vesting fully in the contributions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LALAREEFIIR)

6 (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION
(continued)

6 BR¥LAT(EE) EF (E)

(c) Other expenses (c) EfhFix
2024 2023
2024% 20234
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
Administrative expenses fTERBA X 147,268 150,558
Travelling and business development ERREBRERSY
expenses 45,193 49,785
Other-party service fees Hith 5 R7E & 12,488 13,626
Impairment losses WIEEE
- property and equipment (note 11(a)) ~ —#EERE(KIEE11(a) 106,105 8,811
— right-of-use assets (note 11(a)) —EREEE(ME11(a) - 4,488
— interests in associates (note 13(iii)) —REE RN R
(B E13(ii)) 155,437 -
Write-down of inventories (note 16(b)) Mo FE (sE16(b)) 1,860 745
Commissions & 11,405 13,191
Bank charge RITE A 8,249 6,838
Auditors’ remuneration % EET BN &
— audit services — BZ R 2,200 2,200
— interim review —hHEiZER 700 700
Others Hith 5,351 10,359
496,256 261,301
(d) Other items (d) EuIB B
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETIT
Amortization cost of intangible assets BB E B SHRCR 236 165
Depreciation (note 11) W& (HaE11)
— property and equipment e EVE L 335,267 304,274
— right-of-use assets —(FAHEEE 413,223 411,588
748,490 715,862
Other rentals and related expenses Hib 5 MBS 274,751 306,258
Cost of inventories (notes (i), 16(b)) FERAR (M) ~ 16(b)) 1,809,010 1,699,442

Note:

(i)  Cost of inventories mainly represented raw materials and consumables
consumed during the sales of freshly-made tea drinks, baked goods

and other products.

FERAEZHERHERURK - HIRE
ah A B L 22 i 55 OB AR B IR 1 OB R

=}
an °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o MBI RME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LAAREEFIIR)

6 (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 6 BRBEAT(EE) EF(F)
(continued)
(e) Other net losses (e) BB 1E F5E
2024 2023
2024 %F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETT

Loss on disposal of non-current assets HEFRBDEE(TERE
excluding right-of-use assets FREEE)NEIE 85,324 44,077
Loss on stores closures IEREENEE 8,826 6,020

Loss on disposal financial assets at FVTPL HE LA R EBE S 8 HEH
FABHESENEREERN

&8 37,299 —
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary REMB AR EE 71 =
Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets ~ HE&FAEEENNKE (44,866) (9,162)
Gain on forward foreign exchange EANES K
contracts = (6,4606)
Loss on foreign currency exchange YN B SR g5 18 1,608 5,983
Others EAh 2,108 5,460
90,370 45,912
7 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 7 RFEEBARZAER
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
(a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit (a) TR ERRIMIER ¢
or loss represents:
2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARET T

Current tax BNEABE 18
Provision for the year (note 25(a)) FABE(H7E250)) 104 1,042
Over provision (note 25(a)) HRRR B (M 5E25(a)) (829) (676)
(725) 366
Deferred tax EEBR
Reversal of temporary differences 7 O 5 i = 5 (B RE25(b))
(note 25(b)) 57,219 (5,422)

56,494 (5,056)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LALAREEFIIR)

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 7
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
(continued)

REEBRERZAEH(E)

by RER MR H ZHIARM
%/ (%) Rest(BiE), 8

(b) Reconciliation between tax expense/(credit) and
accounting (loss)/profit at applicable tax rates:

Mz EERATE -
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARBTT
(Loss)/profit before taxation MEiRT(ER), % F (869,761) 6,110
Calculated at the rates applicable LRERBARAEEEE 2
to (loss)/profit in the jurisdictions (E518) R E A
concerned MEFE (158,812) (19,951)
Effect of preferential income tax rates of & THIB AR MNERMERE
certain subsidiaries Hy s & 4,274 (6,643)
Additional deduction for qualified BB IR AR EE SN BR
research and development costs (4,828) (4,893)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses TTTD?RE%?E’J?R?%%; 3,412 6,663
Tax effect of over provision HERENT B E (829) (676)
Effect of non-taxable income TREWAZE (7,690) =
Effect of changes in tax rates TR A 2 (352) -
Tax effect of unused tax losses and RIERRB AR IBEE R
deductible temporary differences not AR g EEL
recognized g & 169,539 36,923
Tax effect of utilization of tax losses and  FA & Al 4F & R W R FI R FL 75
deductible temporary differences not RN EREEY
recognized in previous years g & (17,977) (6,825)
Recognize the effect of tax losses and TR LA BT G [E AR MR AR
deductible temporary differences HIBEEMNHIEEER
for which deferred tax asset was not AIENEREENTE
recognized in previous years - (29,243)
Reversal of previously recognized ol Se A sR ) T AR I B By
deductible temporary differences =8 69,757 19,589
Actual tax expenses/(credit) ERBERS(Ef) 56,494 (5,056)
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B} BH3ERHIN

7

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
(continued)

(b) Reconciliation between tax expense/(credit) and
accounting (loss)/profit at applicable tax rates:
(continued)

Notes:

U]

(i)

(iii)

(vii)

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands and
the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI"), the Group is not subject to any
income tax in the Cayman Islands and the BVI.

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax is subject to Hong Kong's
two-tiered profits tax regime, under which the tax rate is 8.25% for
assessable profits on the first Hong Kong Dollars (“HKD") 2,000,000
and 16.5% for any assessable profits in excess of HKD2,000,000. The
Group's subsidiaries in Hong Kong did not have any assessable profits
for the year ended December 31, 2024 (2023: nil).

Taxable income for the Group's subsidiaries in the PRC is subject to
PRC income tax rate of 25% for the year ended December 31, 2024
(2023: 25%), unless otherwise specified below.

Certain subsidiaries fulfilled the criteria required for preferential
income tax rate granted to small and low profit-making enterprise
in the PRC and were entitled to a preferential income tax rate of
5% on taxable income for the first RMB3,000,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2024 and 2023.

A subsidiary is accredited as a "high and new technology enterprise”
and applicable for a preferential enterprise income tax rate of 15%
during the year ended December 31, 2024 (2023: 15%).

The subsidiaries in the United States of America and Japan of
the Group did not have any assessable profits for the year ended
December 31, 2024 (2023: nil).

Under the competent Thailand tax laws and regulations, the subsidiary
incorporated in Thailand is subject to a tax rate of 20% on its
assessable income.

Under the competent Malaysia tax laws and regulations, the subsidiary
incorporated in Malaysia is subject to a tax rate of 17% on its
assessable income.

Under the competent Indonesia tax laws and regulations, the
subsidiary incorporated in Indonesia is subject to a tax rate of 22% on
its assessable income.

AANREEDITR)

7

REEBRERZAEH(E)

b REAREFE Z2NIER
X (Be) ke (Ei8), &
Mz SR - (8)

GERE

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

REASHESRABEMRES ([ LB
BRESDNRARER  AEBHE
BRENHERERABERREEMS
B o

EENEHAREENESHEMRSIETIR
% H P 2,000,000 ([ 7T])
JER B FIIA8.25% M B R B R B i
2,000,000 7t B £E{7] P& ER B 08 A1 LA 16.5%
MR - AEERBEAOHBRRIR
HZE2024F 12831 B L FE AW EAT &
SRR F (20234 : ) o

BRTXAEREIN  BLE2024F12831
BIEEE - ANEE P BB 58 ERB
W A 7832 Bl FR 15 B B R 25% M i (2023
& 1 25%) °

B E 20244 K 2023F12A31HILFE -
ETHEBRRRELKE TH B/ RAKFE
CEEBMEMRBRAORTIRE - LHE
BER T A B AR % 3,000,000 F
BERHBEBRFEBBE -

HZE2024F12B31BILEE - —HWEB
ARAERER [RFHMEE] - BA15%
BB EFMERBIE (20235 : 15%) ©

HE2024F12A3BLEFE - ZEER
EFRE RE R AR B A B & EA
JERBLEF (20234 « £&) ©

RBFEEETERER - NEBEMAK
7B TS A Rt EER TR UK A 32 20% 7%
KA

RIBFREEETEBERER - RERA
B REAT AR SZ A BT B A B R 3t EL RE R B
BT %IRRT

RIBENEEEBOEREMR - RENEEMAL
7B TS A Rt EER TR UL A 3R 22% %
RIXTL ©
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LALAREEFIIR)

8 DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1)

8 EEFHM
RIEEE A T 5015 38315 (1) R A (#
BEEHEEN)ANEHRBENES
FEHMT :

of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation are as follows:

Year ended December 31, 2024

BZ2024512A31ALEE
Salaries,
allowances Retirement Share-based
Directors'’  and other Discretionary scheme  payments
fees benefits bonuses contributions  (note 2(t)) Total
e DR R
EHR Bfhe ERNME
¥ 0k HipER HiERA SrEfE (FE2w) @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AR¥Tn AR®TR AR¥TnT ARETn AR%Tzn
Chairman EER
Mr. Zhao Lin il e - 1,262 - 102 - 1,364
Executive directors HTES
Ms. Peng Xin ZORT - 1,680 - 52 - 1,732
Mr. Deng Bin (note (vi)) B (B aE(vi)) = 954 = 52 447 1,453
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Mr. Wong Tak-wai (note (v)) BEELA (M) = = - - - -
Mr. Ma Yanjun (note (v)) B k{4 (MsEw)) - - - - - _
Mr. Wei Guoxing ME@ELE = - - - - -
Independent Non-executive BUFGTES
Directors
Mr. Liu Yiwei HRBEE 110 - - - - 110
Mr. Xie Yongming AKRAEE 110 - - - - 110
Ms. Zhang Rui RELT 110 - - - - 110
330 3,896 - 206 447 4,879
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8 DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS (continued) 8 EEHM(E)

Year ended December 31, 2023

HENRE12A3NBILFR
Salaries,
allowances Retirement  Share-based
Directors'  and other Discretionary scheme  payments
fees benefits bonuses contributions (note 2(t)) Total
E PARR AR B
2H R Rike  EROFK
ExHe  HEuBNM  BERL GRS (WE) &5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETT ARETR AREBTRT ARETR ARETR
Chairman 4
Mr. Zhao Lin Vi3 - 1,264 319 92 - 1,675
Executive directors WTES
Ms. Peng Xin ZLRT - 1,51 444 67 - 2,022
Mr. Deng Bin (note (vi) B0 %0 (B (vi)) - 922 456 42 461 1,881
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Mr. Pan Pan (note (i)) AR () - - - - _ _
Mr. Wei Guoxing (note (ii)) PREDERSE A (PEEGi)) - - - - - -
Mr. Wong Tak-wai (note (v)) BEREE(MEWY) - _ _ _ B B
Independent Non-executive BUFHITES
Directors
Mr. Chen Qunsheng (note (iii) BREHE A (I REGi) 3 = = = = 3
Mr. Liu Yiwei AREBREE 108 = = = = 108
Mr. Xie Yongming (note (iv)) A (B Gv) 46 = = = = 46
Ms. Zhang Rui RERT 108 - - - - 108
298 3,697 1,219 201 461 5876
Notes: MiEE -
() Mr. Pan Pan resigned from his position as a non-executive director on (i) SBEEAN2023F12A 228 BHEEMTES o
December 22, 2023.
(i)  Mr. Wei Guoxing was appointed as a non-executive director on December (i) BRI AEFA20235E 12 A22 B B E T AIEHIT
22, 2023. g
(iiiy Mr. Chen Qunsheng resigned from his position as an independent non- (iii) PREEAE 554 720234 4 A 30 B B L8 3 3EER 1T
executive director on April 30, 2023. EED
(iv)  Mr. Xie Yongming was appointed as an independent non-executive director (iv) HIKBASEAEMR2023%E7 A28 AR BB IE
on July 28, 2023. HITEE o
(v)  Mr. Wong Tak-wai was resigned from his position as an independent non- () EEBEEBEEBIENTES  MEMEL

executive director and Mr. Ma Yanjun was appointed as an independent
non-executive director on May 17, 2024, respectively.

EORRERBULIFNTES - 5 5I1R20245
SA17RAER °
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8 DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(vi) Subsequent to December 31, 2024, Mr. Deng Bin was resigned from his
position as an executive director on February 26, 2025.

(vii) These represent the estimate value of share options granted to the directors
under the share option plan (note 26). The value of these share options
is measured according to the Group's accounting policy for share-based
payments as set out in note 2(t)(iii).

During the year ended December 31, 2024, there were no amounts paid or
payable by the Group to the directors or any of the highest paid individuals
set out in note 9 below as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group
or as a compensation for loss of office (2023: nil). There was no arrangement
under which a director waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during
the year ended December 31, 2024 (2023: nil).

(viii

9 INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two (2023:
one) of them are directors whose emoluments are disclosed in
note 8.

The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the three (2023:
four) individuals are as follows:

& M35 3R RO E

AANREEDIR)

8 EEHM(E)

s (8

(vi) F2024F12A3181% - BW %&£ £ B R202552
FA26EBHIHITES »

i) HES TR BB R 8 (I26) RTEF
2 AR (S - SAK 2R -
B 2 (B Ty IR A SR B AR 9 25 R 3K
ZHHBRE -

REBZE2024F12A31BILLFE - AEEHER
EEZR XA EEAEmTFMA Tk
FERHERFRIBIE A I ASKINA AR K B 14 K H2E)
RUEABERE (202346 : &) - WEBEES
REZE2024F12A31B L FERESRRBRE
EAIF A Bk (20235 : &) -

REFMAL

(viii

AZEEEHMALE - WA (2023F + —
B)EENNESAHI TSR E -

BB T =2(20234F : &) ATHBY
THEBWAT

2024 2023

20244 20234

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR®ET T AREFIT

Salaries and other emoluments FekEMmiNe 5,160 5,585
Discretionary bonuses IS EAL - 2,871
Share-based payments VAR 1 23 B B0 1T 3K 479 2,189
Retirement scheme contributions RIRET IR 97 132
5,736 10,777

The emoluments of the three (2023: four) individuals with the
highest emoluments are within the following bands:

=% (2023%F : M%) &= H A £ 70
ENFTINEE -

2024 2023

2024% 20234

Number of Number of

individuals individuals

AE A

HKD1,500,001 - HKD2,000,000 1,500,001 7t-2,000,000/%5 7T 1 -
HKD2,000,001 - HKD2,500,000 2,000,0017% 7t-2,500,0007% 7T 1 -
HKD2,500,001 - HKD3,000,000 2,500,0017% 7t-3,000,000/%5 7T 1 2
HKD3,000,001 - HKD3,500,000 3,000,0017% 7t-3,500,000/%5 7T = 2
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10 (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a) Basic (loss)/earnings per share

108K (BE) 27
(a) FRREXR(EE), B

The calculation of the basic (loss)/earnings per share is
based on the loss attributable to equity shareholders
of the Company of RMB917,287,000 (2023: profit of
RMB13,224,000) and the weighted average of 1,708,159,839
ordinary shares (2023: 1,715,126,147 ordinary shares)
calculated as follows:

BREX(EBE) BFDEAR
RAEEREERLEEBEEARE
917,287,0007C (20234 : ;@i F| A REE
13,224,0007% ) % 1,708,159,839 A% &
A% (20234 ¢ 1,715,126,147 3@
AR MRS - WETEMT ¢

2024 2023
20244 20234
Number of Number of
shares shares
idvip =] BiDE B

Issued shares at January 1,
Repurchase of ordinary shares [0l 4 & i AR

R1ATBERE#EITRG

1,715,126,147  1,715,126,147
(6,966,308) —

Weighted average number of
ordinary shares at December 31, IntE T8

R12A31BRE B

1,708,159,839 1,715,126,147

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group
repurchased the weighted average of 6,966,308 (2023:
nil) shares of the Group on the Stock Exchange at an
aggregate consideration of approximately HKD24,820,000
(equivalent to RMB22,641,000) (2023: nil), with highest price
paid per share of HKD3.07 (2023: nil) and lowest price paid
per share of HKD1.80 (2023: nil).

(b) Diluted (loss)/earnings per share

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share is calculated by adjusting
the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding to assume conversion of all dilutive potential
ordinary shares.

There were no diluted potential ordinary shares for the
years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023. Accordingly,
diluted (loss)/earnings per share for the years ended
December 31, 2024 and 2023 are same as basic (loss)/
earnings per share.

~

HE2024F12A31BIEFE » K&
& 7 Bt A2 By [B] B2 7K &2 1) 0 4 S 39 AR
196,966,308 1% (20234 : &) - 4%
18 5 #924,820,000 T (HEER AR
#22,641,0007T ) (20234 : &) -
M & = X 8 A3.077% 7T (20234 -
#£) BREEIXHER1.80E T
(20234 : ##) °

ShEE (B1R) 85

SRBE(FIB) /BFJERAE
BATIESN G BN HE T AR B - A
R AR 4G 10 P B8 B 7 3 B AR T A1

H o
Eal

B E2024F K 2023F12A31H IEF
EXEEEBEELTER - Al - &
E2024F 202312 A3 B ILEE
NEREE(EE) B EGRE
N(E8) BFIER -
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11 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT AND RIGHT-
OF-USE ASSETS

(a) Reconciliation of carrying amount

MYREREREABEE

(a) BREIE < ¥R

Office
building ~ Subtotal of
Electronic situated on Property  Property -
Leasehold Kitchen Furniture  equipment  Construction leasehold and  Right-of-use
impr JUif Juif and others  in progress land  equipment assets Total
fIEE
il L 53 1hEH ES LES
NERE BERR BERE  REREM HEIR e RENt  RREEE &t
RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ARMTR  ARBTR  ARMTR  ARBTR  ARMTR  ARBTR  ARMTR  ARETR
Cost: BA:
At January 1, 2023 RABEIAIA 804,658 377,168 61,325 187,476 16,057 166,717 1,613,401 2,207,899 3,821,300
Additions B
- Purchase -B8 - 122,69 32436 100,572 501,872 il 751,193 814,443 1,572,236
- Transfer from construction in progress  ~ERAERTRE 31,737 = = = (311,737) = = S =
Disposals B (144733) (35,334) (14,128) (17,434) - - (211,629) (372,722) (584,351)
Exchange adjustments ERBE 80 8 2 2 3 = 95 194 289
At December 31, 2023 R202312A318 971,742 464,534 79,635 210,616 206,195 166,938 2,159,660 2,649,814 4,809,474
At January 1, 2024 R20245151R 971,742 464,534 79,635 270,616 206,195 166,938 2,159,660 2,649,814 4,809,474
Additions HE
- Purchase -BE - 2,323 10972 35,670 94,662 - 165,627 356,546 522,173
~ Transfer from construction in progress  ~E&AEETHE 103,321 - - - (296,200) 192,879 - - -
Disposals e (236,506) (38,486) (14,165) (38,822) - - (327,979) (942,718)  (1,270,697)
Exchange adjustments ExA% (279) 22 (34) (34) 2 - (323) - (323)
At December 31, 2024 R2024512A31R 838,278 450,393 76,408 267,430 4,659 359,817 1,996,985 2,063,642 4,060,627
Accumulated depreciation: 2itiE
At January 1, 2023 RABF1A1A 368,019 101,869 11,49 96,701 - 1,688 519,711 928,190 1,507,961
Charge for the year Ll 198,177 74,884 15971 51725 - 3517 304,274 411,588 715,862
Written back on disposals HERER (109,072) (25,529) (8492) (11,849) - - (154,942) (303,795) (458,737)
Exchange adjustments B A% 83 1 1 - - - 51 155 206
At December 31, 2023 R2023512A31R 47,167 151,231 18,974 136,577 - 5,205 729,154 1,036,138 1,765,292
At January 1, 2024 ROUEIA1A 417,167 151,231 18,974 136,577 - 5,205 729,154 1,036,138 1,765,292
Charge for the year il 167,981 19,524 17,836 64,674 - 5,252 335,267 413,223 748,490
Written back on disposals HERRD (165,836) (39,497) (12,506) (36,910) - - (254,749) (612,135) (866,884)
Exchange adjustments ER5E 48 7 2 7 - - 64 54 118
At December 31, 2024 R2024%12A318 419,360 191,265 24,306 164,348 - 10,457 809,736 837,280 1,647,016
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11 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT AND RIGHT- MYERZERFEAEEE(E)
OF-USE ASSETS (continued)
(a) Reconciliation of carrying amount (continued) (a) BREIMEZHR(E)
Office
building ~ Subtotal of
Electronic situated on Property  Property -
Leasehold Kitchen Furniture  equipment  Construction leasehold and  Right-of-use
improvements  equipment  equipment  and others i progress land  equipment assets Total
fIVEE
HE g7 L ES nx-
NERE BERR KERE  REREM RRIE £ RN RRBEE &t

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARRTR  ARBTZ  ARMTR  ARRTR  ARWTR  ARRTR  ARMTR  ARETR  ARBTR

Impairment: HE:

At January 1, 2023 R023E1A18 8,557 197 4o 9 = - 9,543 6424 15967
Addtion FE 4,289 2,35 59 1574 - - 8811 4,488 13299
Written back on disposals HEREE (4.856) (876) (580) 757) = - (7,069) (6:424) (13493)
At December 31, 2023 R2023512831A 799 1477 452 1,166 = = 11,285 4488 15773
At January 1, 2024 20241818 7,990 1,677 452 1,166 = - 11,285 4,488 15,773
Addition HE 58,071 26,390 6,678 14,966 = = 106,105 = 106,105
Written back on disposals HERRD (38,662) (15,360) (3,878) (8,781) = = (66,681) (4,488) (71,169)
At December 31, 2024 R2024512831R 21,399 12,707 3,052 7,351 = = 50,709 = 50,709
Net book value: REFE:

At December 31, 2024 RA024E12A318 391,519 246,421 48,850 95,731 4,659 349,360 1136540 1,006,362 2,362,902

At December 31, 2023 R02BE12A318 546,585 311,626 60,209 132,873 206,19 161,733 1419.221 1,609,188 3,028,409
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11 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT AND RIGHT-
OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

(a) Reconciliation of carrying amount (continued)

MUERRERERAEEE (&)

(a) FREE 2 HRR (%)

Impairment loss

The recoverable amount of each teahouse (cash-
generating unit ("CGU") with indication of impairment is
estimated at the end of each reporting period. As at the
end of each reporting period, in view of the unfavorable
future prospects and poor performance of certain
teahouses, there were indications that the CGUs may
suffer an impairment loss. The management of the Group
has conducted impairment testing for teahouses with
impairment indications. The recoverable amount of each
CGU is determined based on value-in-use calculations
by preparing cash flow projections of the relevant CGU
derived from the most recent financial forecast approved
by the management covering the remaining lease term.
The cash flows are discounted using discount rate of
13.57%-28.96% as at December 31, 2024 (2023: 10.84%).
The discount rate used is pre-tax and reflects specific risks
relating to the relevant CGU.

As at December 31, 2024, the carrying amount of certain
CGUs exceeds their recoverable amount, therefore, an
impairment loss of RMB106,105,000 for property and
equipment within the CGU was recognized in “Other
expenses” in the consolidated statements of profit or
loss for the year ended December 31, 2024 (2023: an
impairment loss of RMB13,299,000 for property and
equipment and right-of-use assets).

JBL BT 18
REBRERRSHEFTERETRY
ZERFE(ReELBN([REESE
BAD)MIWESE RERED
R ERETERRIENRRITSE R
RARE BRRBETACELE
MATRE X BERE - AEBEEE
EBEETRENR SHEELAS
e E e EIRESFAEER
HHEAET  AER  REEREE
HEN ST AT EEANCRZESR T A
EMFITHBREEEEUNES
mETEA 0 A2024%12A31H » 18
S REHA13.57% & 28.96% )88
RBLIR (20234 : 10.84%) ° FT{EF
BB IR R TR AT I I bR B2 AH RE IR &
ELBMBENEERR -

2024128318 EFREESE
BAUMEEEBBE AT KE S5
it IR EABURNNYER
RERREEE AR 106,105,000
TL(20234F : W3 KGR R AE AR
BERBEBEAARE3,299,000
TT) YA E = 2024F 12 A3 B ILEE
MRS IBRR Al MY PR -



166 Nayuki Holdings Limited - Z=EMHZIERER D 7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o MBI RME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LAAREEFIIR)

11 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT AND RIGHT-
OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

(b) Right-of-use assets

MPERRBREREAEEE (F)

(b) EREEE
510 98 25 R 0 T B A M0 B SO

The analysis of expense items in relation to leases

recognized in profit or loss is as follows: BEDHT
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBT T
Depreciation charge of right-of-use RIABEEY ENERAEEE
assets by class of underlying asset: MITERY :
Property - right-of-use assets ME—(FREEE 413,223 411,588
Interest on lease liabilities (note 6(a)) HE & BN R (HEEé()) 67,235 64,797
Expense relating to short-term leases H1%5 HATH S AERA A0 7 2 47,790 63,638
Expense relating to leases of low-value  EEEEEEMREHBEH
assets, excluding short-term leases of Y TEEEREEEEN
low-value assets EHHE 1,484 1,551
Variable lease payments not included in  Fit ATHE A FETEH
the measurement of lease liabilities AT HE R 86,899 108,442

Details of total cash outflow for leases and the maturity
analysis of lease liabilities are set out in notes 18(d) and 23,

respectively.

HERSREEBNHEHERAGD B
B OB D R HIE18(d) %223 -
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11 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT AND RIGHT- 1MYERREREAEESE(E)

OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

(b) Right-of-use assets (continued) (o) EFRAEEEE)

(i) Property — Right-of-use assets
The Group has obtained the right to use properties as
its teahouses and offices through tenancy agreements.
The leases typically run for an initial period of 5 to 8
years.

The Group leased a number of teahouses which
contain variable lease payment terms that are based
on sales generated from the teahouses and minimum
annual lease payment terms that are fixed. These
payment terms are common in the PRC where the
Group operates. The amount of fixed and variable
lease payments for the year is summarized below:

Fixed
payments

BlE 4%
RMB’000
ARBT R

() Vx—RHBEEE

AEEREBAHERARGEEE
ERERERRERBREROE
F o AV B ERBTE RSES
E'E o

AEEHEZRANE - HBHE
ERAREMEEHER 2 &
HEMRGER M EEXES AR
ERRIER o ZFNFKIGHER
SEREMAENTEBER - F
e 69 [B 7E Ko AT 4 78 &~ St 4n
T

2024
2024%F
Variable
payments
and other
related Total
expenses payments
Gk -0
REAM
HERX FRREEE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMF T ARMETF T

Lease assets HEEE 418,246

115,083 533,329
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11 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT AND RIGHT-
OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

(b) Right-of-use assets (continued)
(i) Property — Right-of-use assets (continued)

MPERRBREREAEEE (F)

(b)

£ A E (&)
() YE—FAEEEE)

2023
20235
Variable
payments
and other
Fixed related Total
payments expenses payments
AR
Ko HoAh,
[ 7 - 3K HERX R4
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARET T ARETT
Lease assets HEEE 451,645 175,126 626,771

(i) Rental deposits

The refundable rental deposit itself is not part of
the lease payments and is in the scope of IFRS 9.
Therefore, the rental deposit should be measured at
fair value on initial recognition. The difference between
the initial fair value and the nominal value of the
deposit is an additional lease payment made by the
Group and it is included in the measurement of the
right-of-use assets.

(i) HEZE
AREHERSAFWIFBEN
R —& D - MEEERERS
ZHFRMEE - At - HE
B BERRERARNAAE
BFtE - MEWIBE AR BER
HER N Z R SR EEFEREIN
MENKAEFAEREEEN

HE -
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12INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES

The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries

12RHEBATNKRE
TREGSHAREEE BELAR
BIBREZMBARANKE - B2A
A& - AR RR A B -

which principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the
Group. The class of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise

stated.

Proportion of ownership interest

BRERLI
Place of
incorporation
and operation/
date of Registered Held by Held by
Name of company establishment share capital the Company asubsidiary  Principal activities
AMRIR
AR EENY/HIRE  HRRA HARARE HMELARKE IEED
Shenzhen Pindao Group Co.,Ltd. * The PRC RMB2,810,000,000 - 100%  Investment Holding
17/12/2019
AMITnEEEERAR! G ARE2,810,000,0007C REER
20195128178
Shenzhen Pindao Food & Beverage The PRC RMB455,000,000 - 100%  Store operations management, supply chain
Management Co., Ltd. * 12/05/2014 management and other service
AMmmEENEEARAT hE AR 455,000,007 FREZER RERERREMRR
014554128
Shenzhen Nayuki Food & Beverage The PRC RMB10,000,000 - 100%  Sales of freshly-made tea drinks, baked
Management Co., Ltd. * 21/04/2016 goods and other product
MITREEREERRAT hE AEH10,0000007 HERRAR  EERREMER
01654A21B
Beijing Nayuki Food & Beverage The PRC RMB5,000,000 - 100%  Sales of freshly-made tea drinks, baked
Management Co., Ltd. * 13/11/2017 goods and other product
IRRERREEARAR hE ABH5,000,0007C HERSAR  EERREMER
017511A13R
Shanghai Nayuki Food & Beverage The PRC RMB1,000,000 - 100%  Sales of freshly-made tea drinks, baked
Management Co., Ltd. * 05/12/2017 goods and other product and franchise
LEREEGEERRAA H AK%1,000,0007 operations
017512858 HERIAR - HEERREMERIR
MEEER
Wuhan Tai Gai Food & Beverage The PRC RMB5,000,000 - 100%  Sales of freshly-made tea drinks, baked
Management Co., Ltd. * 09/11/2017 goods and other product
REMAEERERERAT hE AB#5,000,0007C HERSAR  HEERREMER

017511798
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12 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 12 AMBARNIRE (&)

Proportion of ownership interest

FRERLAL
Place of
incorporation
and operation/
date of Registered Held by Held by
Name of company establishment share capital the Company asubsidiary  Principal activities
ARALE
ARER EEHY/HIRE  HRBRA HARARE AWELANE IEED
Chengdu Tai Gai Food & Beverage The PRC RMB1,000,000 = 100%  Sales of freshly-made tea drinks, baked
Management Co., Ltd. * 28/08/2017 goods and other product
BT EEHERERAA i AE#1,000,0007C HERRAR  HEERREMER
017587288
Guangzhou Nayuki Food & Beverage The PRC RMB1,000,000 - 100%  Sales of freshly-made tea drinks, baked
Management Co., Ltd. * /172007 goods and other product
BMTRSENERARAT hE AR 1,000,007 HERRAR HRERRENER
17E11A208
Shenzhen Nayuki Beverage The PRC RMBS50,000,000 - 90%  Sales of flavored bottled sparking water
Technology Co., Ltd. * 22/07/2021 HERRRELRH
MIDRERRHRERAT T AR$50,000,0007C
00151A28
*  The official name of these entities is in Chinese. The English translation of * ZEERNENEERPX - BXGEREMRE
the name is for identification only. 7l o

#

The subsidiary is a wholly foreign-owned enterprise in the PRC. t ZMBRARA—FERPREEIINEBERE -
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13 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 13RBEATNER
The following list contains the particulars of associates, all of TRESHBHEAR( ARG AIELT
which are unlisted corporate entities whose quoted market NAER  BEIEGHEMSME) T
price is not available: 15

Proportion of
ownership interest

REEERLH
Place of Group's
incorporation Registered effective Held by
Name of associate and business share capital interest  a subsidiary  Principal activities
SR FEEW -5
BENRER REZ£HY SR ERERZ HWEAIBE TEEE
Shanghai Chatian Catering The PRC RMB57,797,321 43.64% 43.64%  Sales of freshly-made tea drinks,
Management Co., Ltd. baked goods and other products
(“Shanghai Chatian”)
(notes (i)(ii)(ii))
FERBERERERAT Gl ARE57,797, 3217 43.64% 1364% HERHAR HEERREMER
(T LBZRm 1) (36 in))
Shanghai Ultimate Food Co., Ltd. The PRC RMB2,545,000 21.4% 21.4%  Sales of coffee and other products
(note (i)iii))
LERBXRMERA Gl ARE2,545,0007 21.4% N4%  HEWEREBER
(B&E() i)
Shanghai Jiu Wen Qian Food & The PRC RMB1,248,447 19.9% 19.9%  Sales of fresh fruit teas and other
Beverage Management Co., Ltd. products
(note (i)(ii)
FENEERERERAA Gl AR, 2484477 19.9% 199% HEMBKRRAREMER
(BissEGin)
Shenzhen Xing Fu Kai Brand The PRC RMB1,661,723 10.62% 10.62%  Sales of coffee and other products
Management Co., Ltd.
(note (i)iii))
AT ERRRRERERAR Gl ARE1,661,737 10.62% 10.62% SHEMHEREMER

(B3 (i)
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13INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Notes:

i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

The official name of these entities are in Chinese. The English translation of
the name is for identification only.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, through acquired interest in
Lelecha Group Inc., a Cayman lIslands registered company, the Group had
an effective interest of 43.64% in Shanghai Chatian.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, based on the assessment
made by the directors of the Company, an aggregate impairment loss
of RMB155,437,000 (2023: nil) had been recognized for associates with
impairment indicators.

Based on the investment agreement, the Group has the right to appoint
certain number of the board members which allow the Group to exercise

significant influence over the investees’ operational and financial directions.

All of the above associates are accounted for using the equity method in the
consolidated financial statements.

Aggregate information of associates that are not individually material:

AANREEDITR)

13RBE QA ER (&)

Wi

(iii)

(iv)

W
I
i

EERNEIEMATX - KX FREHR

°

>0 B

BZE2023F 12 A31HIEFE - ANEEBEBUEE
—XRAEFSEMAI R FlLelecha Group Inc.
ZHEREER DR AMA3A%E RS -

HE2024F12A31BIEFE  BRERNARES
ETHRTE - HBRBET RS ARC R
A HEAR®155,437,0007T (20234 « T)HR{E
E518 °

BEEEH®  AEBARZEE THENE
EERE  2AKETHREHROEE RY
BHRITEERTESN -

LA BEARNGEM BRI EAER
SENER ©

BRI EARH B R B2 ERER

2024 2023
2024%F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT AREFT
Aggregate carrying amount of individually immaterial {5113 & A KB 4 A FIR 4R A B 75
associates in the consolidated financial statements HEBBE@EmEE 258,553 537,574
Aggregate amounts of the Group's share of those AEEEHZEH EARNALE
associates’
Loss for the year and total comprehensive income FREEEEEKEAE (123,585) (38,722)




Annual Report %% 2024 173

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o MR
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14 OTHER CURRENT ASSETS AND OTHER 14 EMRBHEERBEMIERDE

NON-CURRENT ASSETS E
2024 2023
2024%F 2023%F
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥T R ARBT T
Current D
Certificates of deposit RNEFE 170,000 -
Non-current FETRED
Certificates of deposit REFE 240,000 410,000
Prepayments for purchase of equipment BERENTENFIE 9,501 21,702
Others (note (i) oA (B 3EG)) 265,127 175,581
514,628 607,283
Note: MiET -

()  Others mainly represented input valued-added tax recoverable that are
expected to be realized or refunded over a period of 12 months or longer.

15 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL

() HtbE=ZHEFEBE12(E[ BERERKEA

IR SR A AT U [ HE TR (B

15U REBEEFEAHLSBTA

2024 2023

20244 2023%F

RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR®BTT ARBTIT

Listed equity investment (note (i) AR A (BT EEG)) 29,920 130,833
Unlisted equity investment FEEHRERE 8,883 16,738
Wealth management products (note (ii) 2 B = fh (B REG)) = 104
38,803 147,675
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LAAREEFIIR)

15 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL (continued)

Notes:

()  During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Group newly invested in
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Fair value of
these listed equity investment is measured by referencing to the stock
price. During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group disposed part
of listed equity investment of RMB74,497,000 and recognised net loss of
RMB37,299,000.

(i)  Wealth management products, including wealth management products
and structured deposits, are issued by financial institutions and banks in
mainland China with a floating return which will be paid together with the
principal unsecured with the maturity date within 1 year.

HZE2023F 128318 LEFE - AEBFIKE—
MEBAMERLEMHAR - 25 EMRER
BRARBEDBB2ERETE - BE2024
F12A3NBILFE - AEBEERS EHRE
BB NREETA,497,0007C © LHEREEFEA
R#37,299,0007T °

BEMERCEEMERREBIETR  ATR
REER @ REHE RRTTHIT - AR FEA -
ARER—FAZIMAREERNAS —F
A e

16 INVENTORIES 16T?—‘E'f

(a) Inventories in the consolidated statement of
financial position comprise:

?Am%%ﬁ%WZTé
I

2024 2023
2024%F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBTIT

Raw materials B 86,926 98,145
Bottled drinks R grt 3,792 3,533
Packaging supplies and others BEMAmKIEM 36,909 45,530

127,627 147,208

(b) The analysis of the amount of inventories
recognized as an expense and included in profit
or loss is as follows:

(b)

MT%%%%ﬁiﬁﬁkﬁé
NEFEESESIT:

2024 2023
2024%F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T ARETT

Carrying amount of inventories sold SHEFEMNERE
Write-down of inventories MR FE

1,809,010 1,699,442
1,860 745

1,810,870 1,700,187
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17 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

17 EZREMBUYRAELREAN

PREPAYMENTS FRIE

2024 2023
2024%F 20234
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBET T AREFIT
Trade receivables H 5 W GIE 26,549 17,374
Input valued-added tax recoverable n ik B EIEIE(E T 49,593 53,536
Income tax recoverable (note 25(a)) AU Bl AR AR (B 3E25(a)) 1,266 1,101

Amount due from a related party JE s B g 75 k1A (B RE30(d))

(note 30(d)) _ 18
Interest receivables JRE R B, 52,948 51,156
Rental deposits MEZe 69,257 57,429
Other receivables o W sk IE 4,731 2,613

204,344 183,227
Prepayments TEfT IR 67,716 67,135

All of the current portion of trade and other receivables are
expected to be recovered or recognized as expense within one
year.

Ageing analysis
As at the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of
trade receivables based on the invoice date, is as follows:

B85 hEAMERKRAENRE DA
HR —F AR TR E S ER R/

5

fRie DT
RBEHR  REZEHNEZRER
HERRE DT -

E

2024 2023
2024%F 20234F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETT

Within 1 month —@ARA 13,609 7,884
1 to 3 months —Z=1EA 10,183 9,290
3 to 6 months =Z&XEA 2,656 104
Over 6 months 7~1E A A E 101 96

26,549 17,374

Trade receivables are due within 30 to 90 days from the date of
billing. Further details on the Group's credit policy and credit

BHRYGRIEAREHHENE08 R
E'Jﬂéﬁ BERAASENEEEER MEEE

risk arising from trade debtors are set out in note 28(a). REENEZERRKRRE —PFBIEHRK

u£28( ) e
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18 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 18HERBRESEEBEYWUREMIER
OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION EREER
(a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise: (a) He MRELZFEBYRTE :
2024 2023
202445 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETT

Cash at bank and on hand WITRFERS 2,671,942 2,954,494
Deposit on online payment platform BENKTERS
(note (ii) (B &E(in) 22,923 28,993
Less: restricted bank deposits (note (iii)) ¥ = MR &R TFR (B EEGI)) (655) =
Less: term deposits - current (note 19) B BRI BIHA(BEE19)  (1,705,088) (2,072,479)
Less: term deposits - non-current B EEIFER — FERNH
(note 19) (PfI5E19) = (56,662)
Less: certificates of deposit - current B KEEFE —RIHE
(note 14) (PffsE14) (170,000) =
Less: certificates of deposit - non-current g : AZ877 % — JEBNHA
(note 14) (FizE14) (240,000) (410,000)
Cash and cash equivalents RERBELZEY 579,122 444,346
Cash and cash equivalents presented in RMB are RARBE2INAE RASEEY
denominated in: TR REHE
2024 2023
2024%F 20234
RMB’'000 RMB’000

ARBTFR ARBET T

RMB AR 184,430 406,376

usD SRTT 343,140 31,287

HKD BT 44,197 5,811

Others Hipb 7,355 872

579,122 444,346

Notes: MeE
()  As at December 31, 2024, cash and cash equivalents placed with () M2024F12H31H » FRAFEK
banks in mainland China amounted to RMB488,531,000 (2023: ERTHNREERRESEBYESEAA
RMB366,794,000). Remittance of funds out of mainland China is subject R % 488,531,000 7T (2023 5 : A R#
to the relevant rules and regulations of foreign exchange control. 366,794, 00071:) HPRAEELESR
SN & B0 R AR B RO K IR 8 o
(i) As at December 31, 2024, the Group had cash held in accounts (iiy M2024%12A318 » REBEMEX
managed by online payment platforms such as Wechat Pay and Alipay. Eigggﬁtiﬁ$§%ﬁﬁﬁ’ﬂﬁgﬁqﬂ%
RE -

(i) As at December 31, 2024, the Group had restricted bank deposit of (i) M2024FE12A318 @ NEBEHZ R SR

RMB655,000 (2023: nil). 1T RA AR #655,0007T (20234F : ) o
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18 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 18RERBEEEYWUREMIR
OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION TREER (F)
(continued)
(b) Reconciliation of (loss)/profit before taxation to (b) BRELAT(E1R) 5 T BA AR & Py
cash generated from operations: SRR
2024 2023
2024%F 2023%F
Notes RMB’'000 RMB'000
i AR¥T R ARBF T
(Loss)/profit before taxation BrEiAT(E58),SEF (869,761) 6,110
Adjustments for: BT A R IE e
Depreciation e 6(d) 748,490 715,862
Amortization of intangible assets B E 6(d) 236 165
Impairment loss on property and W5 T AR AR DA S (5 P
equipment and right-of-use assets BERREERE 6(c) 106,105 13,299
Write-down on inventories WEEE 6(c) 1,860 745
Impairment loss on interests in REFERRINERZ
associates WEEE 13 155,437 =
Finance costs BE KA 6(a) 68,863 65,873
Service charges for resign of ordinary I EBRAREE
shares 110 =
Interest income A EHA 5 (113,923) (112,063)
Gain on forward foreign exchange RAINE S KM=
contracts 6(e) = (6,466)
Net loss on disposal of property and HEMERBREAKR
equipment and right-of-use assets EREEENFERE 40,458 34,915
Dividend income from listed equity R EMRERE
investment LGN 5 (132) =
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary REKBARNEE 6(e) 71 -
Loss on disposal of financial assets HESRMEENEE 6(e) 37,299 =
Share of losses of associates FEREEE N BIEE 13 123,585 38,722
Equity-settled share-based payment AR S E AR &
expenses AR REX 6(b) 7,568 9,746
Fair value changes of financial assets at A AR (BEEEE
FVTPL ZEABHRREN
TREENAREES 4,289 (36,141)
Changes in working capital: LEEeH
Decrease/(Increase) in inventories FERAL/(Em) 17,723 (21,669)
Increase in trade and other receivables, & 5 & H b fE kg -
prepayments and rental deposits ANFEAREERE
bl (67,053) (69,900)
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other & 5 & E b JE {5t ZRIF LA &2
payables and provisions BECRD),/5m (22,856) 148,821
(Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities AXIB&ECHL),/ L0 (35,273) 40,135
(Increase)/decrease in restricted bank  ZERHIRTHEZ (2 0) /
deposits A (655) 995

Cash generated from operations REERTEIH S 202,441 829,149
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18 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION
(continued)

18RERREEBEYUREMBIR
TREER (F)

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing
activities

() MEAMELEREYR

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities TREFVWNAEEBREEESAESLS
B2 PERERIFREEF -
BMEEIDMELAEREEHEESR
EXAARRBEERECKEABELESE
AEEGEBRESRERERBERE
FMSHEeRENEE -

from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash flows
will be, classified in the Group's consolidated cash flow
statement as cash flows from financing activities.

Bank loans Lease liabilities

RITERK HEEE
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR¥TR ARBT T
(note 22) (note 23)
(Ff=E22) (BEE23)
At January 1, 2024 "2024F181H - 1,770,488
Changes from financing cash flows: RMERSTRESE :
Proceeds from bank loans RITE R PRIFFRIA 50,000 -
Payment of interests on bank loans A RITEFREF B (69) -
Payment of capital element and interest ZFRHEEBERNETESHD K
element of lease liabilities M EE o - (418,246)
Total changes from financing cash flows &R & RE S A4 49,931 (418,246)
Other changes: Hit @5 :
Interest expenses (note 6(a)) B A (MiEE6(a)) 69 67,235
Addition by - 350,374
Disposal BE = (370,959)
Total other changes Hh & eh4a s 69 46,650
50,000 (371,596)
At December 31, 2024 72024%F12H831H 50,000 1,398,892
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18RERREEBEYUREMBIR
EREER (H)

18 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION
(continued)

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (c) Bt EEBFTELEBEHIR(E)
activities (continued)

Lease liabilities

HEBE

RMB'000

AREBFTT

(note 23)

(BffaE23)

At January 1, 2023 M2023F1A1H 1,422,298
Change from financing cash flows: MERSRESE
Payment of capital element and interest YNHEEENAS

element of lease liabilities B R B D (451,645)

Total change from financing cash flows RERGNEZDAE (451,645)

Exchange adjustments EHAR 38

Other changes: Hit @5 :

Interest expenses (note 6(a)) FEF % (Mz6(a)) 64,797

Addition = 806,666

Disposal BE (71,666)

Total other changes Hih S 799,797

348,190

At December 31, 2023 72023F12A31H 1,770,488
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18 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION
(continued)

(d) Total cash outflow for leases

Amounts included in the consolidated cash flow statement
for leases comprise the following:

18RERREEBEYUREMBIR

EREER (H)

(d) HERS ML AR

AAHEGRRERERNEEE

ETAIRIA

2024 2023

2024% 20234

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR¥T ARETIT

Within operating cash flows RIS E R 115,083 175,126
Within financing cash flows BMERERER 418,246 451,645
533,329 626,771

19 TERM DEPOSITS

Term deposits presented in RMB are denominated in:

19 EHEFR

RAREZIIOERFRTIATIEE

sHE -
2024 2023
2024% 20234
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T AREFIT
Current mE)

RMB AR = 200,500
HKD BT = 16,312
usD ETT 1,705,088 1,855,667
1,705,088 2,072,479

Non-current ERE
UsD ETT = 56,662

Term Deposits are placed in reputable commercial banks with
initial maturity terms of over three months.

EMERDERAREERFNBERR
17 VM EBB8=1EA -
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20 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 20E5 R HAMENSFIE
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETT

Trade payables B S e FRIE 254,011 274,969
Other payables and accrued charges Hih e kB K BT & B 272,140 355,159
Amounts due to a related party JE 1T B Bt 75 SR IE (BRI EE30(d) )
(note 30(d)) 2,366 5,634
528,517 635,762
All trade and other payables (including amounts due to a FTE B 5 K B Ath FE < 5RIE (6 43 FE 1< A Bt
related party) are expected to be settled or recognized as FARIE) AR —FANEE R EERR
income within one year or are repayable on demand. W s iR EKIEE -
As at the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of RBEHRR BEFEMNRBEEZAH
trade payables based on the invoice date, is as follows: MERER DT T
2024 2023
2024%F 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T ARETT

Within 1 year —F K 252,617 274,665
More than 1 year =& |E 1,394 304

254,011 274,969
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21 CONTRACT LIABILITIES

21 6H8EE

2024 2023
20244 2023%F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®T R AREFT
Contract liabilities related to prepaid EENREENENEE
cards 187,965 198,440
Contract liabilities related to discount HITHAE N EBAEBN
vouchers and free vouchers aHatE - 507
Contract liabilities related to customer HEEF@8EZXEHAN
membership programs SHAaE 7,794 7,337
Contract liabilities related to franchise HNBEKAEBANANAR
business 12,759 39,144
Others HAith 14,013 12,375
222,531 257,803
Movements in contract liabilities BHBEES
2024 2023
2024% 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T ARETIT
Balance at the beginning of the year RE VI &5k 257,803 217,667
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result EMERTAETE LA ED
of recognizing revenue during the FARZEBHENBERD
year that was included in the contract
liabilities at the beginning of the year (246,293) (217,147)
Increase in contract liabilities S4B EEM 211,021 257,283
Balance at the end of the year RERA AR 222,531 257,803
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22 BANK LOANS

The analysis of the repayment schedule of bank loans is as

22 RITERK
BITERMEREHIRIITMT -

follows:
2024 2023
2024%F 20234
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
Within 1 year —&FR 50,000 -
23 LEASE LIABILITIES 23/ HEaE
As at December 31, 2024, the lease liabilities were repayable as R2024%F 1283180 HEABARNUT
follows: HAPR(ER -
2024 2023
2024% 20234
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AREET T AREFIT
Within 1 year —F R 323,075 428,842
After 1 year but within 2 years —F A EEREA 425,297 477,419
After 2 years but within 5 years MEL EBERER 567,665 796,808
After 5 years AELAE 82,855 67,419
1,075,817 1,341,646

1,398,892

1,770,488
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AANREEDITR)

24 PROVISIONS 24 B 1E
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®ET T AREFIT
Current M Eh

Provisions for litigations (note (i)) SFEARE (BIREG)) 1,737 421

Non-current IERB
Provisions for restoration costs (note (i) 18R AN E & (BIaEG)) 19,455 23,320

The movements of provisions during the year were as follows: RERNBEBZEHMT -

2024 2023
2024% 20234
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AREET T ARETIT
Balance at the beginning of the year R E I AR 23,741 21,916
Additional provisions NE BE 5,600 2,132
Interest on provisions BAERF B 1,558 1,076
Provisions utilized RENEENE ok (9,707) (1,383)
Balance at the end of the year REEA 4R 21,192 23,741

Notes:

(i)

(ii)

The Group is the defendant in certain lawsuits arising in the ordinary course
of business. Management has made provision considering all relevant
factors and circumstance. Management believes that the lawsuits will not
have a material adverse effect on the financial position or operating results
of the Group.

Pursuant to the terms of the respective tenancy agreements entered into
by the Group, the Group is required to return its leased properties to the
conditions as stipulated in the tenancy agreements at the expiration of the
corresponding lease term as appropriate. The provision for reinstatement
costs was estimated based on certain assumptions and estimates made by
the Group’s management with reference to historical reinstatement costs
and/or other available market information. The estimation basis is reviewed
on an ongoing basis and revised where appropriate.

(ii)

N—REBBREPHBROETHD  AKEL
WEN - EEEEZEMAEBRZRER -
WEEHEE EEERE  ZSHFLTEY
AEEN T BRI RE EREERERTHE
.

=

RIBAEBAAIZAABEEHBRES - NE
BESEREN  AEEAEKEEEYERES
FRAEBETANRE(ER) - ERK
ABEENAEEEEERBEBERRRA
R/ REMAETISERMERNE TR
fEEHE AR o AR EETERE - ERF
H{EET
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25 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 25 GRE BB AR R ROETBH
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(a) Current taxation in the consolidated statement (a) #RE B BRI R BN EA T I8
of financial position represent: =28

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’'000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBET T

Balance at the beginning of the year REVIR &R 27,117 27,410
Current provision for income tax FRS TR B B4 (BT 5E7 (a)

(note 7(a)) 104 1,042
Over provision for income tax (note 7(a)) P53 fBEE R (F15E7(a)) (829) (676)
Income tax paid BT PEH (3,134) (1,485)
Income tax refunded BREMER 2,299 826
Balance at the end of the year RERLE R 25,557 27,117
Reconciliation to the consolidated SAEBEARRREER

statements of financial position:

Income tax payable RS PTISHL 26,823 28,218
Income tax recoverable (note 17) AR B AR (M EE17) (1,266) (1,701)

25,557 27,117
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25 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 25 MEMBMRRROFEH (&)
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(continued)
(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognized: (b) EMERELEHIBEENREE
(i) Movement of each component of deferred tax (i) FEEHIBEEEREEEE5EE)
assets and liabilities
The components of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) RARFEEFEIEHRERNDIER
recognized in the consolidated statement of financial EEMELEE (AR LE
position and the movements during the year are as T
follows:
Inventory

provision and

Impairment of
property and
Accrued equipment
payroll and
Unusedtax ~ and other  Right-of-use Lease  right-of use Contract  Property and
Deferred tax arising from: losses expenses assets liabilities assets liabilities  equipment Others Total
FERRUR
NERRE
ABR IR i{idit ]
BEREELR: et i ARz ERREE HEER BENE aHER  MERRE Efy it

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ARBTR  ARETR  ARMTR  ARWTZ  ARBTR  ARRTR  ARBTR  ARMTR

At January 1, 2023 RA2ZF1A1R 56,228 1,294 (309.432) 339,207 1,626 2327 (12,040) 834 80,044
Credited/(charged) to HEA/ (H18)
profit or loss 31420 (153) (83,399) 85,432 (506) (521) (25,022) (1,829 5422

At December 31, 2023 and RBE12831B R

January 1, 204 AAF1A1B 87,648 104 (392,831) 424639 1,120 1,806 (37,062) (995) 85,466
Credited/(charged) to BEGA/ (F18)
profit or loss (81,330) - 206587 (207,347) 1,019 (13) 24,087 222 G729

At December 31, 2024 RAUF12A31A 6,318 1,141 (186,244) 217,292 2,139 1,793 (12,975) (1,217) 28,247
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25INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 25 &RE
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(continued)
(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognized:
(continued)

(ii) Reconciliation to the consolidated statement of
financial position

& M35 3R RO E

AANREEDIR)

MR R R FTEH (&)
(EEE)W REHIBEENEE -
B

(i) AREBIBMRARENE

2024 2023
2024% 20234
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥ET T ARBTIT
Net deferred tax asset recognized ?/.:.\ B TSRO R R A
in the consolidated statement of EER IR A R B
financial position 29,310 88,046
Net deferred tax liability recognized R4R& MG R R IERH
in the consolidated statement of FERERERE
financial position (1,063) (2,580)
28,247 85,466
(c) Deferred tax assets not recognized c) RERRELENIBEE
In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note BRI EE2(0) BV S 5T BR - R

2(u), the Group has not recognized deferred tax assets in
respect of cumulative tax losses of certain subsidiaries as it
is not probable that future taxable profits against which the
losses can be utilized will be available in the relevant tax

TRARERBREATNEIEERR
Eﬁ%i%?%ﬁ%%ﬁ?u@ﬂféE’\Jﬁiﬁw‘é%%ﬁ
BA  MAKREARRETHER

El’ﬂf%%'Jr%}“LIEFEﬂéiﬁ?ﬁuuﬁﬁ%H’JLL%ﬁ

jurisdiction and entity. Deferred tax assets have not been BEE - AERNELERIAEER
recognized in respect of the following items: Baah -

2024 2023
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TRT ARBTT
Unused tax losses AEAREEBR 1,143,248 517,928
Temporary differences TRMEER 272,044 147,531
1,415,292 665,459




188 Nayuki Holdings Limited - 2B ZIEIRA R A 8

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o MBI RME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LAAREEFIIR)

25INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(continued)

25 FE M BARR RO ATEH (&)

(c) REERHIELERIREE (&)

(c) Deferred tax assets not recognized (continued)

The expiration information of the Group’s unused tax
losses is set out below:

AEEBBEABAVAEBENDH
BEREIIMT

2024 2023
2024%F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T ARBTT

2024 20244 - 379
2025 20254 10,582 10,582
2026 20265 112,882 99,539
2027 2027 F 250,690 251,924
2028 20284 141,655 126,204
2029 20294 590,524 =
2029 and beyond 20294 K LAT& 36,915 29,300

1,143,248 517,928

(d) Deferred tax liabilities not recognized

According to the CIT Law and its implementation rules,
dividends receivable by non-PRC corporate residents from
PRC enterprises are subject to withholding income tax at
10%, unless reduced by tax treaties or arrangements, for
profits earned since January 1, 2008.

As at December 31, 2024, deferred tax liabilities in respect
of the dividend withholding tax relating to the distributable
profits of the Company's subsidiaries were not
recognized as the Company controls the dividend policy
of the subsidiaries. Based on the assessment made by
management as at December 31, 2024, it was determined
that the distributable profits of the Company’s subsidiaries
would not be distributed to the Hong Kong and overseas
holding companies in the foreseeable future. The amounts
of undistributed profit of the Company’s subsidiaries for
the year ended December 31, 2024 is RMB287,211,000
(2023: RMB293,108,000).

(d) REERAEERIAE B

BIECEMGH EREEEEKG -
B 200841 A 1 H #EFTHEUR ) -
FHPETCERERERS HSEAR
BABMI10%RTBHATEE - BRIEE
RIS IRA S B0 -

202412 A31H » BRAAR A
FlFZEM B AR MR B BUR - i
L 7 W B A R Al 2R i1 A A7
AR BTEMAMGHERELERE
B1E - BIBEEEER2024F 12 A31
BA{EMEME  ERARQ AN B
RAEIAl DK@ AR E2RA RS
& o ARRBIHE R B EE2024512
A3BLEFERD K EFSTAA
R#287,211,0007C (20234 : AREE
293,108,0007T) ©
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26 EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

The underlying shares of the share options and RSUs granted
are held by employee incentive platform and have been fully
issued by the Company in 2020 and 2021, respectively. The
Group has the following share-based payment arrangements:

(i) Share Option Plan (equity-settled)

The Group granted share-based awards to qualified
director and employees pursuant to the Share Option
Plan, which was adopted in May 2020 and governed by the
contractual terms of the awards. The qualified participants
of the Share Option Plan are required to satisfy certain
vesting service and non-market performance conditions
for the entitlements. In accordance with the Share Option
Plan agreements, the holders of vested options are
entitled to purchase the Company'’s shares at fixed prices
predetermined as at each grant date.

Options granted typically expire in 10 years from the
respective grant dates. The options may be exercised at
any time after they have vested subject to the terms of
the award agreement and are exercisable for a maximum
period of 10 years after the date of grant.

The Group recognizes share-based payments expenses
in its consolidated statement of profit or loss based on
awards ultimately expected to vest.

26 NESEHFURODHERNA
b
B33 ) 0 B AR T 52 IR L1 8.1 10 48
BARR 3 B B MM T 414 -+ AR 2020
F R 20215 D B EA A AERET o &
LA U T ARG AERONRZ -

() BhiEsS (A EREE)
AREERIER 202045 A SR A A BB AR
BASNAERESTREER LN
B AERER - &8 BB
REWEQBRRAOR - BIRETS
MABEBR2EEAMEE THEBR
BRIEMBRBGRG D EER - R
ERBRETEGE  CRBERE
M AEABEARSR L AHEL
BEENEEERBEARRRD

ERLBEREABTREBERLAY
RTFRER BRETREREB
BREERITE A RBIHE K
RARAATFIEHARKSZ SR
BEE+4F -

AEERBESKBUSERBENE
ARBNGSBEERERARND A
EMNNHRFEX -
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26 EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
(continued)

26 N ERFEEURGRERNN
™ (#E)

() Rt Sl (AEREHE)(B)

I

(i) Share Option Plan (equity-settled) (continued) E
HRGEBNERETHMES

A summary of activities of the service-based share options

is presented as follows: wmr
Weighted
average
Weighted remaining
Number of average contractual
share options exercise price term
g InFEF Y
BRERE TEE BT EHH
RMB Year
AR% R F
Outstanding as at M2023F1 418
January 1, 2023 W ARITHE 22,936,247 0.73 7.6
Granted during the year RERABRE 3,130,000 0.75
Exercised during the year RERBEITEE (1,122,255) 0.73
Forfeited during the year RERE R (1,612,485) 0.73
Outstanding as at 1202312 A318
December 31, 2023 R ARTTE 23,331,507 0.73 7.0
Exercisable as at 72023F 124311
December 31, 2023 AT 11,529,697
Outstanding as at 202441 H1H
January 1, 2024 i ARITE 23,331,507 0.73 7.0
Granted during the year RERERT -
Exercised during the year RERBETHE (3,995,360) 0.73
Forfeited during the year RERNE R (2,484,880) 0.73
Outstanding as at 1202412 H318
December 31, 2024 EENFI 16,851,267 0.72 6.8
Exercisable as at 7R2024F12 4311
December 31, 2024 AIATfE 11,626,027
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26 EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
(continued)

(i) Share Option Plan (equity-settled) (continued)

Risk-free interest rates

& M35 3R RO E

AANREEDIR)

26 IS HEURDHERNN

™ (#E)

(i)

8 B ) K

Y|

BRI (A EaREE) (8)

As at grant dates
PRI B H

0.34% — 2.56%

Expected term - years TEEAHARR — 5 10
Expected volatility TEARR ) 30.97% — 43.61%
Exercise multiple ITREIEE 2.86x — 3.34x
Fair value of ordinary shares (RMB) TR AL BE(ARET) 1.97 - 6.69
Exercise price (RMB) THEB(ARET) 0.71-2.17
Dividend yield IR B e = 0

(i) RSUs (equity-settled)

The RSUs granted would vest in tranches from the grant
date over a certain service period, on specific service
condition that the employees remain in service and
scheduled to be vested over one to four years without
any performance condition requirements. Based on the
vesting schedules of the Group’s plan, the first tranche
shall be vested upon the first anniversary dates of the
grants, and the remaining of the awards shall be vested on
straight-line basis at the anniversary years over a period
of the remaining three years. Once the vesting conditions
underlying the respective RSUs are met, the RSUs are
considered duly and validly issued to the holder.

(if)

SR IR BB AL (AR AER )
ER X RBIOEA SRR H B
HEEFERBHRADIEE (R
BRG G EREFERY) - ALt
8 I B RB IR ZROBR
TR—EZEMNFARE - RIBEAEE
VERERRRAE  FHERE
HEEREBFARB - mes 1 EE
ERAT=FHARNBFERER
EERE o X R G D B AEE
VR B IR — R EX R
BUNRRSZ /BRI ET TR
BA -
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26 EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 26 L IREZEEURDAERNS

(continued) (')
(i) RSUs (equity-settled) (continued) (i) ZRBIRDEL (AERER)
(&)

EXOEREIBOECOEE KA
AMETHREBMARBENE

Movements in the number of RSUs granted and the
respective weighted average grant date fair value are as

follows: EJP U
Weighted
average
grant date Remaining
Number of fair value vesting
RSUs per RSU periods
BHZRE
SZRE IR AL #Y
RDEN  IEFHRE BT
WEE HBHEAAEE BEHH
RMB Year
AR®T F
Outstanding as at 720231 H1H
January 1, 2023 M ARITEE 4,153,100 4.37 2.0
Vested during the year RERNEHE (1,934,475) 4.10
Forfeited during the year RERAERIK (384,425) 2.02
Outstanding as at 202312 H31H
December 31, 2023 AT 1,834,200 5.16 13
Outstanding as at 202441 A1 H
January 1, 2024 e AR TT 1,834,200 5.16 1.3
Vested during the year REANEFEB (1,235,940) 3.12
Forfeited during the year RERNERIK (52,000) 2.02
Outstanding as at 2024512 H31H
December 31, 2024 M ARTTE 546,260 10.07 2.3
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26 EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
(continued)

(i) RSUs (equity-settled) (continued)

Share-based payment expense relating to awards granted
to employees is based on the grant date fair value of the
RSUs is recognized, on a straight-line basis over the entire
vesting period. The fair value of each RSU at the grant
dates are determined by reference to the fair value of the
underlying ordinary shares of the Company on the date of
grant.

RSUs were granted under a service condition. This
condition has not been taken into account in the grant
date fair value measurement of the services received. No
dividends have been taken into account in the grant date
fair value measurement of the services received. There
were no market conditions associated with the RSUs.

27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

& M35 3R RO E

AANREEDIR)

26 IR BEURDAEBRNS
a<A(,fﬁ )

(i) ZPRBIRMD B (LAERER)
(&)

HBETEENERBHENOAERN S

B B 51 3R B 32 T B BRI A 4D
BUMRLBEBPAABERERE
REEFBHERRDEE - 8H%
RO ELRELBHNDAE
EVR2ERRAEEEBRRE
H BN AR EBEERE

PRl B ) B A O 4 R A AR A 1
o AEERBRBHRHEBHEA
REBERILEEZBILGSE - FER
WHRS R L ABRA AR BERIL
BERERE - WEESRHIRMDE
2 HERE R T A5 151 o

27 8% - ERKRE

(a) Share capital (a) AxZx

Number of Nominal
Shares Value
BRHEE HE
RMB’'000
ARMEF T

Ordinary shares, issued and fully paid: TR BETRREST

At January 1, 2023, December 31, 2023, F2023%1H18 -

2023%F12H318 - 1,715,126,147 558
Cancellation of ordinary shares T 8 AR (7,538,000) (3)
At December 31, 2024 202412 A831H 1,707,588,147 555

As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, the authorized share
capital of the Company comprised 5,000,000,000 ordinary
shares with par value of USD0.00005 per share.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive
dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled
to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All
ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s
residual assets.

20244 K 2023F12A31H » AR
AYA E A% 74N A 5,000,000,000 A% E i
f% - BB A& 0.000053 7T °

EERFEABRUREBTRTIRZ
e  WEERARRAE LS
BEBEHE—F - RARAIZFBE
Ems  IBEEBRZEERSEHA
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27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

(continued)

(a) Share capital (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
cancelled 7,538,000 (2023: nil) shares of the Group. The
total carrying amount of these treasury shares were
USD2,555,300 (equivalent to RMB18,167,000) (2023: nil).
Consequently, USD300 (equivalent to RMB3,000 (2023: nil)
was debited to share capital, USD2,555,000 (equivalent to
RMB18,164,000) (2023: nil) was debited to share premium.

27 &R - RS ()

(a)

& NE=P)

HE2024F 128318 IEEE - K
&% B 5T $4 7,538,000 A% ( 2023 4 :
EIAEBBRD - ZEETRMHA
IREE 4% 52,555,300 T (HHE
AR #18,167,000 7T ) (20234
) o At > 300FTT(HERAR
#3,0007T) (20234 : &) BT AR
7K 2,555,000 L (HHE R AR
18,164,0007T ) (20234 : £ )2t A
& ME o

(b) Movements in components of equity (b) HE 4B B > & &
Details of the changes in the Company’s individual RRAER = EKE D BB
components of equity are set out below: BEEZIT -
The Company AR a]
Share-based
Share Share  Treasury  payments  Exchange Accumulated
capital  premium shares reserve reserve losses Total
Wit
REHN
ks RoEE ErRG AREE  EXRE  ZHER &5t
Notes ~ RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
it ARBTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARETR ARETR ARETR
Balance at January 1, 2024 R2024%F1B1RfIER 558 9,855,896 - 25651 528,698 (4,424,233) 5,986,570
Changes in equity for the yearended ~ E{Z202412F31H
December 31, 2024: LEENERED
Loss for the year ERER - = = - - (2,124,388) (2,124,388)
Other comprehensive income 22 Ak = = = = 78,552 = 78,552
Total comprehensive income SEYESE - - - - 78,552 (2,124,388) (2,045,836)
Equity-settled share-based transactions ~ NE&EEHNRARS 2 - - - 7,568 - - 7,568
Stock share resigned [Bh: ) 21(a) (3)  (18,164) 18,167 - - - -
Repurchase of ordinary shares EELER 21(a) - - (22,641) - - - (22,641)
Restricted share units ("RSUs") vested ERRXRHRNOEN
(TR RHIBAREL ) - 1M - 799) - - =
Share option exercised EfrftERE - 12,017 - (8,988) - - 3,089
Balance at December 31, 2024 (note (i) 42024512731 A HI&es
(HE&EG) 555 9,857,801 (4,474) 16,239 607,250  (6,548,621) 3,928,750
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27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(continued)

(b) Movements in components of equity (continued)

27 &R - RS ()

(b) TEREAER 65 2B (8)

Share-based
Share Share  payments  Exchange Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve losses Total
DR BER

Bx  RhEE OAFEE  EiEE  ZiHEE @

Note RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000

i ARMTR  ARETT ARETR ARETR  ARETR  ARETR

Balance at January 1, 2023 R2023E1 B1R MR 558 9.842,268 29533 431811 (4,546316) 5,757,854
Changes in equity for the year BZ20235128318
ended December 31, 2023: LEENERRD:

Profit for the year ERET - = = = 122,083 122,083

Other comprehensive income A 2EbG = = = 96,887 = 96,887

Total comprehensive income PENGLEE - - - 96,867 122,083 218,970
Equity-settled share-based NEGEENRNZS

transactions 26 - - 9,746 - - 9746
Restricted share units ("RSUs") vested 2 EBX B4R ER

(B GE ) - 8,323 (8,323) = = =

Share option exercised BITEERE - 5,305 (5,305) = = =

Balance at December 31, 2023 R2023E12A31 AR
(note (i) (&) 58 9,855,8% 25,651 58698 (4424233 5986570
Note: BisE -
(i) Under the Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman Islands, the (i) WREBEFASHEAREER]) @+ NARE

funds in the reserve account of the Company are distributable to the
shareholders of the Company provided that immediately following
the date on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the
Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as they fall due in the

ordinary course of business.

BEANES A IR T AR AR - A
REZBERESIKIRE BHR  ARAH
ARNEB R - EE-REFBRETE
BE -
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27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(continued)

(c) Nature and purposes of reserves

(i)

(ii)

Share premium

The share premium represents the difference between
the par value of the ordinary shares of the Company
and proceeds received from the issuance of the
ordinary shares of the Company.

Share-based payments reserve

The share-based payments reserve represents the
portion of the grant date fair value of share options
and RSUs granted to the directors and employees of
the Group that has been recognized in accordance
with the accounting policy adopted for share-based
payments in note 2(t)(iii).

For shares granted, the equity amount is transferred
from share-based payment reserve to share premium.

(iii) Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements for operations outside of mainland China.
The reserve is handled with in accordance with the
accounting policies set out in note 2(x).

(d) Dividends

No dividends have been declared or paid by the Company
during the year ended December 31, 2024 (2023: nil).

No final dividends were proposed after the end of
reporting period (2023: nil).

AANREEDITR)

27 &R - RS ()

(c) EEMMHE XAR
(i) B EE
foﬂ/ﬁﬁf Bi=FIN/N

?KIEZF'Eﬁ E’U%%ﬁi 2

(i) AR BERE

LARR D BETEO N RREBEEET
AEEEENEENERERS
RHROBMHELEABEARE
- HE R E M 5E201) (i)
A BLDARR D A ERE B SRER AR Y

BN

SETBRHER

REREMROME @ #
B B AR SERE N R HEE

BERMEE

(iii) FE 5 E 1

EXFREEMERREFEK
BE DA SN [ 2675 0O B 1S R EE A
HISNEERR o R T IRIBP R

XA E R BRREIE -

(d) BB

HE2024F12A31BIEFE - AR
A0 £ R 30K 7 AR B (2023 4F ¢

")

R|EMRE - WEEZRD)

PR B (20235 : &) o

G ER R
TARR R E BEFTKER TS
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27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(continued)

27 &R - RS ()

(e) EAREIHE

(e) Capital management

The Group's primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns
for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders,
by pricing products and services commensurately with
the level of risk and by securing access to finance at a
reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a balance between the
higher shareholder returns that might be possible with
higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and
security afforded by a sound capital position and makes
adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes in
economic conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis
of debt-to-asset ratio. This ratio is calculated as total
liabilities divided by total assets. The Group's debt-to-
asset ratio as at December 31, 2024 was 36.5% (2023:
36.0%).

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries are subject to
internally or externally imposed capital requirements.

AEFBEREANTIERBRERRE
AEEFELENEN - NEAB
38 B B 7K SF AR E B EE dn M AR 75 E
BERAGEMKAESHE - #&
AR R M 0 3 K A H N 25 48
FHREME -

AEEBERERRSLEREEAR
BB AR SOBERE R (R
fif 8= 18 B K ) B2 0 & AR
RS RNEEME 2 2 HHF
o WERKLHEBRAERHEEARR
e

AEBZREKEELREREER
B RN BBEERUNEEE
FHE o REBEPN2024F12831HEY
B EE R B365% (2023 F
36.0%) °

ARRREMBARE T AE K
SNER AN B ANAR TE PIAR IR ©
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks
arises in the normal course of the Group's business.

The Group's exposure to these risks and the financial risk
management policies and practices used by the Group to
manage these risks are described below.

(a) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default
on its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to
the Group. The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable
to trade and other receivables and term deposits. The
Group's exposure to credit risk arising from cash and cash
equivalents and restricted deposits is limited because the
counterparties are banks, financial institutions, Alipay and
WeChat Pay with high credit rating and no past due history,
for which the Group considers having low credit risk.

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by
the individual characteristics of each customer rather than
the industry or country in which the customers operate and
therefore significant concentrations of credit risk primarily
arise when the Group has significant exposure to individual
customers.

In determining the ECL for trade debtors and other
receivables, the management of the Group has taken into
account the historical default experience and forward-
looking information, as appropriate. The management
of the Group has assessed that trade debtors and other
receivables have not had a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition and risk of default is insignificant,
and therefore, no loss allowance of trade debtors and
other receivables is considered necessary by management
for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023. The
expected credit loss rate is insignificant and close to zero.

The Group does not provide any guarantees which would
expose the Group to credit risk.

28 cRAEREERSBMTAND
SEE
AEEREFEBBRTEGEE 7
BES - FRREER -

=

AEBEEENZERR RSB EIEZ
FRRANEREREEBRRRES
R e

(a) FEER
EERREXZIHFREITEAR
AEEMEFAKRELRYBERDN
R - AEENEERREIERRA
KB 5 N E b 8 IR A K E #37F
R HRRZEF RBEILEEDH
LHEMBEEFRRT %
B XNBERMEXNMN  AEER
SEEERRRIE  SAKE@ER
KERERREFEBWARZRH
FROEERBRAER -

AEEEHENEERREIEXES
EPHMEAFE(MIFETF EEMB
TRIMEBRRSEME)FE - R
SEIEAHEENTPHERNE
RERFEHAESEETHEERR -

1E 788 7E B URAR 3k % EL At FE W s IE
EHEEEER  ~5EEEER
5T K S iE A0 48 B SR AU RE 1 B R (48
BA) AEBEEECDTMHEK
BR 5k M E b B W SR IE B W) S RERR 12
EERRIERZIZMBEENRR
MAEE AhHEEERREAR
B E2024F K 2023F12A31H IEF
[E T & U AR 30 K H b 8 U SR IE 1R
EEEE  THAEEBEEMTR
B BIERNE -

AEEYEREEAATESAEE
R =S R AR o
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 28 MR EEREMIAMNA
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AREEE)
(continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (b) MENE & Rk

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management, including
the short-term investment of cash surpluses, participation
in supplier finance arrangements with banks and the
raising of loans to cover expected cash demands, subject
to approval by the parent company’s board when the
borrowing exceed certain predetermined levels of
authority. The Group's policy is to regularly monitor its
liquidity requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves
of cash and readily realizable marketable securities and
adequate committed lines of funding from major financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short
and longer term.

The following tables show the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the Group's
non-derivative financial liabilities, which are based on
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest
payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating,
based on rates current at the end of the reporting period)
and the earliest date the Group can be required to pay.

AEENSEBLIELEREEH
ReelE  BRASASKNEHR
B 2HEMEFERITORE LH
RESEFNREREENAES
ko MR B BB B R TR E B IR AR K
T AKBRARESFSHE - K
SERREEHERERDESR
KEHBTERRIZONER
NHREABARNREHE 5
RERNAEEESULTEZSHHE
BRHEBHNAZESHEE - AR
REMIRBEANRBDESTL

TRFNAEENFETESRAE
RBSHRNBTERIBIER -
ZERTARZBABRIIRESF
AMBRASRE(BRERAEGRMN
A BEHOFENR - HHBFEH
o AIRBRHREMRORITH R
AE)ARAREE R REAN RO RE
B -
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 28 mBAREEREMIANAD

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS REE(E)
(continued)
(b) Liquidity risk (continued) (b) mENE R (E)
Year ended December 31, 2024
BENUENANBLEE
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
SRARARER
More than ~ More than
Within 1 year 2 years Carrying
1 year or but less butless  More than amount at
ondemand than 2 years than 5 years 5 years Total December 31
-Eag -FRE REMLE M2A31H
REX BmER BRER EERE Eh MEEE

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMBO00  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR  ARBTR ARBTR ARETR  ARMTR  AR®TR

Trade and other payables BAREETFE 528,517 - - - 528,517 528,517
Bank loans RITER 51,142 o = = 51,142 50,000
Lease liabilities figak 362,152 461,446 596,533 84,342 1,504,473 1,398,892

941,811 461,446 596,533 84,342 2084132 1,977,409

Year ended December 31, 2023

HENBENANELER
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
ARRERASR
Morethan ~ More than

Within T year 2 years Carrying

1 year or but less butless  More than amount at
ondemand  than2years  than 5 years 5 years Total  December 31
—ERg -FNLE WEALE M2A31A
RER MER RER RENE it ol

RMB00  RMBOOO  RMBOO0  RMBO0D  RMBOOD  RMBO0O
ARRTTL  ARBTR  ARBTR  ARMTR  ARETR  ARBTR

Trade and other payables BAREMERNFE 635,762 = = = 635,762 635,762
Lease liabilities HEaR 485,987 523,242 837,521 68,629 1,915,379 1,770,488

1121,749 523,242 837,521 68,029 2,951,141 2,406,250
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 28 MR EEREMIAMNA

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AEEGE)
(continued)
(c) Interest rate risk (c) F| =k
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future MERBELBTANALBES
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because ARBEREEETSNEEFHM
of changes in market interest rates. The Group's interest EENTHRAR AEEHMXE
rate risk arises primarily from cash and cash equivalents, S TFTERARESNESEEBY
term deposits, certificates of deposit, restricted bank HifF - KEFE - RHESTTF
deposits and lease liabilities. The Group does not enter HEREEGE - ANEBEWARNAITE
into financial derivatives to hedge interest rate risk. DRl B RR R E R o
(i) Interest rate profile (i) FIEAM L
The following table details the interest rate profile of TRAJNBHREHRAEED
the Group's cash and cash equivalents, term deposits ReRREEEY THEZRR
and certificates of deposit at the end of each reporting REFERFRARR

period presented:

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’'000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARET T

Fixed rate instrument: BEEREIA :

Term deposits TE AR 1,705,088 2,129,141

Certificates of deposit RNEETIFEE 410,000 410,000

Lease liabilities HERE (1,398,892) (1,770,488)
716,196 768,653

Variable rate instrument: FEREIA

Cash and cash equivalents RERBEEFED 579,122 444,346

Bank loans RITER (50,000) =

Restricted bank deposit SR B IRITIE K 655 =

529,777 444,346
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

28ciEMEEREMIAND
REEE)

(c) Interest rate risk (continued) (c) FIERRA(E)
(i) BREE ST

(i) Sensitivity analysis

At December 31, 2024, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates,
with all other variable held constant, would have
increased/decreased the Group’s loss for the year and
accumulated losses by approximately RMB5,513,000.

At December 31, 2023, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates,
with all other variable held constant, would have
decreased/increased the Group's loss for the year and
accumulated losses by approximately RMB3,317,000.

M20244E12 A31H - EFE A
thEHRFIENBERLT - Hat
FEF EHATHI100EED -
FRAAREENEIERZ:TEER
0, R  #9 A R % 5,513,000
o

MR20235E12A31H - EEH
M BRFTNEMIBERT  fEaT
FEFZ LA THI00EED -
FAXEEMEB R RTEES
B 18N # A R 3,317,000
=5

(d) B
AEEATNEERREIEELS
AN (RN B iR RIS I BE |
BANMEE)FTENRE L REE
EBYAREREFR - slEEERAR
MEBEERETIARE

(d) Currency risk
The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily give rise
to cash and cash equivalents and term deposits that are
denominated in a foreign currency, i.e. a currency other
than the functional currency of the operations to which the
transactions related. The currencies giving rise to this risk
are primarily HKD and RMB.

(i) Exposure to currency risk (i)

BERER

The following table details the Group’s exposure at
the end of the reporting period to currency risk arising
from recognized assets denominated in a currency
other than the functional currency of the entity to which
they relate. For presentation purposes, the amounts of
the exposure are shown in RMB, translated using the
spot rate at the year end date. Differences resulting
from the translation of the financial statements of
foreign operations into the Group's presentation
currency are excluded.

TRFNNAEE NS HIRAA
RAERERIGEEEIAINER
FHEMCHEREEMELENER
Rk - /REFNEE - FIAZER
B &R EIRF 45 B BN HIE X
ERARE - ETBEREINE
B BHRRBESTSENZ
SIEHMELHZER -
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 28 mBAREEREMIANAD

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AEEE)

(continued)

(d) Currency risk (continued) (d) E¥ R (E)
(i) Exposure to currency risk (continued) (i) EkmE b ()

Exposure to foreign currency
(expressed in RMB)
As at December 31, 2024

SHEEREER(UAREIIR)
A2024F12A31H
HKD RMB RMB
BT AR AR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBTFR ARBTR

Cash and cash equivalents IR& NIEEEEY 43,569 343,131 4,435
Term deposits TEBE R - 1,705,088 =
43,569 2,048,219 4,435

Exposure to foreign currency
(expressed in RMB)
As at December 31, 2023
HNEE R R (A ARSI TR)
F2023F12A31H

HKD RMB RMB
BT ARE ARE
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T ARET T ARET T

Cash and cash equivalents & RIS EEY) 5,064 31,286 4,632
Term deposits JEBE K 16,312 1,912,329 =

21,376 1,943,615 4,632
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 7t

(continued)

(d) Currency risk (continued)

(i) Sensitivity analysis

AANREEDITR)

28 £ AL E B E
5{E (&

EREMITENA

i ]

A

o) B AR ()
(i) BBZ T

The following table indicates the instantaneous
change in the Group's (loss)/profit after taxation
(and accumulated losses) and other components
of consolidated equity that would arise if foreign
exchange rates to which the Group has significant

TRIVRRERE A PTA R 3
REFTE  WRBREHREARE
BB E A e IE X 3RS -
AEBBRTR(BER), 88 (&
/\quJ?ES?‘E)&ﬁ‘rMZ%\ AAER

exposure at the end of the reporting period had REIR OISR E) -
changed at that date, assuming all other risk variables
remained constant.
2024 2023
20245 20234
Increase/ Effect on Increase/ Effect on
(decrease) loss after (decrease)  profit after
in foreign tax and in foreign tax and
exchange accumulated exchange accumulated
rate losses rate losses
BRBRER PR 12 %
HEER REFER SNEEX  RREFEE
LR/ (TFH) WEE A/ (TR’) N8
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBTT AREFT
Hong Kong Dollars BT 3% 1,307 3% 641
(3%) (1,307) (3%) (641)
Renminbi AR 3% 133 3% 139
(3%) (133) (3%) (139)

Result of the analysis as presented in the above
table represent an aggregation of the instantaneous
effects on each of the Group entities’ (loss)/profit
after taxation and equity measured in the respective
functional currencies, translated into RMB at the
exchange rate ruling at the end of the reporting period
for presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in
foreign exchange rates had been applied to remeasure
those financial instruments held by the Group which
expose the Group to foreign currency risk at the
end of each reporting period. The analysis excludes
differences that would result from the translation of
the financial statements of foreign operations into the
Group's presentation currency.

ER2HNZAMERTIRBE AR
EEEERIBHR(ER), 8
MREEZMEERE I
REFNMIZRE PR ZEREEX
i “%/\E%)Fﬁﬁlﬁz%?rﬁﬂ

E:t E/i

HREINMBREXZEHE T
FER - UBHFEZXSFSAEE
RE | E PRI ERINE R 2 AN
SEERTE - ZOM T EIEA
BREBIINEB BRI B/AEE
2INEEMELNER -
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

(e) Fair value measurement

(i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the
Group's financial instruments measured at the end of
each reporting period on a recurring basis, categorized
into the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined in
IFRS 13, Fair value measurement. The level into which a
fair value measurement is classified is determined with
reference to the observability and significance of the
inputs used in the valuation technique as follows:

— Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only
Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities at
the measurement date

— Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level
2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet
Level 1, and not using significant unobservable
inputs. Unobservable inputs are inputs for which
market data are not available

— Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using
significant unobservable inputs

28 %

2N
JUIR

il

EREREEREBIANA
(&)

it

il

(e) AREBEE

(i)

AR BETEN S MEER
BfE

NREERER
TRINFAEER HREHRIZE
FUHEEAEZERTANAA
BE HREESBERYBGHREE
AIFIBRAAEBEAEMREZ
ZErRBEEBERR - RAE
B EMFERZRRTIZ2RIAT
RERMTREABRZ I BR
RENBEIREMERE

— FREE: ERE-—RE
ABE (VR E A AR
BEXRBETEEMSZK
RABRBE)AEZOAE
(=]

- BAMGE:ERFE 4%
ABBE(FRENEF R
REZAINBERIZHA
8E - AR TNMERTABE
BRzEZBARE)E
ZRRfEE - TABREE
ZEABUBEARAHBATS
2B 2 BUE

— FZAMLE: ERTHEER
BEZEEHABBHEZ
RfEE

D g



206 Nayuki Holdings Limited - Z2E#%2 R A R 2 7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

i & M35 3R RO EE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LAAREEFIIR)

28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 28 mBAREEREMIANAD

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

(e) Fair value measurement (continued)

(i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

The following table presents the Group's financial
assets and financial liabilities that are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period:

Fair value at
December 31,

AREEGE)
(e) DA (BEFE(E)
() URAREEFENSBEER

Ria(#)

ARBEERGE)
TRIVRAEERN AR S HR
BARBEMENEREERS
BAE

Fair value measurements as

at December 31, 2024 categorized into

2024  R2024F12A31BMAREEFESES
R2024% Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
1283181
ANEE F—8 -t 4 E=R
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBT T ARETR ARETR
Recurring fair value REMQNABENE
measurement
Financial asset at FVTPL UAnEErTEaE
BB AR AR
HemEE
— Listed equity investment — FiRERE 29,920 29,920 - -
- Unlisted equity investment — I FHRERE 8,883 = = 8,883
38,803 29,920 - 8,883
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 28 iEREEREBMIAND

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS nEE(E
(continued)
(e) Fair value measurement (continued) (e) AR BETE(E)
(i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair () UaAnBEFENcHEER
value (continued) BE(E)
Fair value hierarchy (continued) ARBEERGE)
Fair value at Fair value measurements as at
December 31, December 31, 2023 categorized into
2023 R2023F12RNBRAREBEHFEDEE
20234 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
12318/
NREE F—/ FE_ E=M

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT  ARETT ARETE ARBTR

Recurring fair value REMAALEETE
measurement
Financial asset at FVTPL URAnEEFERR
E RPN b
HeMERE
- Listed equity investment — FiikERE 130,833 130,833 = =
- Unlisted equity investment — I ETRERE 16,738 - - 16,738
- Wealth management products — 281 104 - - 104
147,675 130,833 - 16,842
During the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, B ZE 20244 2023412 A318
there were no transfers among different levels of fair IEEFE  IEAREBEFSENT

values measurement. [F 8 4% 2 i 3% A i g o
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 28 mBAREEREMIANAD
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AEHE(E
(continued)

(e) AR{EEFE(E)
() UARBEFEGEBEER

(e) Fair value measurement (continued)

(i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair

value (continued)

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements
Fair value of the unlisted equity investment is
measured by referencing to the latest equity
transactions. Otherwise, the costs are used as
approximation of fair value if there is no significant
change observed.

Fair value of wealth management products is measured
by using a discounted cash flow valuation model based
on assumptions that are not supported by observable
market prices or rates. The un-observable inputs
are expected annual return rate determined in the
investment contracts.

Ria(#)
BREF=ARABEAEZEHR
FEMREREZRAABETE
BL2ERTRAERIAE R
2 HUEBRINEAES -
AlEARAMER R A EERTU
-

ﬁﬁﬁE%ZQﬁ{Efﬁﬂ1§ﬁﬁTﬁﬁ
RengmEEETRher
BAENLEAERD iﬁ{ﬁ%’%‘k
EXRXFZBR - THBREFE
ZHABBRREGHANEE L
FEETFERE -

FE=F R BEFERBENHA

The movement during the period in the balance of

Level 3 fair value measurements is as follows: 2B -
2024
20245

Unlisted Wealth
equity management
investment products

ktEm
RERE EEER
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR®TR
At January 1, 2024 1K2024%F1H18 16,738 104
Proceeds from disposal & FTS 30E = 104

Changes in fair value recognized F RN ERERH

in profit or loss during the year DR EEEZD (7,855) =

At December 31, 2024

7202412 831H 8,883 =
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 28 iERREEREMIAND

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS REE(E
(continued)
(e) Fair value measurement (continued) (e) AABET=(E)
(i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair () UAABEFAENZHBEER
value (continued) BE(E)
Information about Level 3 fair value measurements BEBE=HA AL EBETEZER
(continued) (&)
2023
20234
Unlisted Wealth
equity  management
investment products
LT
xR & RO E m
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETT ARBETT

At January 1, 2023 20231418 6,000 110,397

Payment for purchases BAZNE 7,000 30,697

Proceeds from disposal & FTS RUE = 142,648

Changes in fair value recognized  FRR Bz ERHK

in profit or loss during the year N EBEES 3,738 1,658

At December 31, 2023 2023 12H31H 16,738 104
Fair values of financial assets and liabilities carried at WIEA R EEIENSREE
other than fair value rEBEMNAREERE
The carrying amounts of the Group's financial HRTEZESm TAMEIEH
instruments carried at amortized cost are not materially BT BN B IR SR AR B BR
different from their fair values as at December 31, 2024 Z @I AREEER2024F K
and 2023 because of the short-term maturities of all 2023F 12 A31HZAABEL

these financial instruments. HEEAER -
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29 COMMITMENTS

Capital commitments outstanding at December 31, 2024 not
provided for in financial statements were as follows:

AANREEDITR)

29 i

2024128318 » MABITREYRE
B TS R R AE R Bl 2 B AOFIE T ¢

2024 2023
20244 2023%F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT
Contracted for: EETA -
Acquisition of property and equipment BB 3 K 2R 8 8,156 27,286

30 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) Name and relationship with related parties

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the directors
are of the view that the following are related parties of the
Group:

Name of related parties

FARE T B

30 ERMBA RS

(a) AR 248 M B R

HE2024F12831BILFE » EF
RAET XY BN LB A R

Relationship with the Group
B R B YRR R

Mr. Zhao Lin & Ms. Peng Xin

i Nl B

Bangyixia (Shenzhen) Supply Chain Co., Ltd.
(HBEECORY) HEEBR D A)

(referred to as “Bangyixia”) (note (i)(ii))

AREBE ORI HEEBR A A
(A T B=E ) (BIEEG)Gi)

Shanghai Jiu Wen Qian Food & Beverage Management
Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries
(EBNAXEEREBEERAF)

(referred to as “Jiuwengian”) (note (i)
EBNCEEREEFRARFEA [0 ]) (ki)
Shanghai Ultimate Food Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries

(EBRFERmMmABRAR)

(referred to as “Aodimei”) (note (i))

btERFREMBRARFES DRFE ) (M)

Notes:

(i)  The official names of these entities are in Chinese. The English
translation of the names is for identification only.

(i) Bangyixia has become a related party of the Group since November 1,
2023.

founders of the Company

ZN/NCIPl} PN

Entities where the founders of the Company
had significant influences

RABRIMABERTZENNER

Entities where the founders of the Company
had significant influences

RRGIEMABERZE NNE R
Entities where the founders of the Company
had significant influences

RRBEBABEATENNER

PR -

() REEEBNESEBREA/TX - HEBED
HXEEE GRS

(i) H2023%F11A18 @ BEECKAELEE
W— B -
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30 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 30 ERBBAL RS (&)
TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(b) Key management personnel remuneration (b) T EEIE A B FHr B
Remuneration for key management personnel of the AEFEFZEEASNTN(BIEMN
Group, including amounts paid to the Company’s directors ST ERMARAREE I TN EE
as disclosed in note 8 and certain of the highest paid LW ERE TR HES
employees as disclosed in note 9, is as follows: TRMESFE)IWT :
2024 2023
2024F 20234
RMB’'000 RMB’000

ARBFR ARBTIT

Short-term employee benefits 72 ER{E B2 A 8,376 8,373
Post-employment benefits BEBE 12 27 393 275
Equity-settled share-based RS E AN B
payment expenses BRI R = 1,587
8,769 10,235
Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see note FNERERT A [ B TRCA (R M &

6(b)). 6(b)) °
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30 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 30 ERBBAL RS (&)
TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(c) Related parties transactions (c) AEE X5
In addition to those related party transactions disclosed MR REMIOWENBE S
elsewhere in financial statements, the Group had the RN RER - 2N & B B2 H BB
following material transactions with its related parties FETUNTEARS :

during the year:

2024 2023
2024%F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBFR ARBETIT

Recurring transactions: BREURZS :

Purchase from related parties BEEES

— Shenzhen Fucheng —RYIE IR = 3,644

- Bangyixia —HBEE 26,147 5,088
26,147 8,732

Revenue from related parties Ra s 5 W

- Jiuwengian — N EE 4,922 1,475

— Aodimei —REE - 61

4,922 1,536
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30 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY S0ERBEHARS (&)
TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(d) Balance with related parties (d) FEEs 5 4554
2024 2023
2024%F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARET T

Amounts due to FERT AT AL RIAR
Trade in nature (i) TS ()
- Bangyixia —HBEE 2,366 5,634
2,366 5,634
Amounts due from FEW AT A FIR
- Aodimei —BEE - 18
Contract liabilities GHAEE
— Jiuwengian — 497 651
— Aodimei — B3R 10 -
507 651
Note: FEE -
() The outstanding balances with these related parties are trading () BEBZEEHHIEBNRENEHRITATE
balances included in “Trade and other payables” (note 20) and SR EAMERFRIE (M 3220) R [6H8

“Contract liabilities” (note 21). B2 E S8R5 o
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31 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION

31 2 A B M BRI K

December 31, December 31,

2024 2023
2024%F 20234
12831H 12A31H
Note RMB'000 RMB'000
Wt ARBT R AREFTT
Non-current assets FRBEE
Financial assets at FVTPL AR EBEEEEHE
FFAE BB E’Jﬁﬁwﬂéf?‘ - 83,793
Investment in subsidiaries KRB RARIMEE 1,793,785 3,886,457
Term deposits FEBER = 56,662
Other non-current asset HEMIEmBEE - 2,404
1,793,785 4,029,316
Current assets REEE
Other receivables H fh jE U Fh18 43,029 48,567
Prepayments TR EIE 287 69
Term deposits TFEHAFI 1,705,088 1,871,979
Restricted bank deposits 2R B IRITIE K 1 -
Cash and cash equivalents HEREESEED 387,999 38,232
2,136,404 1,958,847
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables H At e~ 5RIE 1,439 1,593
1,439 1,593
Net current assets RENEEFE 2,134,965 1,957,254
Total assets less current liabilities BEERARBERE 3,928,750 5,986,570
NET ASSETS EEFHE 3,928,750 5,986,570
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXREE
Share capital R 27(a) 555 558
Reserves B 27(b) 3,928,195 5,986,012
TOTAL EQUITY EREH 3,928,750 5,986,570
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32 IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE CONTROLLING 32BERERIERY

PARTY

As at December 31, 2024, the Directors consider the immediate
parent of the Company to be Linxin Group Limited, which is
incorporated in the BVI, and the ultimate controlling party of
the Company to be Mr. Zhao Lin and Ms. Peng Xin.

MN2024F12R31H - ESRAKRRQAH
BEERERRRATRBHBREETIMAK
S HLinxin Group Limited * NAAIM £
IR T BEMEERE LT L -

33 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, 33 £20245F128318 L&
NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS EEEMm {E i R4 WIS ET
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE K- -FHITEARZENE®R
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024 4 -4
Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the IASB EEZFUMHBHRRTEAS  BRe

has issued a number of amendments and new standards, which HERIBESERME TIEFTARHT .J/E
are not yet effective for the year ended December 31, 2024 and Al - MZFEIIARFETERRER
which have not been adopted in these financial statements. 2024F 12 A3TBIEFEERARER - BXR
These include the following which may be relevant to the REREMERMERTPER - EFBFEUT
Group. CIEELERAN LR ISl g

Effective for accounting
periods beginning

on or after

RIAT Bzt 2
‘BB T

HARR A R

Amendments to IAS 21, The effects of changes in B ERISE2198 ((BFTA) » January 1, 2025
foreign exchange rates — Lack of exchangeability 9|\¢%<ET“§)JZ$§% R=A  2025%1H1H

Hia
Amendments to IFRS 9, Financial instruments I3 R B 75 R 5 AE Bl BB 955 January 1, 2026
and IFRS 7, Financial instruments: disclosures (BETAR) » @@ T ANBEE 2026F181H
—Amendments to the classification and IR ERERET - &R
measurement of financial instruments TE: HF5E— /i\ﬁﬁlﬂﬁ'\]
DERFTEZIES

Annual improvements to IFRS Accounting Standards Bl[ER B 765 ¥R 25 % BI| 9 45 & Bk
- Volume 11 — 2111

January 1, 2026
202651 H1H

BIFR B A5 RS 2RI 1855
BRI H 27 MR

January 1, 2027
20271 A1H

IFRS 18, Presentation and disclosure in financial
statements

IFRS 19, Subsidiaries without public accountability: — BIBRBI 53R &R 1958 -
T E R R B HH B A
BEE

January 1, 2027

disclosures 2027F1H1H
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LAAREEFIIR)

33 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, 33 E2024F12A31H L HF
NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ECEMENRERNIEET
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR K -#FHITEARZEMNE®R
THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024 SE(FE)

(continued)

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of AREEEETEZEEFTARFELR
what the impact of these amendments and new standards is BRAERAHEEREENTE - 298
expected to be in the period of initial application. So far, the IE - REBEEHENEFT A R FERR
Group has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely KA e A M EHRREKEATE -

to have a significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements.
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